INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps.

ProQuest Information and Learning 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 USA 800-521-0600

UMI®

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

.

UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

Molecular Mechanisms Involved in Regulating Ion Transport in Colonic Epithelium

by

Rebecca S. Lam

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Physiology

Edmonton, Alberta Fall 2005

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

0-494-08668-8

Your file Votre référence ISBN: Our file Notre retérence ISBN:

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.



Conformément à la loi canadiennesur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manguant. Science is the search for truth - it is not a game in which one tries to beat his opponent, to do harm to others. We need to have the spirit of science in international affairs, to make the conduct of international affairs the effort to find the right solution, the just solution of international problems, not the effort by each nation to get the better of other nations, to do harm to them when it is possible.

> No More War! Linus Pauling, 1958

Dedicated to my family: Christopher, Nancy, and Joshua

ABSTRACT

The colon absorbs about one liter of fluid per day and its large transport capacity is attributed to the epithelium. Epithelial cells have the ability to absorb or secrete ions and water, but normally absorptive mechanisms predominate over secretory mechanisms. Colonic epithelial cells possess many ion channels and transporters working in concert to direct fluid movement. The balance of colonic fluid movement is tipped from absorption to secretion upon intestinal exposure to enterotoxins or inflammatory mediators. Alternatively, other pathophysiological conditions, such as the disease cystic fibrosis, can result in reduced secretion than normal. Many factors affect the behavior of epithelial ion channels and transporters, and ultimately colonic transport.

This thesis focuses on two mechanisms of regulating colonic epithelial ion transport: neurohormonal factors, via α -adrenergic receptors (absorptive) and via adenosine receptors (secretory), and cell membrane lipid composition (cholesterol and sphingomyelin). We used whole tissue transepithelial current measurements to study regulatory mechanisms of ion transport. Molecular techniques also elucidated the expression of certain potassium (K⁺) channels. Basolateral K⁺ channels are crucial for driving transepithelial anion secretion, and our studies emphasize their importance in colonic epithelial secretion.

Transepithelial ion transport studies showed that α_2 -adrenergic G protein-coupled receptors inhibit colonic Cl⁻ secretion by inhibiting ATP-regulated K⁺ (K_{ATP}) channels. This inhibition was mediated by G_{i/o} proteins, but independent of Ca²⁺ or cAMP signaling.

The cell membrane houses ion channels and transporters in a complex lipid environment, and we explored the role of cell membrane lipids in regulating ion transport. Using lipid-altering agents, we found that cholesterol and sphingomyelin are important regulators of colonic secretion. Lipid rafts are membrane microdomains that are rich in cholesterol and sphingolipids, and we showed that the basolateral large conductance Ca^{2+} -regulated K⁺ (BK) channels are regulated by lipid raft integrity.

We have also characterized cholesterol, independent of its role in lipid raft structure, as an important mediator of adenosine-stimulated epithelial secretion. The intermediate conductance Ca^{2+} -regulated basolateral K⁺ (IK) channel was involved in adenosinemediated secretion.

Our studies characterize novel regulatory mechanisms that are important for colonic epithelial transport. These results expand our knowledge of colonic function and may have significant therapeutic implications.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost my gratitude goes to my supervisor Dr. Marek Duszyk. Thank you for taking me on as a graduate student and teaching me numerous invaluable methods to conduct research. I am grateful for the many opportunities you presented me with, and I consider it a privilege to have worked with you. Due to your supervision I now have a stronger desire than ever to pursue research.

To the past (Drs. Andreas Schwingshackl, Zhongwei Zhao, & Artur Szkotak) and present (Drew Nahirney, Drs. Valentin Duța and Claudiu Iordache, & Norman Madsen) members of the lab for their company, and creating an atmosphere that I enjoyed working in. A special thanks goes to Drew: if I needed something ordered/fixed/moved, you did it without fail. Thanks for the KCl crystals too!

I was fortunate to have been able to work with several labs: Dr. Esmond Sanders' lab (especially Ewa Duszyk for teaching me Westerns & immunocytochemistry), Dr. Andrew Shaw's lab (especially Allan Mak for showing me lipid raft isolation), Dr. Christopher Cheeseman's lab (especially Debbie O'Neill for teaching me cryosectioning, how to make great crantinis, & being my CPS partner in crime), and Dr. Edwin Daniel's lab (especially Woojung Cho for performing colocalization studies on my tissue for confocal microscopy). Thank you also to Dr. Peter Nguyen's lab for sharing mice & Dr. Greg Funk's lab sharing their PCR machine. I'd also like to acknowledge the staff at HSLAS who helped me with my mouse colonies.

My fellow grad students that provided the much-needed breaks and conversation (coffee, food, beer, & beyond!); those that have left (Drs. Bill Keyes, Newton Woo,

Gayle Hosford, Sharla Sutherland, & Jennie Young, and Amy Murphy & Bryan Norrie), and those that are here to see me finish (Marie-Laure Baudet, Adrianne Huxtable, & Lesley Schimanski).

My family and friends and their support meant a lot to me during my studies. Most importantly, my parents Christopher & Nancy, whom I love dearly and who made my life so rich in so many ways throughout graduate school. To Joshua, my brother, roommate, and dearest friend – thanks for the countless good times. I had such a great time during my graduate studies and I have my family to thank for this.

My friends provided my daily nourishment of inspiration. Thanks to Caitlin Wells (for your friendship and artistry) and Ian King (for your support and your love of live music). To my dear friends that are far away but whose phone calls were always a pleasure: Janelle Morrison, Stephanie Walker, & Andrew Dawson. To the former Campus Outdoor Centre and present Urban Uprising Climbing Complex climbing wall people. I've met such great friends from climbing - thanks for the sessions and outdoor life! To my indoor and outdoor soccer teams for teaching me some decent skills. Since I'm a creature of habit, I'd also like to acknowledge certain establishments that I frequented; I couldn't imagine life in Edmonton without them or their staff: Black Dog (good people & good music), Café Mosaics (good food when I needed it), & the Yoga Loft (Namaste).

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1

A.	IN	TRODUCTION	1
	1.	Epithelial Ion Transport	2
		1.1 Epithelial tissues	2
		1.2 Colonic epithelium	4
		1.3 Colonic transport	7
		1.3.1 Absorption	8
		1.3.2 Secretion	12
	2.	Physiological Mechanisms Regulating Ion Transport	20
		2.1 Neurohumoral mechanisms	20
		2.1.1 Neural innervation	22
		2.1.2 Adenosine	24
		2.2 The role of cell membrane composition	26
		2.2.1 Cholesterol	27
		2.2.2 Lipid rafts/caveolae	33
	3.	Pathology of Ion Transport Mechanisms	39
		3.1 Hyposecretion: cystic fibrosis	40
		3.2 Hypersecretion: secretory diarrhea and cholera	43
	4.	Thesis Objectives	46
B.	RI	CFERENCES	47

CHAPTER 2

Regulation of CI secretion by $\alpha_2\text{-}adrenergic receptors in mouse colonic epithelium$

A.	INTRODUCTION	87
B.	MATERIALS AND METHODS	89
	1. Epithelial cells	89
	2. Transepithelial measurements	90
	3. Unidirectional ion fluxes	91
	4. Measurement of intracellular Ca ²⁺ concentration	91
	5. Cyclic AMP radioimmunoassay	93
	6. Tissue noradrenaline measurement	93

7.	RT-PCR	94
8.	Chemicals	95
9.	Data analysis	95

С.	RESULTS	96
	1. Noradrenaline levels in mouse intestine	96
	2. Effect of $\alpha_2 AR$ agonists and antagonists on I_{sc}	96
	3. α_2 ARs inhibit CFTR-mediated Cl ⁻ secretion	98
	4. $\alpha_2 ARs$ control basolateral K_{ATP} channels	100
	5. $\alpha_2 ARs$ inhibit anion secretion by activating $G_{i/o}$ proteins	108
D.	DISCUSSION	110
E.	REFERENCES	113

CHAPTER 3

Membrane cholesterol content modulates activation of BK channels in colonic epithelia

A.	INTRODUCTION	119
B.	 MATERIALS AND METHODS 1. Epithelial cells 2. Transepithelial measurements 3. Lipid raft protein isolation and immunoblotting 4. Chemicals 5. Statistical analysis 	121 121 122 122 123 124
C.	 RESULTS 1. Basolateral lipid rafts affect anion secretion in colonic epithelia 2. Lipid raft disruption affects CFTR-mediated anion secretion 3. Basolateral BK channels are associated with lipid rafts 	124 124 128 128
D.	DISCUSSION	135
E.	REFERENCES	140

CHAPTER 4

$\label{eq:membrane} Membrane\ cholesterol\ regulates\ basolateral\ adenosine\ A_{2A}\ receptor-activated\ anion\ secretion\ in\ colon\ epithelial\ cells$

A. INTRODUCTION

B. N	B. MATERIALS AND METHODS 14		
1	. Epithelial cells	148	
2	. Transepithelial measurements	149	
3	. RT-PCR	149	
4	. Steady-state fluorescence anisotropy	150	
5	. Chemicals	151	
6	. Data analysis	152	
C . F	RESULTS	152	
1	. Basolateral adenosine receptor activation stimulates anion secretion	152	
2	. Basolateral cholesterol removal enhances A ₂ receptor-activated anion secretion by a lipid-raft independent mechanism	155	
3	. MβCD, but not filipin and sphingomyelinase, affects membrane fluidity	159	
4	Anion secretion is due to IK channel activation, not adenylyl cyclase	161	
	activation, and accounts for the MBCD-induced increase in NECA		
	response		
D. I	DISCUSSION	163	
2. 1			
E. I	REFERENCES	168	
CH	APTER 5		
A. I	DISCUSSION	173	
1	. Cellular mechanisms of neural regulation of colonic epithelial ion	175	
	transport		
2	2. Cell membrane composition regulates colonic epithelial ion transport	178	
3	Cell membrane composition affects endocrine regulation of colonic	181	
	secretion		
4	e. Experimental model	185	
5	6. Conclusion	187	

B. REFERENCES

146

LIST OF TABLES

CHAPTER 3

Table 3-1Isc activated by forskolin and carbachol under control and127MβCD-pretreated conditions

LIST OF FIGURES

CHAPTER 1

Figure 1-1	Mouse colonic epithelium	5
Figure 1-2	Transepithelial ion transport in distal colonic epithelium	18
Figure 1-3	Transepithelial ion transport in proximal colonic epithelium	19
Figure 1-4	Short-circuit current (I_{sc}) recordings comparing responses between wildtype and $\Delta F508$ CF mice	21

CHAPTER 2

Figure 2-1	Inhibition of I_{sc} by the $\alpha_2 AR$ agonist, UK14,304, in the distal	97
	and proximal colon	
Figure 2 - 2	Effect of UK14,304 on Isc in control and CF colonic epithelia	99
Figure 2•3	Effect of UK14,304 on Cl ⁻ fluxes	101
Figure 2•4	Effect of UK14,304 on nystatin-stimulated Isc	103
Figure 2-5	Activation and inhibition of KATP channels in colonic epithelia	105
Figure 2•6	Expression of KATP channel subunits in murine colonic epithelial cells	107
Figure 2•7	cAMP and intracellular Ca ²⁺ are not involved in the signal transduction pathway activated by UK14,304	109

CHAPTER 3

Figure 3-1	The effects of M β CD, filipin and sphingomyelinase on I _{sc}	126
Figure 3•2	MβCD treatment affects CFTR-mediated anion secretion	130
Figure 3•3	Activation of basolateral K^+ channels by M β CD treatment	132
Figure 3•4	The response to pimaric acid in control and $M\beta$ CD-treated epithelia	134
Figure 3•5	BK channels partition in the pellet fraction of sucrose density gradients and do not co-localize with caveolin in colonic epithelial cells	136

CHAPTER 4

Figure 4•1	The effect of basolateral NECA on colonic I_{sc} in control or	154
	MβCD-treated conditions	
Figure 4-2	The effect of basolateral adenosine receptor agonists on control and cholesterol-depleted colonic epithelia	156
Figure 4-3	Equilibrative nucleoside transporter expression in colonic epithelium	158
Figure 4-4	Membrane cholesterol content modulates the response to basolateral NECA in colonic epithelia	160
Figure 4•5	Membrane cholesterol depletion increases membrane fluidity in colon epithelial cells	162
Figure 4•6	The enhanced response to basolateral NECA, after cholesterol depletion, affects anion secretion	163

ABBREVIATIONS

$\alpha_2 AR$	α_2 -adrenergic receptor
AC	adenylyl cyclase
ACh	acetylcholine
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
BK	large conductance Ca ²⁺ -sensitive K ⁺ channel
Ca ²⁺	calcium cation
cAMP	cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CF	cystic fibrosis
CFTR	cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator
cGMP	cyclic guanosine monophosphate
Cl	chloride anion
CIC	voltage-gated Cl ⁻ channel
CNT	concentrative nucleoside transporter
ENaC	epithelial Na ⁺ channel
ENS	enteric nervous system
ENT	equilibrative nucleoside transporter
G protein	guanosine triphosphate-binding protein
GPCR	G protein-coupled receptor
GPI	glycosylphosphatidylinositol
H^+	hydrogen cation
HCO3	bicarbonate anion
IK	intermediate conductance Ca ²⁺ -sensitive K ⁺ channel
Isc	short-circuit current
K^+	potassium cation
K _{ATP}	ATP-dependent K ⁺ channels
KHS	Krebs-Henseleit solution
K _{ir}	inwardly rectifying K^+ channel
MβCD	methyl- β -cyclodextrin
MDCK	Madin-Darby Canine Kidney
mRNA	messenger RNA
Na ⁺	sodium cation
NBC	Na ⁺ /HCO ₃ ⁻ cotransporter
NBD	nucleotide binding domain
NECA	5'-(N-Ethylcarboxamido)adenosine
NHE	Na ⁺ /H ⁺ exchanger
NKCC	Na ⁺ /K ⁺ /2Cl ⁻ cotransporter
ORCC	outwardly rectifying Cl ⁻ channel
PDZ	PSD-95, discs large, ZO-1
PKA	protein kinase A (cAMP-dependent protein kinase)
SCFA	short-chain fatty acid
SK	small conductance Ca ²⁺ -sensitive K ⁺ channel
SMase	sphingomyelinase
SUR	sulphonylurea receptor

CHAPTER 1

.

Introduction

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

1. Epithelial Ion Transport

1.1 Epithelial tissues

Epithelial cells function as barriers between the internal and external, or two different, environments. Surfaces of the body that are in contact with the external environment, such as the skin, airways, and intestine, are lined by epithelium consisting of a continuous layer of cells which can protect the inner tissues. In addition to acting as barriers, epithelial cells can secrete substances and transport molecules, such as ions. Ion transport across epithelia helps regulate cell volume, pH, and secretion. How epithelial cells regulate the specialized function of transepithelial ion transport is the main topic of this thesis.

Epithelial cells are polarized such that they have distinct apical and basolateral membranes. In the intestine, the apical membrane faces the lumen and the basolateral membrane faces the basement membrane, which acts to structurally support the epithelium, and blood vessels. The two membranes are morphologically and functionally different and many membrane proteins, including ion channels and transporters, are distributed in a polarized manner in epithelial cells. For example, the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) is found in the apical membrane of intestinal epithelial cells, whereas the Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase is found in the basolateral membrane. Protein trafficking initiates this distribution, and tight junctions maintain it. Lipid rafts (see Section 2.2.2) are one mechanism thought to be involved in the polarized trafficking of membrane proteins.

The two distinct membranes are maintained by the presence of tight junctions, which join two adjacent epithelial cell membranes together. The junctions are composed of a dense protein network of fibrils containing molecules of occludin (113) and claudin (112). Tight junctions give the epithelium its barrier function, but also act to prevent intermixing of the apical and basolateral membrane components (350).

Some epithelia are considered "tight" and others "leaky", corresponding to relatively low and high tight junction permeabilites, respectively. The presence of tight junctions confers a resistance across an epithelium; it is considered "leaky" if its transcellular resistance is more than its paracellular resistance. Colonic epithelium is considered "medium-tight" (122) and in mouse distal colon, transepithelial and paracellular resistances are on the order of 100 $\Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$ and 3 k $\Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$ (122), respectively. Transepithelial resistances vary along the length of the colon, with the proximal colon having lower resistances (58). Therefore, for substances to be transported across colonic epithelium efficiently, transcellular transport is vital.

In the space between the epithelial cells and subluminal to the tight junctions lie the paracellular, or lateral interstitial, spaces. When an epithelium secretes or absorbs electrolytes, water transport follows by osmosis. The contribution of the paracellular pathway in secretion and absorption is largely unknown. It is generally thought that movement through tight junctions occurs by simple diffusion, although there is evidence for tight junction permeability regulation in the intestine (18). Some disease states result in the epithelium becoming more leaky and paracellular water transport becomes more significant. For example, in the case of *Clostridium difficile* infection of the intestine, the epithelial barrier no longer functions properly due to the breakdown of tight junctions. This allows more water to flow into the lumen which aggravates the diarrhea (225).

Transepithelial water transport occurs through water channels, called aquaporins. Presently there are 11 identified isoforms of aquaporins named AQP0-10. In intestinal epithelium, AQP3 (307) and AQP4 (353) are localized to the basolateral membrane whereas AQP5 shows apical expression (219), and their presence clearly indicates a role for transepithelial fluid movement.

1.2 Colonic epithelium

The colon lies at the distal portion of the gastrointestinal tract, where it functions to store and eventually expel stool. The colon is also involved in the reabsorption of electrolytes and water, approximately 1.5 L per day in humans (71), and short-chain fatty acid (SCFA) uptake from luminal contents. Epithelial transport, therefore, is important in determining the absorptive or secretive capacity of the colon.

Colonic epithelium contains goblet cells and enteroendocrine cells (50). Epithelial cells comprise about 95% of the cells, and enteroendocrine cells make up the remaining 5%. Mucus covers the epithelial surface and is produced by the goblet cells (140). In addition to epithelial cells, the colon consists of several other cell types, including neural, vascular, muscular and immune cells.

The continuous cell layer of epithelium that makes up the colonic mucosa forms many invaginations called crypts. In mouse colon, there are about 700,000 crypts and 700 million epithelial cells (54). Crypts in mouse distal colon are approximately 160 μ m in length and their openings are 10 μ m in diameter (122). Figure 1-1 shows a histologic section of mouse colon mucosa. Two notable points from Figure 1-1 are: 1) that the crypts line up in parallel, with luminal openings shown by the arrow, and 2) the nuclei in



Figure 1-1 Mouse colonic epithelium

The tissue is oriented so the surface epithelium that faces the lumen is at the top of the picture. Tissue was dissected free of underlying smooth muscle, fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde, and embedded in Paraplast. Sectioning was done perpendicularly to the luminal surface at 8 μ m thickness, and the tissue was stained with a nuclear stain (hematoxylin).

the epithelial cells lie close to the basolateral portion of the cells, which illustrates morphological polarity of the cells.

In addition to increasing the surface area of the colon, crypts are the source of new cells. Stem cells lie at the bottom of crypts and as the cells mature, they move up the crypt toward the surface where they are eventually sloughed off, or undergo apoptosis (108;167;249). Colonic epithelial cells have short life spans, lasting several days and the cell renewal rate in the intestine is among the highest in the body. In fact, as you are reading this paragraph, each crypt in your intestine has made one or two new cells. In mouse colon, a single crypt produces about 20 cells per hour (53), therefore, each crypt produces about 500 new cells per day.

Interest in the mechanisms responsible for intestinal secretion and absorption began in the early 1900s. Maurice Visscher published a 1938 paper showing that Cl⁻ and Na⁺ were absorbed from the intestinal lumen. His results gave some insight into the process of intestinal absorption and secretion (160).

A model of colonic transport developed where absorptive and secretory processes were spatially separated and occurred in surface cells and crypt cells, respectively (361). Although generally correct, this idea was regarded as an oversimplification when isolated crypts were later shown to have absorptive properties (20;312) and surface epithelia were capable of secretion (170). Colonocyte properties change as they move from the crypt base to surface, and this will be exemplified in the next sections with respect to channel and transporter expression along the length of a crypt.

In general, the small intestine has been better studied than the colon. However, extrapolating data from small intestinal studies to colonic function is not correct. Large differences exist between these two areas of the intestine. For example, the colon does not participate in nutrient absorption from ingested food to the degree that the small intestine does, so apical glucose transporters - vital in small intestinal epithelium - are virtually absent in colon epithelium (215). However, a small fraction of colon epithelial cell energy is from glucose uptake on the basolateral membrane (247). The colon also possesses a unique resident bacterial population, which is largely uncharacterized. The colonic microflora digests leftover dietary fiber and starch into the SCFAs acetate, butyrate, and propionate, and colonic epithelial cells derive the majority of their energy from butyrate uptake (273). Because the colon has different functions, and therefore protein expression, from the small intestine, the review of secretion and absorption will largely focus on studies performed in colonic epithelial cells except in areas where there is a lack of colonic studies.

<u>1.3 Colonic transport</u>

Under normal conditions the colon functions as a net absorptive epithelia, but in response to secretagogues it can produce a net secretory response. Obviously the epithelium must have the capacity to both secrete and absorb, and a disruption in homeostasis can cause an excess of one or the other (examples of this are described in Section 3). In this context, absorption is defined as the movement of a substance from the apical to basolateral direction, and secretion is movement in the opposite direction. Net transepithelial ion transport is a result of absorptive and secretory processes mediated by the ion channels and transporters.

Transgenic mouse models lacking specific ion channels or transporters have been made, and they have given us greater insight into the role these channels and transporters play in intestinal transport. Several of these mouse models have been important for studying colonic transport, including mice that are deficient in the expression of CFTR, the Na⁺/K⁺/2Cl⁻ cotransporter (NKCC1), Na⁺/H⁺ exchangers (NHE2 and NHE3), and H⁺/K⁺-ATPase, and where appropriate these models will be discussed further. Attention is also given, where available, to the spatial distribution of channels and transporters with respect to three areas: along the length of the colon (proximal and distal), along the crypt base-to-surface axis, and cell membrane localization (apical and basolateral).

A typical diet includes approximately 100 mmol Na⁺ and Cl⁻ (280), and 70 mmol K⁺ (285) per day. The kidney is vital for controlling the amount of ions secreted, however the colon also contributes to ion homeostasis. Under healthy conditions, Na⁺ and Cl⁻ are reabsorbed from the lumen of the colon and K⁺ is secreted so that excreted stool contains approximately 5 mmol Na⁺, 2 mmol Cl⁻, and 12 mmol K⁺ (357). 90% of the water entering the colon is reabsorbed across the epithelium (71), and this process occurs due to osmotic drive from the electrochemical gradients formed by Na⁺ and Cl⁻ reabsorption.

1.3.1 Colonic absorption

In health, there is a net absorption of Na⁺ and Cl⁻. Electroneutral absorption of Na⁺ and Cl⁻ occurs through the apical Na⁺/H⁺ (NHE) and Cl⁻/HCO₃⁻ (AE) exchangers. To date, the NHE family has nine members (229;239) of which three isoforms have been found in colonic epithelium. NHE1 is ubiquitously expressed and localized to the basolateral membrane of colonic epithelial cells (28;56), where it helps control

intracellular pH and cell volume homeostasis. NHE2 and NHE3 are found in the apical membrane of colonic epithelial cells (28;29;56;154), and the contribution of each isoform to colonic absorption is not well known and controversial. NHE3-deficient mice showed greatly decreased levels of basal intestinal fluid (298) and Na⁺ (119) absorption, and were observed to have diarrhea (298). In contrast, NHE2-deficient mice did not have decreased intestinal Na⁺ absorption (119;297). The predominant isoform for basal Na⁺ absorption is considered to be NHE3 (298), although other studies give evidence that it is NHE2 (49). Immunostaining (56) and mRNA (7) expression studies in murine colonic crypts show differential expression of NHE2 and NHE3, with NHE2 more abundant in crypt base cells and NHE3 predominantly in surface cells, whereas NHE1 is evenly distributed along the crypt length. Segmental differences also exist for NHE distribution along the length of the colon. This was shown in human colonic tissue for NHE2, which showed higher mRNA expression in the distal colon, whereas NHE1 and NHE3 were uniformly distributed from proximal to distal colon (89).

There is also evidence for a novel Cl⁻dependent mechanism for Na^+/H^+ exchange (260) that acts independently of NHE2 or NHE3. In 2002 this exchanger, referred to as Cl-NHE, was cloned from rat colon (287), and it shows inhibition by the chloride channel blocker NPPB suggesting that Cl⁻ channels are responsible for the Cl⁻-dependence (261). Cl-NHE is postulated to be responsible for absorption in crypt cells (287).

Electrogenic Na^+ absorption was also shown to vary along the length of the colon, predominating in the distal colon (58) via Na^+ channels that are sensitive to amiloride (43;58). It is known that electrogenic Na^+ absorption occurs through apical epithelial Na^+ channels (ENaC), which shows higher expression in distal, compared to proximal, colonic epithelium (87). ENaC is a heteromer composed of three homologous subunits called α , β , and γ (44). ENaC also has a gradient distribution from colonic crypt base to surface and this supports the generalized absorptive role attributed to surface cells. Protein and mRNA expression are most abundant on the surface epithelial cells (87;268), so Na⁺ absorption only appears in surface cells (171). Glucocorticoid and mineralocorticoid hormones are known to increase Na⁺ absorption in the colon (19), and steroid-induced upregulation of colonic ENaC is due to activation of transcription of the β - and γ -subunits (268;327).

 Na^+ absorption may also occur through novel pathways. The purinergic P2X receptors are ligand-gated non-selective cation channels that transport Na^+ , K^+ , and Ca^{2+} (347). P2X receptors have been found in human colon epithelial cells (337), where they may contribute to transepithelial absorption in response to ATP. In rat colon, there is evidence of non-selective cation channels in the apical membrane (107;253). After Na^+ enters the cell, it is extruded through the basolateral Na^+/K^+ -ATPase, which completes the process of transepithelial Na^+ absorption.

Apical Cl⁻/HCO₃⁻ exchangers mediate the electroneutral absorption of Cl⁻. Studies in rat colon determined the presence of apical Cl⁻/HCO₃⁻ exchange in colonic epithelium (256). There are three identified AEs named AE1, AE2, and AE3, which mediate the exchange of Cl⁻ and HCO₃⁻ across the cell membrane. An AE4 has also been cloned (344), but there is conflicting evidence about its transport activity and its function still needs to be defined. Apical Cl⁻/HCO₃⁻ exchange is mediated by AE1 and the DRA (downregulated in colonic adenomas) protein (259). Interestingly, mutations in DRA cause congenital chloride diarrhea (150;226). As well as contributing to Cl⁻ absorption,

 $CI^{-}HCO_{3}^{-}$ exchangers are present in the basolateral membrane where they are involved in cell volume and intracellular pH regulation. AE1 and AE2 are found in the basolateral membrane of colonic epithelial cells (258;334), and in mouse colon epithelium AE2 showed greater expression in surface compared to crypt base cells (3).

Electrogenic absorption of Cl⁻ can occur through apical anion channels, namely CFTR, but the role of CFTR in intestinal Cl⁻ absorption is not well known. Absorbed Cl⁻ exits the cell through basolateral Cl⁻ channels. Cl⁻ channels shown to exist in the basolateral membrane of colon epithelium include outwardly rectifying Cl⁻ channels (ORCCs) in mouse (223), rat (77;78) and guinea pig (197), and the voltage-gated Cl⁻ channel CLC-2 in guinea pig (47;48). Relatively little has been characterized about the basolateral Cl⁻ channels in colonic epithelium, but their existence is unquestionable.

Active absorption of K⁺ from the lumen is through apical H⁺/K⁺-ATPases in surface and crypt base cells (262), and K⁺ exits via basolateral K⁺ channels. H⁺/K⁺-ATPases belong to the P-type family of ATPases, which includes the Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase. The H⁺/K⁺-ATPases are heterodimers made up of α and β subunits (289). Two H⁺/K⁺-ATPases have been identified and can be characterized by their sensitivity to ouabain: one is ouabainsensitive (72) and the other is ouabain-insensitive (289). The ouabain-sensitive H⁺/K⁺-ATPase is active in the apical membrane of surface and crypt base cells, whereas the ouabain-insensitive H⁺/K⁺-ATPase is active in the apical membrane surface cells only (262). Furthermore, H⁺/K⁺-ATPase activity is present in distal but not proximal regions of rat colon (72). Protein expression of a colonic H⁺/K⁺-ATPase α subunit (HKc α 1) in the rat colon showed that this H⁺/K⁺-ATPase was restricted to the apical membrane of surface cells in the distal colon (186;288). This distribution suggests that HKc α 1 encodes the ouabain-insensitive H^+/K^+ -ATPase. Evidence for expression of the β subunit of the ouabain-insensitive H^+/K^+ -ATPase is the protein called HKc β , which coimmunoprecipitates with HKc α 1 (286). In accordance with the important role of H^+/K^+ -ATPases in K^+ absorption, HKc α 1 knockout mice had a fecal K^+ excretion two times greater than wildtype mice (221). H^+/K^+ -ATPase activity is also important for regulating intracellular pH.

1.3.2 Colonic secretion

Cl⁻ secretion through apical Cl⁻ channels is a major determinant for colonic fluid secretion. CFTR is the main apical Cl⁻ channel in colonic epithelium. As opposed to ENaC, CFTR mRNA expression is most abundant in the crypt base cells (330;342), where CFTR plays a large role in the secretory function of these cells. CFTR belongs to the ATP-binding cassette (ABC) family of proteins, which all have the ability to hydrolyze ATP. CFTR is a cAMP-sensitive anion channel residing in the apical membrane of intestinal epithelia. Phosphorylation by protein kinase A (PKA) activates CFTR and allows electrogenic anion efflux through the channel. Although commonly referred to as a Cl⁻ channel, it is more correct to call CFTR an anion channel since there is good evidence that HCO₃⁻ can also move through CFTR (250). In addition to its ion channel function, CFTR has been implicated in the regulation of many other processes including ENaC regulation (130;332), ORCC regulation (115), Cl-NHE regulation (261), mucin secretion (177), and aquaporin water transport (295). CFTR also contains PDZ domains, which allow it to interact with other proteins. A macromolecular signaling complex containing CFTR, the β_2 -adrenergic receptor and ezrin/radixin/moesin-binding phosphoprotein 50 (EBP50, also referred to as NHERF) was found in airway epithelial cells (230) and this represents one way for CFTR to both regulate cellular processes and to be regulated.

The vital role for CFTR-mediated secretion is apparent when considering the consequences of CFTR dysfunction on transpithelial ion transport. An example that will be discussed in Section 3.1 is the genetic disease cystic fibrosis (CF), where dysfunctional CFTR results in deficient epithelial secretion and dehydration of intestinal contents. As evidence of this, transgenic CF mice have a high morbidity due to intestinal obstruction (128).

It has been suggested that the high CF carrier rate in the general population is due to the "benefits" of CFTR dysfunction (254). This advantage would afford a resistance to bacterial-induced diarrheas, such as cholera, which cause Cl⁻ secretion through CFTR. Support for this idea comes from studies on heterozygote CF mice, which showed a decreased intestinal secretory response to cholera toxin (114).

A search for apical Cl⁻ channels that could take the place of CFTR is important because manipulating the activity of alternate Cl⁻ channels could be of therapeutic benefit to CF patients. In CF mouse small intestine a basal Cl⁻ secretion was present (136), suggesting that alternative apical Cl⁻ channels do exist. CaCCs (or CLCAs) are Ca²⁺sensitive Cl⁻ channels activated by Ca²⁺/calmodulin protein kinase II (109). There is no clear evidence for CaCC expression in colon epithelial cells. Indeed, if CFTR is the most abundant apical anion channel in colon epithelium, this may be why CF causes severe gastrointestinal complications. Although there is one paper that published CaCC expression in the colon (131), it has been suggested that the detection was actually due to expression of closely related genes (110). However, CaCCs may take over the activity of CFTR in CF mouse lungs, which would explain the lack of pulmonary disease in CF mice (57;130).

Another class of Cl⁻ channels that could contribute to Cl⁻ secretion is the voltagegated Cl⁻ channels (CLCs). The first CLC channel, ClC-0, was identified in the electric ray Torpedo marmorata (163) and there are now 9 different CLC genes identified in mammals: CLC 0-7, CLC-Ka, and CLC-Kb (162). Furthermore, the crystal structure for a bacterial CLC channel has been elucidated (92). CLC-1 (skeletal muscle localization), CLC-2 (ubiquitous expression), CLC-Ka (kidney, inner ear localization), and CLC-Kb (kidney, inner ear localization) are cell membrane channels, whereas the other CLCs are intracellular Cl⁻ channels (162). CLC-2 is expressed in human (199), guinea pig (47), and rat (199) colon epithelium. It was thought that CLC-2 might represent an alternative apical CI⁻ channel, but several studies showed that CLC-2 had a basolateral localization. In the guinea pig colon, CLC-2 appears to localize on surface epithelium and not crypt base cells, and reside in the basolateral membrane (47;48), where it could contribute to Cl⁻ exit. Consistent with this function for basolateral CLC-2, mice that are both CFTR and CLC-2 deficient did not show exacerbated defects in colonic Cl secretion (369). However, the finding that CLC-2 localizes to tight junctions in mouse ileum (137) indicates that CLC-2 might have other functions, perhaps as a tight junction channel that could mediate paracellular CI⁻ transport.

Basolateral K^+ channels are important for maintaining an electrical driving force for epithelial anion secretion (318). K^+ entering the cell through the Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase or NKCC is "recycled" out through the basolateral K^+ channels, which hyperpolarizes the

basolateral membrane and helps maintain the processes of Na⁺ absorption and Cl⁻ secretion. K^+ can also exit through apical K^+ channels, which mediate K^+ secretion into the lumen. Although it is known that apical K^+ channels in colonic epithelium contribute to K^+ secretion (299;362), their properties are less well characterized than the basolateral potassium channels. The presence of apical Ca²⁺-regulated K^+ channels has been observed in rat colon (42;164;301).

 K^+ channels make up a diverse and heterogenous group of channels. Structurally, they can be separated into two broad groups: those that have 2 transmembrane domains, and those that have 6 transmembrane domains. They are also classified by their nucleotide sequence homology, or according to their biophysical, pharmacological, or regulatory characteristics. These different ways to classify K^+ channels have made their nomenclature heterogenous and complex. In 1998 the bacterial KcsA channel was the first ion channel to have a resolved 3D structure from X-ray crystallography (84) and its structure confirmed the putative models of K^+ channels' pores.

Several types of basolateral K^+ channels commonly found in mammalian colon epithelial cells include: 1) cAMP-sensitive K^+ channels in rat (176) and human (206), 2) K_{ATP} channels in rat (67;157), and 3) Ca²⁺-sensitive K^+ channels. The Ca²⁺-sensitive K^+ channels are grouped according to their single channel conductances: small (SK), intermediate (IK) and big (BK). Ca²⁺-sensitive K^+ channels expressed in colonic epithelium include: 1) SK channels in rat (22;37;164;358) and human (206), 2) IK channels in rat (111;164) and human (76;284), and 3) BK channels in rabbit (345) and rat (37;164). It is likely that other types of K^+ channels exist in colonic epithelial cells and are only waiting to be discovered. Recently the voltage-gated K^+ channel Kv1.3, thought

15

to be found only in nerves and lymphocytes, was shown to be expressed in rat colonic epithelium (133). Many of the basolateral K^+ channel studies have used human, rabbit, rat, and guinea pig colon epithelium, and there is less literature using mouse colon epithelium. However, identified basolateral K^+ channels in mouse colon epithelial cells include a cAMP-sensitive K^+ channel (91;211;212) consisting of KCNQ1/KCNE3 multimers (210;296) and an intermediate conductance Ca²⁺-sensitive K⁺ channel (212) made up of KCNN4 subunits (91;212;210).

Another vital player in colonic secretion is NKCC, which is located on the basolateral membrane of colonic epithelial cells (65) where it is a pathway for Cl⁻ entry and a requirement for Cl⁻ secretion to occur. It is an electroneutral cotransporter with a stoichiometry of 1Na⁺:1K⁺:2Cl⁻ (138). There are two major isoforms of NKCC: NKCC1, whose expression has been shown in human (65) and mouse (9;129) colonic epithelium, and NKCC2, whose expression was examined in mice and shown to be restricted to the kidney (159). Unlike CF mice, NKCC1-deficient mice do not have intestinal obstruction and have a relatively mild intestinal pathology, showing dilated crypts (9;129). This suggests that there are alternative pathways for basolateral Cl⁻ entry that contribute to the maintenance of Cl⁻ secretion.

 Na^+/HCO_3^- cotransporters (NBCs) are another pathway for anion transport across the basolateral membrane. Evidence for NBC colonic expression has been found in human (2), rabbit (302), rat (41) and mouse (8;302). Since the initial cloning of a human (40) and an amphibian (276) renal NBC in 1997, many members of this family have been cloned and there are now four NBC isoforms called NBC1-4 (321). In fact the NBCs belong to the broader solute carrier (SLC) 4 family of HCO₃⁻ transporters that includes

the anion exchangers AE1-4. NBC1 is an electrogenic transporter and transports $1Na^+:3HCO_3^-$ in the kidney epithelium (275;322). However, in most other tissues it appears to have a stoichiometry of $1Na^+:2HCO_3^-$ (275;321). Although it is well established that NBCs contribute to colonic basolateral HCO_3^- entry (257) and NBC1 is expressed in the colon (302;303), further characterization of NBCs in this location awaits.

The Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase is ubiquitously expressed and it has the crucial function of maintaining the Na⁺ and K⁺ gradients across the cell membrane. It resides in the basolateral membrane of epithelial cells (169), where it also contributes to colonic secretory function. For every molecule of ATP hydrolyzed, the Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase transports three Na⁺ ions out of the cell and two K⁺ ions into the cell (169). The Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase maintains an inwardly directed Na⁺ gradient that drives secondary transport, such as that through NKCC1. Evidence that Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase activity contributes to Cl⁻ secretion is that ouabain, an inhibitor of the Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase, blocks Cl⁻ secretion (16).

The transepithelial transport of an ion does not occur in isolation, but instead affects, and is affected by, the movement of other ions. For CI' secretion to occur there will be an opening of CI⁻ channels in the apical membrane, an influx of ions through NKCC, and K⁺ exit from the cell. It is well established that K⁺ exit via basolateral K⁺ channels hyperpolarizes the cell and will drive CI⁻ secretion (178). In fact, basolateral K⁺ channels are necessary for CI⁻ secretion to occur since basolateral K⁺ channel inhibitors block CI⁻ secretion (205). The integrated response of a colonic epithelial cell's ion channels and transporters will determine its secretory response. Figure 1•2 and 1•3 show the channels and transporters involved in colonic epithelial secretion and absorption, with attention to crypt axis distribution.





The expression of ion channels and transporters along the crypt base-to-surface axis in the distal colon. Electrogenic Na⁺ absorption via ENaC is most prominent in the surface epithelial cells. Electroneutral NaCl absorption occurs throughout the crypt length. CFTR expression is greater in the crypt base cells. Ap = apical membrane, Bl = basolateral membrane





The expression of ion channels and transporters along the crypt base-to-surface axis in the proximal colon. Electroneutral NaCl absorption occurs throughout the crypt length, and CFTR expression is greater in the crypt base cells. Ap = apical membrane, Bl = basolateral membrane

One of the main methods to study transepithelial transport is to use the short-circuit current (I_{sc}) technique. Hans Ussing pioneered this technique in the 1950s and his first paper using this technique, along with ²⁴Na⁺, showed that the I_{sc} measured across frog skin epithelium was due to sodium transport (346). Any epithelial tissue that forms resistant monolayers of cells can be mounted in Ussing chambers, where it is voltage-clamped at zero and then transepithelial current is recorded, which corresponds to ion movement across the tissue. For Ussing chamber experiments, colonic epithelial tissue is dissected free of the underlying smooth muscle layers (Figure 1•1) and typical I_{sc} traces are shown in Figure 1•4.

2. Physiological Mechanisms Regulating Ion Transport

2.1 Neurohormonal mechanisms

The activation or inhibition of transepithelial ion transport is under the regulation of excitatory and inhibitory influences. Regulatory factors include neurotransmitters and hormones that are released from endocrine, nerve, immune, or epithelial cells. Neurohumoral signals exert their effects through many intracellular signaling messengers and pathways. Cyclic AMP, cGMP, and Ca²⁺ are well-studied messengers that have all been shown to affect ion transport, and therefore regulate colonic function. Although largely neglected, the presence of immune cells and their mediators in the gastrointestinal tract also contributes to secretory or absorptive functions of the colon epithelium. In fact, the gastrointestinal tract holds the majority of immune cells in the body. Physiologically speaking, an integration of neural, immunological, humoral, and epithelial influences will all contribute to colonic epithelial ion transport. This section will


Figure 1.4 Short-circuit current (I_{sc}) recordings comparing responses between wildtype and Δ F508 CF mice

The response to forskolin (AC activator, $10 \,\mu\text{M}$ bilateral) in wildtype mice or a transgenic mouse model of CF. CF mice show a lack of cAMP-mediated Cl secretion as well as lower basal I_{sc}.

present two main mechanisms that regulate ion transport, and specific studies looking at these two regulatory mechanisms will be detailed in subsequent chapters.

2.1.1 Neural innervation

The colon is extensively innervated by the extrinsic fibers of the autonomic nervous system (ANS) and the intrinsic nerves of the enteric nervous system (ENS) to coordinate healthy gut function. Autonomic innervation of the colon comes from the parasympathetic vagus and splanchnic nerves and the sympathetic nerves from the superior mesenteric, inferior mesenteric, and pelvic ganglia (80). The ENS possesses intrinsic activity and consists of Auerbach's myenteric plexus and Meissner's submucosal plexus. The two plexuses are made up of many ganglia interconnected by nerve fibers. Myenteric plexus nerves have cell bodies residing between the circular and longitudinal muscle, and submucosal plexus nerve cell bodies reside between the circular muscle and the mucosa. In general, the myenteric plexus oversees the contractile function of the circular and longitudinal smooth muscle, and therefore the mixing and propulsion of the intestinal contents. The submucosal plexus mainly controls chloride secretion by crypt cells and blood flow to the intestine. Parasympathetic nerves synapse with nerves in the myenteric plexus, which also communicate with nerves of submucosal plexus (168), and the two plexuses are coordinated and communicate with each other and the ANS to control secretion, motility, and blood flow. The ENS's intrinsic activity is apparent when severing the sympathetic and parasympathetic fibers to the intestine, since digestive functions are not compromised (6).

The intestine is extensively innervated and neurotransmitter release can act on nonneural cells. This is evident by the presence of receptors for classical neurotransmitters on non-neural cells. Colon epithelial cells express both adrenergic and cholinergic receptors. Stimulation of α_2 adrenergic receptors (α_2 ARs) on the basolateral membrane (348) of colonic epithelia is known to inhibit secretion (151;300). There are 3 subtypes of α_2 adrenergic receptors called α_{2A} , α_{2B} , and α_{2C} . Colonic epithelium contains the α_{2A} subtype (348), and the receptor shows a higher expression in the proximal colon and in the crypt base cells (305;348). Catecholamines are released from the sympathetic nerves innervating the mucosa and postganglionic nerves primarily secrete noradrenaline. There are also 4 types of β adrenergic receptors (β_1 - β_4), and the β_2 subtype is found in human colon epithelial cells (271). Rat colonic epithelium shows functional expression of β_3 adrenergic receptors also, and a β_3 agonist caused an increase in secretion (300).

Muscarinic receptors are also present in colonic epithelia where, in response to acetylcholine (ACh), they stimulate secretion (161). ACh can come from several sources, including parasympathetic neurons and efferent neurons from the submucosal plexus (61;161). There are 5 subtypes of muscarinic receptors (M_1 - M_5) and it is the M_3 subtype that is found in the basolateral membrane of colon epithelial cells (198). It is well established that stimulation of M_3 receptors activates Ca^{2+} to induce colonic secretion (198;251). It has been suggested that mechanical stimulation from the presence of luminal feces will activate intestinal neurons and, through submucosal reflexes, a basal level of low chloride secretion for maintaining lubrication (62).

2.1.2 Adenosine

The secretory nature of the epithelium can also be altered in response to hormones and other molecules. Colonic epithelial cells express receptors for many secretagogues including adenosine. Adenosine is a purine nucleoside that is well known to have effects on intestinal epithelial secretion. Both colonic cell lines (14;31) and colonic tissue (125) show increased secretion in response to adenosine. Adenosine may come from several sources where it acts on colonic epithelium to mediate secretion.

Local production of adenosine by the colonic epithelial cells occurs due to the action of the ecto-5'-nucleotidase, also called CD73 (328). This enzyme converts 5'-AMP into adenosine, which can then act on its receptors, or be transported into the cell via nucleoside transporters. In the small intestine there is evidence for luminal adenosine production from degradation of microbial nucleic acids (291) and endogenous nucleic acids from the high turnover rate of intestinal epithelial cell shedding (244). During inflammatory states, the concentration of adenosine can greatly increase due to adenosine production from inflammatory cells. Intestinal inflammation often results in disturbed secretory responses. Intestinal mast cells secrete adenosine (13), and neutrophils (213) and eosinophils (269) release 5'-AMP. 5'-AMP can be converted into adenosine by CD73, which can then act on colonic epithelial cells and stimulate secretion. Large amounts of ATP may be produced in the gut lumen from the killing of microbial invaders, such as the enteropathogenic Escherichia coli. ATP metabolism will yield adenosine, which contributes to the colonic secretory diarrhea (63). Adenosine can also act in a paracrine or autocrine manner. Local actions of adenosine were evident when hypoxic conditions promoted endogenous adenosine release in colon epithelial cells, and this stimulated Cl⁻ secretion (220). Therefore, under hypoxic conditions adenosine might play a role in converting the net absorptive function of colonic epithelium into net secretion.

Adenosine acts through receptors belonging to the purinergic receptor family. There are four subtypes of adenosine receptors called A₁, A_{2A}, A_{2B}, and A₃. They comprise the P₁-purinergic receptors, which are G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs). Each receptor subtype has its own classical signaling pathway characterized based on the G protein that it is coupled with. A₁ couples with G_{i/o}, A_{2A} with G_s, A_{2B} with G_s or G_q, and A₃ with G_i or G_q (263). It is well known that adenosine activates Cl⁻ secretion in colon epithelial cells (14;31;125). A_{2B} receptors are present in T84 cells and human colon tissue (329). In T84 cells, activation of A_{2B} receptors results in increased cAMP production and increased anion secretion (329). Adenosine receptors are present in both the apical and basolateral membranes of colonic epithelial cells (15).

Epithelial cells scavenge extracellular adenosine through nucleoside transporters. This keeps local adenosine concentrations relatively low, and this corresponds to the low level of basal Cl⁻ secretion. There are two major classes of nucleoside transporters, the concentrative (or Na⁺-dependent) nucleoside transporters (CNTs) and the equilibrative (or Na⁺-independent) nucleoside transporters (ENTs). CNTs can transport nucleosides against their concentration gradient, whereas ENTs transport nucleosides along their concentration gradients. Presently there are three identified subtypes of CNTs, named CNT1-3 (127), and four ENTs, named ENT1-4 (10). ENT1 and ENT2 are distinguished by their sensitivity to the drug nitrobenzylthioinosine (NBTI or NBMPR) with ENT1 being NBTI-sensitive and ENT2 being NBTI-insensitive. Interestingly, ENT3 has an

intracellular localization and is relatively insensitive to NBTI (11). ENT4 function is not yet well defined. There is functional evidence of ENT expression in T84 cells (227) and ENT1 and ENT2 mRNA is expressed in T84 as well as Caco-2 cells (355). There are conflicting results looking at CNT expression in colonic epithelial cells. In a study looking at mRNA expression in T84 and Caco-2 cells, CNT1 and CNT2 expression was not found (355). Additionally, CNT activity was not found in rabbit colon (272). CNT1 is expressed in the brush border, but not basolateral, membrane of the rat small intestine (141), so if it is present in colon epithelium it may have an apical localization. Mouse colonic tissue showed the presence of mRNA for ENT1-3, and low levels of CNT2 and CNT3 (207).

Adenosine homeostasis is the result of the activity of several enzymes. The actions of two enzymes result in very low intracellular concentrations of adenosine. Intracellular adenosine kinase creates AMP from adenosine, whereas adenosine deaminase metabolizes adenosine to inosine. Since the ubiquitous enzyme adenosine deaminase has rapid actions, adenosine likely acts in a more paracrine/autocrine manner under basal conditions than as a circulatory hormone. In fact it appears that high (up to mM) concentrations of exogenous adenosine are required to stimulate Cl⁻ secretion in colonic tissue (125).

2.2 The role of cell membrane composition

Membrane proteins reside in the lipid bilayer, and the contribution of the effect of lipids on membrane protein activity is not well understood. There is a general understanding that membrane proteins require the proper lipid environment in order to function normally, but knowledge about the specific regulation of these proteins by lipid constituents is lacking. Cholesterol is a major lipid in cell membranes and it has been linked with regulating many membrane effects. It is undoubtedly an important molecule for regulating some membrane proteins, but its role in colonic ion transport has not been thoroughly studied. Cholesterol is also a defining part of lipid rafts, which are microdomains in the cell membrane that have regulatory roles. Therefore, cholesterol's regulatory properties may be due to its association with these specific structures in the cell membrane.

2.2.1 Cholesterol

The distribution of total cell cholesterol is such that the majority resides in the cell membrane. Cell membranes are enriched in cholesterol, whereas intracellular membranes, including the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and mitochondrial membranes, contain much less (60). In fibroblasts, up to 90% of total cellular cholesterol resides in the cell membrane (182), although cell membrane cholesterol content appears to vary depending on the cell type and anywhere from 65-90% of total cholesterol is reported in different cell membranes (180;181;356).

It is not understood why levels of cell membrane cholesterol are relatively high compared to intracellular membranes. However, several molecules are important for cholesterol transport and expression in the cell membrane. The high sphingomyelin (SM) content of the cell membrane maintains the cholesterol content (359). Similar to cholesterol, the majority of total cell SM is located in the cell membrane (180;182;315) and cholesterol favours interactions with SM more than with other phospholipids (235;248;359). SM degradation alters the cell membrane cholesterol distribution by mobilizing cholesterol for esterification and causing a decrease in cholesterol biosynthesis (52;135;314;315). On the other hand, cholesterol levels also affect the homeostasis of SM (190). The association between cholesterol and sphingomyelin is the basis for the formation of lipid rafts (Section 2.2.2).

Caveolin, a protein found in caveolae (see section 2.2.2), may be important for cholesterol transport and cell surface expression. Caveolin is a cholesterol-binding protein (228), and newly synthesized cholesterol appears in caveolae first and then non-caveolae cell membrane (102;316). Caveolin mRNA levels are also linked to cellular cholesterol levels (21;101).

Cholesterol has four fused rings, referred to as A, B, C, and D. The rings are arranged in a planar way, and a 3β -hydroxyl group gives cholesterol its hydrophilic property so that the molecule is amphipathic. The planar molecule orients with its polar hydroxyl group facing the aqueous intracellular and extracellular environments and the hydrophobic rings lie parallel to the hydrocarbon chains of the phospholipids. The structure and orientation of cholesterol give the cell membrane rigidity by reducing the freedom of movement of phospholipid hydrocarbon chains. The fluidity of the cell membrane describes the motional freedom of molecules in the lipid bilayer and there is abundant evidence that cholesterol decreases cell membrane fluidity (25;45;54;121;123).

The main sources of cholesterol in intestinal epithelial cells are from: 1) extracellular uptake from plasma lipoproteins, 2) uptake from the lumen of the intestine, or 3) biosynthesis. Each of these processes will sequentially be described here. Basolateral extracellular uptake of cholesterol is achieved through receptor-mediated uptake of plasma lipoproteins. There are five classes of lipoproteins, classified according to their density: chylomicrons, very low density lipoproteins (VLDL), low density lipoproteins (LDL), intermediate density lipoproteins (IDL), and high density lipoproteins (HDL). LDL and HDL carry the majority of plasma cholesterol. The apolipoproteins, part of the lipoproteins, interact with cell membrane receptors or enzymes and so determine the receptor-mediated uptake of cholesterol into the cell. After internalization, the lipoproteins are degraded and the cell can then use the released cholesterol.

Cholesterol is transported in LDL as cholesteryl esters, with the hydroxyl group esterified. Cellular uptake of LDL is receptor-mediated, and as would be expected for plasma cholesterol uptake, LDL receptors are present in the basolateral membrane of colonic epithelial cells (104). Once inside the cell, LDL is delivered to lysosomes where the cholesteryl esters are hydrolyzed to release free cholesterol for cell use. HDL mediates the reverse process of cholesterol efflux, which is essential since cholesterol is not degraded and must be sent to the liver for conversion to bile acids. This process also involves apolipoprotein interaction with the cell membrane, and in fact lipid rafts may mediate this interaction (118).

ATP-binding cassette transporter A1 (ABCA1) is an integral part of cholesterol efflux. Like CFTR, ABCA1 belongs to the ABC family of transporters. ABCA1 is found in the basolateral membrane of colonic epithelial cells (234) where it mediates the transport of cholesterol across the cell membrane (267). A rare autosomal recessive disease of reverse cholesterol transport is Tangier disease. Characteristics of this disease

include very low plasma HDL levels and accumulation of cholesterol esters in macrophages throughout the body, including the tonsils, liver, spleen, and intestine (106). Interestingly, Tangier disease is due to mutations in ABCA1 (279).

Although there is advanced understanding about the biosynthetic pathway for cholesterol production, little is understood about the molecular processes involved in dietary intestinal cholesterol absorption. It is generally accepted that the small intestine absorbs bile acid micelles containing cholesterol through the apical membrane. It was previously assumed that cholesterol absorption from luminal contents was passive (132), however there is good evidence now for protein-mediated cholesterol uptake (147;174;341). In fact inhibitors of intestinal cholesterol absorption (2-azetidinones such as ezetimibe/Zeria® and sterol glycosides) are emerging as novel pharmacological treatment for high plasma cholesterol levels (39;75). Since so little is understood about intestinal cholesterol uptake though, the action of these drugs is unknown. It was recently shown that Niemann-Pick C1 Like 1 (NPC1L1) protein, which shares ~50% homology to NPC1 (69), is expressed in the gastrointestinal tract and is important for cholesterol absorption in the intestine (4). NPC1L1-null mice were not responsive to ezetimibe suggesting this is the pathway for 2-azetidinone actions (4). NPC1L1 is found in the colon (although its expression is low compared to the small intestine) suggesting that the colon has a small capacity for luminal cholesterol absorption (4). However, two potential cholesterol-binding proteins in the apical membranes of intestinal epithelial cells were not found in colon epithelial cells (174), suggesting that luminal cholesterol absorption does not occur in the colon.

Intestinal epithelial cells possess the necessary machinery to synthesize cholesterol from one molecule of acetyl coenzyme A. In a pathway involving over 20 separate reactions, one of the reactions is the formation of mevalonate from 3-hydroxy-3methylglutaryl coenzyme A (HMG-CoA). This reaction is catalyzed by the enzyme HMG-CoA reductase, and is a major regulatory step in cholesterol biosynthesis. The statin class of drugs are HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors used for the treatment of hypercholesterolemia.

Cholesterol is synthesized in the ER and then transported to other membranes. Cell membrane cholesterol is not static, but is continually travelling to and from the ER, where cholesterol is synthesized. Total cell membrane cholesterol moves to the ER and back to the cell membrane with an estimated half-time of 40 min (179). Within minutes, small changes in cell membrane cholesterol provoke large responses in ER cholesterol (183), and the cholesterol content of a cell is under tight regulation.

Through the pioneering work of Joseph Goldstein and Michael Brown, the main proteins involved in cellular cholesterol homeostasis are known. Cells maintain their cholesterol content through a transcriptional regulatory system. The genes regulating cholesterol synthesis have promoters containing sterol regulatory element (SRE) sequences. Sterol regulatory element-binding proteins (SREBPs) are a group of transcription factors that reside in the ER membrane. There are three identified SREBPs named SREBP-1a, SREBP-1c, and SREBP-2 (156;306;368). The N-terminal domain of SREBPs contains transcription factor activity (243), and the C-terminal domain is a regulatory domain that interacts with SREBP-cleavage-activating protein, or SCAP (283). When the cellular cholesterol level is too low, transport of the SCAP-SREBP

31

complex from the ER to the Golgi occurs. This allows the N-terminal domain of SREBPs to be cleaved off by two sequential cleavages (282) and then to travel to the nucleus. Two Golgi proteases carry out the cleavages: Site-1 protease (S1P) first cleaves the SREBP into two halves (90), and Site-2 protease (S2P) cleaves the N-terminal fragment that will move to the nucleus and bind the SRE (282). SCAP is required for S1P cleavage (155), and there is evidence that cholesterol directly binds SCAP (255). This would allow cholesterol to suppress proteolysis by S1P, and downstream cholesterol synthetic events. So SCAP has at least two functions, binding to SREBP and escorting it to the Golgi, and sensing the cholesterol levels. Binding of the SREBP N-terminal domain to the SRE activates the transcription of enzymes for cholesterol synthesis such as HMG-CoA reductase (156;317), farnesyl diphosphate synthase (95), and squalene synthase (134), which alleviates the initial low cholesterol signal.

One molecule identified to be involved in intracellular cholesterol transport is the Niemann-Pick C1 (NPC1) protein (46). The importance of such proteins is apparent because abnormalities in intracellular cholesterol transport lead to diseases, such as Niemann-Pick type C (NPC) disease. Fibroblasts from people with NPC have normal LDL uptake, but LDL-derived cholesterol accumulates in lysosomes. Interestingly, NPC1 contains the cholesterol-sensing domain that is found in SCAP (68), suggesting it may function in targeting cholesterol-containing vesicles. The precise biological function of NPC1 remains unknown.

How does cell membrane cholesterol affect membrane protein function or transepithelial ion transport? The answer is not known, but there is plenty of evidence showing that membrane cholesterol affects membrane protein activity. Modulating membrane cholesterol content has been shown to have effects on the function of receptors (24;121;232) and ion channels (191;202;274), as well as membrane proteins in intestinal epithelial cells (34;88). Another way that cholesterol may affect membrane proteins is through its association with lipid rafts.

2.2.2 Lipid rafts/caveolae

Singer and Nicholson's Fluid Mosaic Model (311) described the idea that the cell membrane contains "proteins floating in a sea of phospholipids" in 1972. This model has been expanded to support the concept that proteins are distributed non-randomly in the cell membrane. In the 1990s, a mechanism for membrane protein organization was proposed based on the observation that some epithelial proteins exhibited insolubility in nonionic detergents (36;290). The concept of lipid rafts was first described by Simons and Ikonen in 1997 (308), and since that time over 1500 papers have been published in this area. Lipid rafts are cell membrane microdomains that are rich in cholesterol, glycosphingolipids (GSLs), and certain membrane and membrane-associated proteins. Phospholipids usually have unsaturated acyl chains and form "liquid-disordered" phases, whereas GSLs have longer saturated acyl chains (cholesterol preferentially partitions between these saturated chains) that will pack more tightly in the lipid bilayer to form "liquid-ordered" phases. These liquid-ordered domains are also known as lipid rafts and one could imagine them floating among the more disordered phospholipids.

Like cholesterol, GSLs are also enriched in lipid rafts. Compared to other membrane lipids, GSLs have a relatively low abundance in the cell membrane. Ceramide is at the core of the structure of all GSLs. GM1 ganglioside is a common resident GSL in rafts, and it is often used as a lipid raft marker.

Rafts are believed to play a key role in several important processes in epithelial cells, including cellular signaling and lipid and protein trafficking (309;310). By inclusion or exclusion of certain proteins, rafts can act as membrane protein regulators. The pathogenesis of certain diseases may depend on lipid rafts. Rafts or raft proteins have been shown to be targets in bacterial infections such as *Clostridium difficile* (233), *Escherichia coli* (304), *Mycobacteria tuberculosis* (117), *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (126), *Vibrio cholerae* (371), and *Salmonella typhimurium* (116), and viral infections such as Ebola (94), Human Immunodeficiency Virus (236), and measles (216).

Biochemically, raft proteins are identified by their isolation in cold nonionic detergents, like Triton X-100, where they are present in detergent-resistant membranes/fractions (DRMs/DRFs), also known as detergent-insoluble glycolipid-enriched complexes (DIGs). Some proteins appear to be permanent residents in lipid rafts; examples include glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI)-anchored proteins like 5'-nucleotidase (328), placental alkaline phosphatase (36), hemagglutinin (313), and Thy-1 (105).

Interestingly, many types of ion channels have been found in detergent-insoluble fractions, including transient receptor potential channels (204), pacemaker channels (12), P/Q-type Ca²⁺ channels (336), Kir3.1 (74), Kv1.3 (23), Kv1.4 (365), Kv1.5 (218), and Kv2.1 (217;274) channels. In epithelial cells alone, lipid raft studies have shown ion channel association with rafts. ENaC was found in lipid rafts in kidney epithelial (A6) cells (148). An olfactory cyclic nucleotide-gated channel, CNGA2, was found associated

with lipid rafts in olfactory epithelium (33). In MDCK cells, lipid rafts appear to target large conductance Ca^{2+} -sensitive K⁺ (BK) channels to the apical membrane (35). Although there are no studies that specifically show the association of colonic epithelial ion channels with lipid rafts, NHE3 was found associated with apical lipid rafts in the small intestine (196). Lipid rafts may indeed play a role in regulating colonic epithelial ion transport.

Some proteins are dynamically associated with rafts. The adenosine A₁ receptor, the epidermal growth factor receptor, and P-glycoprotein translocate out of rafts upon stimulation (120;184;224). On the other hand, proteins that do not normally reside in rafts may become raft-associated upon stimulation (120). CFTR is not found in lipid rafts under basal conditions (32), but evidence suggests that it may become raft-associated due to *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection (173). What we think of as a lipid raft may only represent a snapshot in time of a dynamic cell membrane. Subsets of rafts may associate and disassociate continually so that a cell membrane is in a constant state of flux.

With respect to the polarized nature of epithelia, rafts present one system that epithelial cells can employ to maintain their distinct apical and basolateral membranes. Initially, the function of rafts was largely studied in Madin-Darby canine kidney (MDCK) epithelial cells, and rafts were proposed to deliver certain newly synthesized proteins from the *trans*-Golgi network (TGN) to the apical cell membrane (99;175;200). For example, GPI-anchored proteins are localized to the apical membrane of epithelial cells (200), and rafts can aid the apical delivery of GPI-anchored proteins. There is good evidence that this is the case, since raft disruption perturbs the sorting of apical raft proteins (165;277). Caveolin-1 has also been shown to play a role in apical transport of

influenza virus hemagglutinin (HA) in epithelial cells (292). There are no simple rules for the polarized sorting of proteins in epithelial cells, and different cell types can exhibit different sorting mechanisms. Apical proteins in MDCK cells are sorted through the TGN, but in retinal pigment epithelial cells HA appears to take a more convoluted route, showing up in the basolateral membrane and then transcytosing to the apical membrane (27). In small intestinal epithelial cells it was shown that apical membrane rafts contribute to the sorting of the apical enzyme aminopeptidase N (144).

Many signaling molecules are associated with lipid rafts and so rafts may act as centres for signal transduction. For example, inhibition of volume-regulated anion channels (VRACs) by the c-Src tyrosine kinase requires c-Src association with lipid rafts (343). Both transient receptor potential-canonical channels TRPC1 and TRPC3 appear to assemble in caveolar multimolecular signaling complexes (203;204). Whole signaling complexes have been defined and their residence in lipid rafts makes sense, since having all the molecules in close proximity would create efficient and rapid signal transduction as well as minimize cross-talk. Other proteins may also be associated and help to form these molecular complexes. "Scaffolding proteins", like SAP-97, have been shown to associate with caveolin-3 and also to regulate Kv1.5 activity (103).

Excellent data that supports lipid raft structure *in vivo* has looked at the lateral movement of single molecules in the cell membrane. Both raft lipids (79) and proteins (252) show less lateral diffusion than non-raft markers. The actin cytoskeleton may restrain the lateral mobility of rafts and the proteins in them. A model has been proposed where cytoskeleton "corrals" confine cell membrane protein mobility (188). Cytoskeletal or cytoskeletal-associated proteins have been found in lipid raft proteomes. Proteomic

analysis of monocyte lipid rafts showed the presence of actin, actinin, and vimentin (195). Similarly, raft proteomics in other cell types shows the association of cytoskeletal proteins with rafts (324;352). Ion channels and transporters have been shown to associate with cytoskeletal components. For example, the BK channel interacts with the microtubule-associated protein 1A (242). It is reasonable to assume that the cytoskeleton represents a way for some proteins to reside in rafts.

One technical approach used to study rafts has been to manipulate cholesterol or sphingolipid levels pharmacologically, thereby disrupting raft stability. Cyclodextrins (121;274) and filipin (121) can acutely affect membrane cholesterol and disrupt lipid rafts, whereas the statin family of drugs can be applied to cells for long-term suppression of cholesterol biosynthesis (144). Application of cyclodextrins to cells has been shown to affect the activity of several types of ion channels including volume-regulated anion channels (191), hyperpolarization-activated cyclic nucleotide-gated (HCN4) channels (12), an α subunit of the olfactory cyclic nucleotide-gated (CNGA2) channel (33), and Kir2.1 channels (274). Membrane sphingolipid levels can also be altered by drugs that inhibit biosynthesis, such as fumonisin B_1 (185), or by using sphingomyelinase to deplete sphingomyelin (121). Treating cells with polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) in culture was shown to alter lipid composition and protein localization to rafts (331;360). In vivo, methods of disrupting lipid rafts have also been employed. Mice were fed a diet enriched in n-3 PUFAs for two weeks after which colonocytes (209) and T-cells (96) showed significantly lower levels of cholesterol and sphingomyelin in their raft fractions.

There is evidence that there are subsets of lipid rafts distinguished by certain resident proteins (124;214). Caveolae are considered one subtype of lipid raft. Caveolae were

originally recognized morphologically as flask-shaped invaginations of about 70 nm in diameter in the cell membrane of endothelial (240) and epithelial cells (366). They contain resident proteins called caveolins, of which there are three isoforms named caveolin-1, caveolin-2, and caveolin-3. Caveolins are cholesterol-binding proteins that have a bent-hairpin structure. They are able to polymerize (228) and it is believed that this is how the cell membrane bends for invaginations to form. Caveolin-1 and caveolin-2 are coexpressed in many cell types (293;294), whereas caveolin-3 is localized to muscle cells (335). Mice have been made that lack each of the caveolins, and the mice fared better than they were expected to. Caveolin-1-deficient mice lack caveolae and caveolin-2 expression is also decreased (85;265), confirming the coexpression of the two proteins. As well, the mice exhibit lung and vascular pathophysiology. Mice deficient in caveolin-2 have caveolae, but these mice also have pulmonary dysfunction, suggesting an important role for caveolin-2 in the lungs (266). Caveolae are anchored to the actin cytoskeleton through caveolin-1 associating with the protein filamin (325;340), and this may help to maintain the shape of caveolae.

Although caveolar structure is known, little is understood about the function of caveolae. As with lipid rafts in general, caveolae have been implicated in a number of important cellular processes, and this was the main reason that the viability of caveolindeficient mice was so surprising. Caveolae may be involved in endocytosis, like the clathrin-coated pits, however they show great stability at the cell membrane that would rule out their participation in constitutive endocytosis (340). Caveolae also may be important in cellular signaling. For example, endothelial cell nitric oxide signaling depends on caveolins and caveolae (85;265). There are several lines of evidence suggesting that caveolins are tumor suppressor genes (172) and are downregulated in cancers (17;187). However, there is also evidence for upregulation of caveolin-1 in some cancers (194;367). Furthermore, caveolin-1-deficient mice do not have a greater incidence of tumor formation (265).

Caveolae are present in the basolateral, but not the apical membrane (292;351), of epithelial cells. There is conflicting evidence for the expression of caveolins in colon epithelial cells. Studies in Caco-2 cells have shown caveolin expression and localization to the apical membrane (100), whereas others show a lack of endogenous caveolin expression (192;351) and upon gene transfection with caveolin-1, caveolae form in the basolateral membrane (351). HT-29 cells express caveolin-1 and caveolin-2 (38). In one study using human colonic tissue, caveolin-1 expression was shown (17), however in another study caveolin-1 (5;192) and caveolin-2 (5) were not expressed in human colonic epithelium, but tissue samples from patients with ulcerative colitis showed caveolin-2 expression in the apical membranes of colon epithelial cells (5). Caveolae isolated from mouse and rat colon epithelial cells show the expression of caveolin-1 (209). The presence of caveolae in colon epithelial cells would suggest their role in signaling and membrane protein regulation in these cells, and perhaps caveolae are important in colonic epithelial ion transport.

3. Pathology of Ion Transport Mechanisms

There are dire consequences when the equilibrium between intestinal secretion and absorption is disturbed. A fine balance from the contribution of the epithelial ion channels and transporters, as well as the intracellular and extracellular factors that regulate them, maintains healthy intestinal function. This section presents two examples of altered CFTR function on opposite ends of the transport spectrum: deficient secretion and excess secretion.

3.1 Hyposecretion: cystic fibrosis

Cystic fibrosis (CF) is an inherited (autosomal recessive) disease that afflicts 1:2,000-3,000 of the Caucasian population (97). The disease is due to mutations in the CFTR gene, first cloned in 1989 (270), that results in a dysfunctional anion channel. Like other members of the ABC family of proteins, CFTR structure contains 2 nucleotide-binding domains (NBD1 and NBD2) where ATP can bind (270). CFTR also has a regulatory Rdomain which contains sites that can be phosphorylated by PKA (55) and PKC (51). The C-terminal PSD-95/DLG/ZO-1 (PDZ)-binding domain (354) allows CFTR to associate with several other proteins. Binding of PDZ domain proteins to CFTR mediates cytoskeletal interactions, regulated signaling, and the inclusion of CFTR in macromolecular complexes. Although more than 1000 mutations in the CFTR gene have been identified (see www.genet.sickkids.on.ca/cftr/), the most common mutation, accounting for $\sim 70\%$ of CF cases (208), is a 3 base pair deletion resulting in a loss of phenylalanine at position 508 (Δ F508) in NBD1 (270). Δ F508 results in improper intracellular processing of CFTR so that the protein is retained in the ER and then prematurely degraded. Other mutations may affect CFTR production, regulation, or conduction, but ultimately the result of all mutations is a lack of Cl⁻ transport.

The most severe complication of CF is lung disease. With a lack of Cl⁻ secretion in the airways, there is also a deficiency in fluid secretion and thick mucus develops that

contributes to lung disorder. Mucociliary clearance of this thick mucus is impaired, and there is also lung inflammation. CF patients are more susceptible to lung infections from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (281), and lung function progressively declines with age. Because CFTR resides in many epithelia, CF patients typically have other complications, including exocrine pancreatic insufficiency (139), infertility (81) and intestinal dysfunction.

Defective CI⁻ transport can have significant consequences for intestinal function, and 85-90% of CF patients experience some form of gastrointestinal complication (241). About 15% of newborns with CF have meconium ileus, where the distal ileum and proximal colon are dilated due to obstruction with thickened pellets of meconium (201). In adult CF patients, ileal obstruction with fecal material is known as meconium ileus equivalent or distal intestinal obstructive syndrome, and occurs in about 15% of the CF population (86;278). Maldigestion often occurs due to pancreatic insufficiency, and stools appear "greasy" with visible fat droplets. A high caloric diet with supplementary vitamins and pancreatic enzyme replacement helps with dietary deficiencies and digestion of fats and proteins. Other intestinal problems in CF include bloating, excess gas, constipation (278), and intussusception (153).

Eleven transgenic mouse models of CF have been generated and described in the literature so far, including three Δ F508 CF mouse models (59;349;370). Interestingly, mouse morbidity is due to intestinal dysfunction, whereas lung function is decent. It is thought that other apical Cl⁻ channels compensate for the lack of functional CFTR in the lungs of CF mice (57;130). CF mice show gastrointestinal obstruction that is similar to human complications, namely blockage or even rupture in the distal small intestine and

colon (320) due to luminal contents that are more viscous than normal. Histopathology of CF mouse intestine shows mucus accumulation in crypts as well as goblet cell hyperplasia (93). In one study looking at histological features of Δ F508 CF mouse tissue, the colon showed thick secretions, but no change in goblet cells numbers (339). The severe intestinal complications result in a higher rate of morbidity for CF mice (264;320;370), but it has been shown that using liquid diets can increase their life span (93;166). Presumably this diet is easier on intestinal function. Figure 1-4 shows the colonic epithelial response to the AC activator forskolin in Δ F508 CF vs. wildtype mice. There is a complete lack of cAMP-stimulated chloride secretion in the Δ F508 CF mice. CF mice are a useful experimental model for learning more about CF mechanisms and physiology, especially with respect to the intestine, because of the similarities between CF mouse and human gut function.

The CF genotype may affect intestinal phenotype. The Cftr^{tm1Hgu} model of CF mouse has a higher survival rate and shows a cAMP-mediated Cl⁻ secretory response ~50% of that for wildtype mice (82;319). The production of ~10% of normal CFTR may be the reason these mice have a greater survival rate (83). As well, the Cftr^{TgHm1G551D} mouse shows some cAMP-mediated Cl⁻ secretion (73), and the equivalent mutation in human CF presents a lower rate of meconium ileus compared to Δ F508 patients (142). In fact, Δ F508 CFTR can function as a Cl⁻ channel (193), and so one therapeutic strategy is to improve the secretory response of Δ F508 CFTR. Support of this strategy was shown when adding PKA type II activators together with phosphodiesterase class I and III inhibitors to Δ F508 CF mouse intestine activated a discernable secretory response (326). It is postulated that CFTR downregulates ENaC activity. This would aggravate the CI⁻ secretory defect because it would cause epithelia to not only under-secrete, but also to over-absorb. Evidence for this hypothesis is that Na⁺ transport in CF airway epithelia was shown to be upregulated (30). Human CF colonic tissue has been shown to have an increased response to the ENaC inhibitor amiloride (238). On the other hand, some studies have not shown a difference in amiloride-sensitive Na⁺ absorption in colonic tissue from CF patients (145).

The intestinal complications in CF arise as result of a variety of factors. At the epithelial cell level, improper functioning of CFTR alters the secretory function and CF intestinal epithelium is characterized by a lack of cAMP-stimulated secretion.

3.2 Hypersecretion: secretory diarrhea and cholera

Certain stimuli, like bacterial enterotoxins, can trigger a large volume of fluid secretion into the lumen of the gut, resulting in diarrhea. This is an excellent simple defense mechanism to flush out the microbe or noxious substance. The basic sequence of events is that toxin-receptor interactions occur at the apical membrane of epithelial cells, and this activates intracellular signaling processes that lead to an increase in transepithelial CI⁻ secretion. Diarrhea is not often life-threatening in the first world, but poverty, war, and overcrowding can lead to contaminated water supplies and contribute to the fatal consequences of dehydration in developing countries.

Cholera is a well-studied stimulus of secretory diarrhea, and a good example of how alterations in cellular signaling ultimately affect transpithelial ion transport. A 1959 study showed that adding filtrate from *Vibrio cholerae* cultures into rabbit intestine

resulted in fluid secretion (70), proving that a bacterial-released toxin caused the diarrhea. After release of the toxin from the bacteria, the toxin binds to intestinal epithelial cells to initiate its actions. The enterotoxin produced by V. cholerae is called cholera toxin, which is a protein consisting of an A subunit and five B subunits. The A and B subunits both share over 80% homology with the Escherichia coli enterotoxin A and B subunits (66;323), which also induce diarrhea. The B subunits bind to the GM1 ganglioside (152;222), hence cholera's dependence on lipid rafts for infectivity. Cholera toxin has been found to associate with lipid rafts in T84 cells, and binding to rafts was essential for toxin activation of secretion (364). After binding to GM1, the A subunit is endocytosed and enters a retrograde trafficking pathway via early endosomes (333) to the TGN and then to the ER. Internalization and transport of cholera toxin has been shown to be raftand cholesterol-dependent in colon epithelial cells when sequestration of cholesterol inhibited toxin transport to the TGN (237;363). Once inside the ER, the A subunit undergoes proteolytic cleavage to release the A1 domain that is responsible for the toxin's enzymatic activity. V. cholerae secretes a protease that can mediate this cleavage (158), but it has been suggested that the cleavage occurs due to the action of endogenous epithelial proteases, such as protease activity within the apical early endosomes in T84 cells (189).

It is thought that the A1 fragment translocates from the ER into the cytosol through the Sec61p channel (146). Sec61p channel is normally used for transporting newly synthesized proteins from the cytosol into the ER, but it also transports misfolded proteins for proteasomal degradation in the cytosol (143). Once in the cytosol, the A1 fragment imposes its enzymatic activity on G_s proteins. It irreversibly modifies the $G_s \alpha$ subunit so that it over-stimulates AC and this causes increased levels of cAMP, which affect cAMP-mediated events including the activation of PKA. With respect to secretory actions, PKA phosphorylates CFTR to stimulate intestinal secretion. There is an established role for CFTR in secretory diarrhea and evidence for this comes from studies that show CFTR inhibitors can block cholera-induced secretion in T84 cells, and mouse and human intestine (338). It follows that CFTR inhibitors may be good therapeutic tools for treating cholera.

Elevated levels of cAMP also indirectly affect secretion. For example, platelet activating factor is activated which induces the synthesis of phospholipase A₂ (PLA₂)-activating protein, and this then results in PLA₂ activation (246). PLA₂ then stimulates arachidonic acid release which results in prostaglandin (PG) production, including PGE1 and PGE2, which also activates the secretory response (245). There are other secretagogues that are brought into action to propagate the response to cholera, including 5-hydroxytryptamine (231).

V. cholerae produces other toxins in addition to CT. One is called zona occludens toxin (ZOT) and like its name suggests, it affects tight junctions by increasing their permeability (98). Recent findings also suggest that the B subunits are not merely passive receptor-binding molecules, but they may also activate intracellular signaling molecules like extracellular signal-regulated kinases (26).

It has been suggested that the high CF carrier rate in the general population is due to the "benefits" of CFTR dysfunction (254). This advantage would afford a resistance to bacterial-induced diarrhea, such as cholera, which cause Cl⁻ secretion through CFTR. Support for this idea comes from studies on heterozygote CF mice, which showed a decreased intestinal secretory response to cholera toxin (114). However, there are studies performed in mice (64) and humans (149) that refute this hypothesis.

The net result of cholera toxin exposure is a large loss of ions and fluid into the gut lumen. This secretory diarrhea is due to overactivation of CFTR and the accompanying water loss is severe. Cholera results in diarrhea containing as much as 20 L of fluid per day (1), as well as an increased output of fecal electrolytes.

4. Thesis objectives

Epithelial ion transport determines the secretory nature of the colon and many mechanisms regulate the transepithelial movement of ions. The aim of the studies for this thesis is to characterize certain mechanisms regulating colonic epithelial ion transport. The main goals are:

- 1. to further characterize the established neurohumoral mechanisms of α_2 adrenergic-mediated absorption and adenosine-mediated secretion in colonic epithelium;
- 2. to determine the influence of cell membrane composition on colonic epithelial secretory control.

The findings reported in this thesis contribute to our understanding of mechanisms regulating colonic epithelial ion transport. These studies provide important insights into colonic epithelial ion transport mechanisms in health and disease states.

REFERENCES

- 1. Abbas, Z., I. Moid, A. H. Khan, S. M. Jafri, S. H. Shah, S. Abid, and S. Hamid. Efficacy of octreotide in diarrhoea due to *Vibrio cholerae*: a randomized, controlled trial. *Ann.Trop.Med.Parasitol.* 90: 507-513, 1996.
- Abuladze, N., I. Lee, D. Newman, J. Hwang, K. Boorer, A. Pushkin, and I. Kurtz. Molecular cloning, chromosomal localization, tissue distribution, and functional expression of the human pancreatic sodium bicarbonate cotransporter. *J.Biol.Chem.* 273: 17689-17695, 1998.
- Alper, S. L., H. Rossmann, S. Wilhelm, A. K. Stuart-Tilley, B. E. Shmukler, and U. Seidler. Expression of AE2 anion exchanger in mouse intestine. *Am.J.Physiol.* 277: G321-G332, 1999.
- Altmann, S. W., H. R. Davis, Jr., L. J. Zhu, X. Yao, L. M. Hoos, G. Tetzloff, S. P. Iyer, M. Maguire, A. Golovko, M. Zeng, L. Wang, N. Murgolo, and M. P. Graziano. Niemann-Pick C1 Like 1 protein is critical for intestinal cholesterol absorption. *Science* 303: 1201-1204, 2004.
- 5. Andoh, A., T. Saotome, H. Sato, T. Tsujikawa, Y. Araki, Y. Fujiyama, and T. Bamba. Epithelial expression of caveolin-2, but not caveolin-1, is enhanced in the inflamed mucosa of patients with ulcerative colitis. *Inflamm.Bowel Dis.* 7: 210-214, 2001.
- 6. Atanassova, E., N. Kortezova, I. Lolova, and I. Petrov. Changes in the myoelectric complex of the stomach and the small intestine under the influence of the intrinsic nervous system. *Acta Physiol.Pharmacol.Bulg.* 6: 11-18, 1980.
- Bachmann, O., B. Riederer, H. Rossmann, S. Groos, P. J. Schultheis, G. E. Shull, M. Gregor, M. P. Manns, and U. Seidler. The Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger isoform 2 is the predominant NHE isoform in murine colonic crypts and its lack causes NHE3 upregulation. *Am.J.Physiol.Gastrointest.Liver Physiol.* 287: G125-G133, 2004.
- Bachmann, O., H. Rossmann, U. V. Berger, W. H. Colledge, R. Ratcliff, M. J. Evans, M. Gregor, and U. Seidler. cAMP-mediated regulation of murine intestinal/pancreatic Na⁺/HCO₃⁻ cotransporter subtype pNBC1. *Am.J.Physiol.Gastrointest.Liver Physiol.* 284: G37-G45, 2003.

- Bachmann, O., K. Wuchner, H. Rossmann, J. Leipziger, B. Osikowska, W. H. Colledge, R. Ratcliff, M. J. Evans, M. Gregor, and U. Seidler. Expression and regulation of the Na⁺-K⁺-2Cl⁻ cotransporter NKCC1 in the normal and CFTR-deficient murine colon. *J.Physiol.* 549: 525-536, 2003.
- Baldwin, S. A., P. R. Beal, S. Y. Yao, A. E. King, C. E. Cass, and J. D. Young. The equilibrative nucleoside transporter family, SLC29. *Pflugers Arch.* 447: 735-743, 2004.
- Baldwin, S. A., S. Y. Yao, R. J. Hyde, A. M. Ng, S. Foppolo, K. Barnes, M. W. Ritzel, C. E. Cass, and J. D. Young. Functional characterisation of novel human and mouse equilibrative nucleoside transporters (hENT3 and mENT3) located in intracellular membranes. *J.Biol.Chem.* 2005.
- Barbuti, A., B. Gravante, M. Riolfo, R. Milanesi, B. Terragni, and D. DiFrancesco. Localization of pacemaker channels in lipid rafts regulates channel kinetics. *Circ. Res.* 94: 1325-1331, 2004.
- 13. Barrett, K. E. Immune-related intestinal chloride secretion. III. Acute and chronic effects of mast cell mediators on chloride secretion by a human colonic epithelial cell line. *J.Immunol.* 147: 959-964, 1991.
- Barrett, K. E., J. A. Cohn, P. A. Huott, S. I. Wasserman, and K. Dharmsathaphorn. Immune-related intestinal chloride secretion. II. Effect of adenosine on T84 cell line. *Am.J.Physiol.* 258: C902-C912, 1990.
- Barrett, K. E., P. A. Huott, S. S. Shah, K. Dharmsathaphorn, and S. I. Wasserman. Differing effects of apical and basolateral adenosine on colonic epithelial cell line T₈₄. Am.J.Physiol. 256: C197-C203, 1989.
- 16. Barrett, K. E. and S. J. Keely. Chloride secretion by the intestinal epithelium: molecular basis and regulatory aspects. *Annu. Rev. Physiol.* 62: 535-572, 2000.
- Bender, F. C., M. A. Reymond, C. Bron, and A. F. Quest. Caveolin-1 levels are down-regulated in human colon tumors, and ectopic expression of caveolin-1 in colon carcinoma cell lines reduces cell tumorigenicity. *Cancer Res.* 60: 5870-5878, 2000.

- 18. Bijlsma, P. B., R. Bakker, and J. A. Groot. The chloride conductance of tight junctions of rat ileum can be increased by cAMP but not by carbachol. *J.Membr.Biol.* 157: 127-137, 1997.
- 19. Binder, H. J., F. McGlone, and G. I. Sandle. Effects of corticosteroid hormones on the electrophysiology of rat distal colon: implications for Na⁺ and K⁺ transport. *J.Physiol.* 410: 425-441, 1989.
- Binder, H. J., S. K. Singh, J. P. Geibel, and V. M. Rajendran. Novel transport properties of colonic crypt cells: fluid absorption and Cl-dependent Na-H exchange. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Physiol.* 118: 265-269, 1997.
- 21. Bist, A., P. E. Fielding, and C. J. Fielding. Two sterol regulatory element-like sequences mediate up-regulation of caveolin gene transcription in response to low density lipoprotein free cholesterol. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 94: 10693-10698, 1997.
- Bleich, M., N. Riedemann, R. Warth, D. Kerstan, J. Leipziger, M. Hor, W. V. Driessche, and R. Greger. Ca²⁺ regulated K⁺ and non-selective cation channels in the basolateral membrane of rat colonic crypt base cells. *Pflugers Arch.* 432: 1011-1022, 1996.
- 23. Bock, J., I. Szabo, N. Gamper, C. Adams, and E. Gulbins. Ceramide inhibits the potassium channel Kv1.3 by the formation of membrane platforms. *Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun.* 305: 890-897, 2003.
- 24. Boesze-Battaglia, K. and A. D. Albert. Cholesterol modulation of photoreceptor function in bovine retinal rod outer segments. *J.Biol.Chem.* 265: 20727-20730, 1990.
- 25. Bolotina, V., V. Omelyanenko, B. Heyes, U. Ryan, and P. Bregestovski. Variations of membrane cholesterol alter the kinetics of Ca²⁺-dependent K⁺ channels and membrane fluidity in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Pflugers Arch.* 415: 262-268, 1989.
- 26. Bone, H., S. Eckholdt, and N. A. Williams. Modulation of B lymphocyte signalling by the B subunit of *Escherichia coli* heat-labile enterotoxin. *Int.Immunol.* 14: 647-658, 2002.

- 27. Bonilha, V. L., A. D. Marmorstein, L. Cohen-Gould, and E. Rodriguez-Boulan. Apical sorting of influenza hemagglutinin by transcytosis in retinal pigment epithelium. *J.Cell Sci.* 110 (Pt 15): 1717-1727, 1997.
- Bookstein, C., A. M. DePaoli, Y. Xie, P. Niu, M. W. Musch, M. C. Rao, and E. B. Chang. Na⁺/H⁺ exchangers, NHE-1 and NHE-3, of rat intestine. Expression and localization. *J. Clin. Invest.* 93: 106-113, 1994.
- 29. Bookstein, C., Y. Xie, K. Rabenau, M. W. Musch, R. L. McSwine, M. C. Rao, and E. B. Chang. Tissue distribution of Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger isoforms NHE2 and NHE4 in rat intestine and kidney. *Am.J.Physiol.* 273: C1496-C1505, 1997.
- 30. Boucher, R. C., M. J. Stutts, M. R. Knowles, L. Cantley, and J. T. Gatzy. Na+ transport in cystic fibrosis respiratory epithelia. Abnormal basal rate and response to adenylate cyclase activation. *J.Clin.Invest.* 78: 1245-1252, 1986.
- 31. Bouritius, H., R. B. Bajnath, and J. A. Groot. Microelectrode measurements of the effects of basolateral adenosine in polarized human intestinal epithelial cells in culture. *Pflugers Arch.* 437: 589-595, 1999.
- 32. Bradbury, N. A., J. A. Clark, S. C. Watkins, C. C. Widnell, H. S. Smith, and R. J. Bridges. Characterization of the internalization pathways for the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator. *Am.J.Physiol.* 276: L659-L668, 1999.
- Brady, J. D., T. C. Rich, X. Le, K. Stafford, C. J. Fowler, L. Lynch, J. W. Karpen, R. L. Brown, and J. R. Martens. Functional role of lipid raft microdomains in cyclic nucleotide-gated channel activation. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 65: 503-511, 2004.
- 34. Brasitus, T. A., R. Dahiya, P. K. Dudeja, and B. M. Bissonnette. Cholesterol modulates alkaline phosphatase activity of rat intestinal microvillus membranes. *J.Biol.Chem.* 263: 8592-8597, 1988.
- 35. Bravo-Zehnder, M., P. Orio, A. Norambuena, M. Wallner, P. Meera, L. Toro, R. Latorre, and A. Gonzalez. Apical sorting of a voltage- and Ca²⁺-activated K⁺ channel alpha -subunit in Madin-Darby canine kidney cells is independent of N-glycosylation. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 97: 13114-13119, 2000.
- 36. Brown, D. A. and J. K. Rose. Sorting of GPI-anchored proteins to glycolipidenriched membrane subdomains during transport to the apical cell surface. *Cell* 68: 533-544, 1992.

- 37. Burckhardt, B. C. and H. Gogelein. Small and maxi K⁺ channels in the basolateral membrane of isolated crypts from rat distal colon: single-channel and slow whole-cell recordings. *Pflugers Arch.* 420: 54-60, 1992.
- Burgermeister, E., L. Tencer, and M. Liscovitch. Peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor-gamma upregulates caveolin-1 and caveolin-2 expression in human carcinoma cells. *Oncogene* 22: 3888-3900, 2003.
- Burnett, D. A., M. A. Caplen, H. R. Davis, Jr., R. E. Burrier, and J. W. Clader. 2-Azetidinones as inhibitors of cholesterol absorption. *J.Med.Chem.* 37: 1733-1736, 1994.Z
- Burnham, C. E., H. Amlal, Z. Wang, G. E. Shull, and M. Soleimani. Cloning and functional expression of a human kidney Na⁺:HCO₃⁻ cotransporter. *J.Biol.Chem.* 272: 19111-19114, 1997.
- Burnham, C. E., M. Flagella, Z. Wang, H. Amlal, G. E. Shull, and M. Soleimani. Cloning, renal distribution, and regulation of the rat Na⁺-HCO₃⁻ cotransporter. *Am.J.Physiol.* 274: F1119-F1126, 1998.
- 42. Butterfield, I., G. Warhurst, M. N. Jones, and G. I. Sandle. Characterization of apical potassium channels induced in rat distal colon during potassium adaptation. *J.Physiol.* 501 (Pt 3): 537-547, 1997.
- 43. Canessa, C. M., J. D. Horisberger, and B. C. Rossier. Epithelial sodium channel related to proteins involved in neurodegeneration. *Nature* 361: 467-470, 1993.
- Canessa, C. M., L. Schild, G. Buell, B. Thorens, I. Gautschi, J. D. Horisberger, and B. C. Rossier. Amiloride-sensitive epithelial Na⁺ channel is made of three homologous subunits. *Nature* 367: 463-467, 1994.
- 45. Cantin, B., L. D. Brun, C. Gagne, M. R. Murthy, P. J. Lupien, and P. Julien. Alterations in erythrocyte membrane lipid composition and fluidity in primary lipoprotein lipase deficiency. *Biochim.Biophys.Acta* 1139: 25-31, 1992.
- 46. Carstea, E. D., J. A. Morris, K. G. Coleman, S. K. Loftus, D. Zhang, C. Cummings, J. Gu, M. A. Rosenfeld, W. J. Pavan, D. B. Krizman, J. Nagle, M. H. Polymeropoulos, S. L. Sturley, Y. A. Ioannou, M. E. Higgins, M. Comly, A. Cooney, A. Brown, C. R. Kaneski, E. J. Blanchette-Mackie, N. K. Dwyer, E. B. Neufeld, T. Y. Chang, L. Liscum, J. F. Strauss III, K. Ohno, M. Zeigler, R. Carmi,

J. Sokol, D. Markie, R. R. O'Neill, O. P. van Diggelen, M. Elleder, M. C. Patterson, R. O. Brady, M. T. Vanier, P. G. Pentchev, and D. A. Tagle. Niemann-Pick C1 disease gene: homology to mediators of cholesterol homeostasis. *Science* 277: 228-231, 1997.

- Catalan, M., I. Cornejo, C. D. Figueroa, M. I. Niemeyer, F. V. Sepulveda, and L. P. Cid. ClC-2 in guinea pig colon: mRNA, immunolabeling, and functional evidence for surface epithelium localization. *Am.J.Physiol.Gastrointest.Liver Physiol.* 283: G1004-G1013, 2002.
- 48. Catalan, M., M. I. Niemeyer, L. P. Cid, and F. V. Sepulveda. Basolateral CIC-2 chloride channels in surface colon epithelium: regulation by a direct effect of intracellular chloride. *Gastroenterology* 126: 1104-1114, 2004.
- 49. Cermak, R., C. Lawnitzak, and E. Scharrer. Influence of ammonia on sodium absorption in rat proximal colon. *Pflugers Arch.* 440: 619-626, 2000.
- 50. Chang, W. W. and C. P. Leblond. Renewal of the epithelium in the descending colon of the mouse. I. Presence of three cell populations: vacuolated-columnar, mucous and argentaffin. *Am.J.Anat.* 131: 73-99, 1971.
- Chappe, V., D. A. Hinkson, L. D. Howell, A. Evagelidis, J. Liao, X. B. Chang, J. R. Riordan, and J. W. Hanrahan. Stimulatory and inhibitory protein kinase C consensus sequences regulate the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 101: 390-395, 2004.
- 52. Chatterjee, S. Neutral sphingomyelinase increases the binding, internalization, and degradation of low density lipoproteins and synthesis of cholesteryl ester in cultured human fibroblasts. *J.Biol.Chem.* 268: 3401-3406, 1993.
- 53. Cheng, H. and M. Bjerknes. Whole population cell kinetics of mouse duodenal, jejunal, ileal, and colonic epithelia as determined by radioautography and flow cytometry. *Anat.Rec.* 203: 251-264, 1982.
- 54. Cheng, H. and M. Bjerknes. Whole population cell kinetics and postnatal development of the mouse intestinal epithelium. *Anat. Rec.* 211: 420-426, 1985.
- 55. Cheng, S. H., D. P. Rich, J. Marshall, R. J. Gregory, M. J. Welsh, and A. E. Smith. Phosphorylation of the R domain by cAMP-dependent protein kinase regulates the CFTR chloride channel. *Cell* 66: 1027-1036, 1991.

- Chu, J., S. Chu, and M. H. Montrose. Apical Na⁺/H⁺ exchange near the base of mouse colonic crypts. *Am.J.Physiol.Cell Physiol.* 283: C358-C372, 2002.
- Clarke, L. L., B. R. Grubb, J. R. Yankaskas, C. U. Cotton, A. McKenzie, and R. C. Boucher. Relationship of a non-cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator-mediated chloride conductance to organ-level disease in Cftr(-/-) mice. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 91: 479-483, 1994.
- 58. Clauss, W., H. Schafer, I. Horch, and H. Hornicke. Segmental differences in electrical properties and Na-transport of rabbit caecum, proximal and distal colon in vitro. *Pflugers Arch.* 403: 278-282, 1985.
- Colledge, W. H., B. S. Abella, K. W. Southern, R. Ratcliff, C. Jiang, S. H. Cheng, L. J. MacVinish, J. R. Anderson, A. W. Cuthbert, and M. J. Evans. Generation and characterization of a ΔF508 cystic fibrosis mouse model. *Nat.Genet.* 10: 445-452, 1995.
- 60. Conneely, O. M., J. M. Greene, D. R. Headon, J. Hsiao, and F. Ungar. Distribution of membrane cholesterol of adrenal cortical cells after corticotropin stimulation. *Biochem.J.* 214: 561-567, 1983.
- 61. Cooke, H. J. Influence of enteric cholinergic neurons on mucosal transport in guinea pig ileum. Am.J. Physiol. 246: G263-G267, 1984.
- 62. Cooke, H. J. "Enteric Tears": Chloride Secretion and Its Neural Regulation. *News Physiol.Sci.* 13: 269-274, 1998.
- 63. Crane, J. K., R. A. Olson, H. M. Jones, and M. E. Duffey. Release of ATP during host cell killing by enteropathogenic *E. coli* and its role as a secretory mediator. *Am.J.Physiol.Gastrointest.Liver Physiol.* 283: G74-G86, 2002.
- 64. Cuthbert, A. W., J. Halstead, R. Ratcliff, W. H. Colledge, and M. J. Evans. The genetic advantage hypothesis in cystic fibrosis heterozygotes: a murine study. *J.Physiol.* 482 (Pt 2): 449-454, 1995.
- D'Andrea, L., C. Lytle, J. B. Matthews, P. Hofman, B. Forbush, III, and J. L. Madara. Na:K:2Cl cotransporter (NKCC) of intestinal epithelial cells. Surface expression in response to cAMP. *J.Biol.Chem.* 271: 28969-28976, 1996.

- 66. Dallas, W. S. and S. Falkow. Amino acid sequence homology between cholera toxin and *Escherichia coli* heat-labile toxin. *Nature* 288: 499-501, 1980.
- 67. Darko, S. K., N. D. Palmerley, and D. E. Burleigh. Inhibition of potassium (K_{ATP}) channels reduces the short-circuit current response of rat colonic mucosa to acetylcholine. *J.Pharm.Pharmacol.* 49: 985-987, 1997.
- 68. Davies, J. P. and Y. A. Ioannou. Topological analysis of Niemann-Pick C1 protein reveals that the membrane orientation of the putative sterol-sensing domain is identical to those of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA reductase and sterol regulatory element binding protein cleavage-activating protein. *J.Biol.Chem.* 275: 24367-24374, 2000.
- 69. Davies, J. P., B. Levy, and Y. A. Ioannou. Evidence for a Niemann-pick C (NPC) gene family: identification and characterization of NPC1L1. *Genomics* 65: 137-145, 2000.
- 70. DE, S. N. Enterotoxicity of bacteria-free culture-filtrate of *Vibrio cholerae*. *Nature* 183: 1533-1534, 1959.
- 71. Debongnie, J. C. and S. F. Phillips. Capacity of the human colon to absorb fluid. *Gastroenterology* 74: 698-703, 1978.
- 72. Del Castillo, J. R., V. M. Rajendran, and H. J. Binder. Apical membrane localization of ouabain-sensitive K⁺-activated ATPase activities in rat distal colon. *Am.J.Physiol.* 261: G1005-G1011, 1991.
- Delaney, S. J., E. W. Alton, S. N. Smith, D. P. Lunn, R. Farley, P. K. Lovelock, S. A. Thomson, D. A. Hume, D. Lamb, D. J. Porteous, J. R. Dorin, and B. J. Wainwright. Cystic fibrosis mice carrying the missense mutation G551D replicate human genotype-phenotype correlations. *EMBO J.* 15: 955-963, 1996.
- Delling, M., E. Wischmeyer, A. Dityatev, V. Sytnyk, R. W. Veh, A. Karschin, and M. Schachner. The neural cell adhesion molecule regulates cell-surface delivery of G-protein-activated inwardly rectifying potassium channels via lipid rafts. *J.Neurosci.* 22: 7154-7164, 2002.
- 75. Detmers, P. A., S. Patel, M. Hernandez, J. Montenegro, J. M. Lisnock, B. Pikounis, M. Steiner, D. Kim, C. Sparrow, Y. S. Chao, and S. D. Wright. A target

for cholesterol absorption inhibitors in the enterocyte brush border membrane. *Biochim.Biophys.Acta* 1486: 243-252, 2000.

- 76. Devor, D. C., A. K. Singh, A. C. Gerlach, R. A. Frizzell, and R. J. Bridges. Inhibition of intestinal Cl⁻ secretion by clotrimazole: direct effect on basolateral membrane K⁺ channels. *Am.J.Physiol.* 273: C531-C540, 1997.
- Diener, M., M. Nobles, and W. Rummel. Activation of basolateral Cl⁻ channels in the rat colonic epithelium during regulatory volume decrease. *Pflugers Arch.* 421: 530-538, 1992.
- Diener, M., W. Rummel, P. Mestres, and B. Lindemann. Single chloride channels in colon mucosa and isolated colonic enterocytes of the rat. *J.Membr.Biol.* 108: 21-30, 1989.
- 79. Dietrich, C., B. Yang, T. Fujiwara, A. Kusumi, and K. Jacobson. Relationship of lipid rafts to transient confinement zones detected by single particle tracking. *Biophys.J.* 82: 274-284, 2002.
- Dodd, J. and L. W. Role. The Autonomic Nervous System and the Hypothalamus. In Kandel, E. R., J. H. Schwartz, and T. M. Jessell, eds. Principles of Neural Science. McGraw-Hill Companies. 2000, 960-965.
- 81. Dodge, J. A. Male fertility in cystic fibrosis. Lancet 346: 587-588, 1995.
- Dorin, J. R., P. Dickinson, E. W. Alton, S. N. Smith, D. M. Geddes, B. J. Stevenson, W. L. Kimber, S. Fleming, A. R. Clarke, M. L. Hooper, L. Anderson, R. S. P. Beddington, and D. J. Porteous. Cystic fibrosis in the mouse by targeted insertional mutagenesis. *Nature* 359: 211-215, 1992.
- Dorin, J. R., B. J. Stevenson, S. Fleming, E. W. Alton, P. Dickinson, and D. J. Porteous. Long-term survival of the exon 10 insertional cystic fibrosis mutant mouse is a consequence of low level residual wild-type Cftr gene expression. *Mamm.Genome* 5: 465-472, 1994.
- Doyle, D. A., C. J. Morais, R. A. Pfuetzner, A. Kuo, J. M. Gulbis, S. L. Cohen, B. T. Chait, and R. MacKinnon. The structure of the potassium channel: molecular basis of K⁺ conduction and selectivity. *Science* 280: 69-77, 1998.

- Drab, M., P. Verkade, M. Elger, M. Kasper, M. Lohn, B. Lauterbach, J. Menne, C. Lindschau, F. Mende, F. C. Luft, A. Schedl, H. Haller, and T. V. Kurzchalia. Loss of caveolae, vascular dysfunction, and pulmonary defects in caveolin-1 gene-disrupted mice. *Science* 293: 2449-2452, 2001.
- 86. Dray, X., T. Bienvenu, N. Desmazes-Dufeu, D. Dusser, P. Marteau, and D. Hubert. Distal intestinal obstruction syndrome in adults with cystic fibrosis. *Clin.Gastroenterol.Hepatol.* 2: 498-503, 2004.
- 87. Duc, C., N. Farman, C. M. Canessa, J. P. Bonvalet, and B. C. Rossier. Cellspecific expression of epithelial sodium channel α , β , and γ subunits in aldosterone-responsive epithelia from the rat: localization by in situ hybridization and immunocytochemistry. *J.Cell Biol.* 127: 1907-1921, 1994.
- Dudeja, P. K., E. S. Foster, R. Dahiya, and T. A. Brasitus. Modulation of Na⁺-H⁺ exchange by ethinyl estradiol in rat colonic brush-border membrane vesicles. *Biochim.Biophys.Acta* 899: 222-228, 1987.
- Dudeja, P. K., D. D. Rao, I. Syed, V. Joshi, R. Y. Dahdal, C. Gardner, M. C. Risk, L. Schmidt, D. Bavishi, K. E. Kim, J. M. Harig, J. L. Goldstein, T. J. Layden, and K. Ramaswamy. Intestinal distribution of human Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger isoforms NHE-1, NHE-2, and NHE-3 mRNA. *Am.J.Physiol.* 271: G483-G493, 1996.
- 90. Duncan, E. A., M. S. Brown, J. L. Goldstein, and J. Sakai. Cleavage site for sterol-regulated protease localized to a Leu-Ser bond in the lumenal loop of sterol regulatory element-binding protein-2. *J.Biol.Chem.* 272: 12778-12785, 1997.
- 91. Duszyk, M., L. MacVinish, and A. W. Cuthbert. Phenanthrolines a new class of CFTR chloride channel openers. *Br.J.Pharmacol.* 134: 853-864, 2001.
- 92. Dutzler, R., E. B. Campbell, M. Cadene, B. T. Chait, and R. MacKinnon. X-ray structure of a ClC chloride channel at 3.0 Å reveals the molecular basis of anion selectivity. *Nature* 415: 287-294, 2002.
- Eckman, E. A., C. U. Cotton, D. M. Kube, and P. B. Davis. Dietary changes improve survival of CFTR S489X homozygous mutant mouse. *Am.J. Physiol.* 269: L625-L630, 1995.
- 94. Empig, C. J. and M. A. Goldsmith. Association of the caveola vesicular system with cellular entry by filoviruses. *J. Virol.* 76: 5266-5270, 2002.
- 95. Ericsson, J., S. M. Jackson, B. C. Lee, and P. A. Edwards. Sterol regulatory element binding protein binds to a cis element in the promoter of the farnesyl diphosphate synthase gene. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 93: 945-950, 1996.
- 96. Fan, Y. Y., D. N. McMurray, L. H. Ly, and R. S. Chapkin. Dietary (n-3) polyunsaturated fatty acids remodel mouse T-cell lipid rafts. *J.Nutr.* 133: 1913-1920, 2003.
- 97. Farrell, P. M. Improving the health of patients with cystic fibrosis through newborn screening. Wisconsin Cystic Fibrosis Neonatal Screening Study Group. *Adv.Pediatr.* 47: 79-115, 2000.
- Fasano, A., C. Fiorentini, G. Donelli, S. Uzzau, J. B. Kaper, K. Margaretten, X. Ding, S. Guandalini, L. Comstock, and S. E. Goldblum. Zonula occludens toxin modulates tight junctions through protein kinase C-dependent actin reorganization, *in vitro*. J.Clin.Invest. 96: 710-720, 1995.
- 99. Fiedler, K., R. G. Parton, R. Kellner, T. Etzold, and K. Simons. VIP36, a novel component of glycolipid rafts and exocytic carrier vesicles in epithelial cells. *EMBO J.* 13: 1729-1740, 1994.
- 100. Field, F. J., E. Born, S. Murthy, and S. N. Mathur. Caveolin is present in intestinal cells: role in cholesterol trafficking? *J.Lipid Res.* 39: 1938-1950, 1998.
- Fielding, C. J., A. Bist, and P. E. Fielding. Caveolin mRNA levels are upregulated by free cholesterol and down-regulated by oxysterols in fibroblast monolayers. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 94: 3753-3758, 1997.
- 102. Fielding, P. E. and C. J. Fielding. Plasma membrane caveolae mediate the efflux of cellular free cholesterol. *Biochemistry* 34: 14288-14292, 1995.
- 103. Folco, E. J., G. X. Liu, and G. Koren. Caveolin-3 and SAP97 form a scaffolding protein complex that regulates the voltage-gated potassium channel Kv1.5. *Am.J.Physiol.Heart Circ.Physiol.* 287: H681-H690, 2004.
- 104. Fong, L. G., E. Bonney, J. C. Kosek, and A. D. Cooper. Immunohistochemical localization of low density lipoprotein receptors in adrenal gland, liver, and intestine. *J. Clin. Invest.* 84: 847-856, 1989.

- 105. Fra, A. M., E. Williamson, K. Simons, and R. G. Parton. Detergent-insoluble glycolipid microdomains in lymphocytes in the absence of caveolae. J.Biol.Chem. 269: 30745-30748, 1994.
- 106. Francis, G. A., R. H. Knopp, and J. F. Oram. Defective removal of cellular cholesterol and phospholipids by apolipoprotein A-I in Tangier Disease. *J.Clin.Invest.* 96: 78-87, 1995.
- 107. Frings, M., G. Schultheiss, and M. Diener. Electrogenic Ca²⁺ entry in the rat colonic epithelium. *Pflugers Arch.* 439: 39-48, 1999.
- Fujimoto, K., R. D. Beauchamp, and R. H. Whitehead. Identification and isolation of candidate human colonic clonogenic cells based on cell surface integrin expression. *Gastroenterology* 123: 1941-1948, 2002.
- Fuller, C. M., I. I. Ismailov, D. A. Keeton, and D. J. Benos. Phosphorylation and activation of a bovine tracheal anion channel by Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II. *J.Biol.Chem.* 269: 26642-26650, 1994.
- 110. Fuller, C. M., H. L. Ji, A. Tousson, R. C. Elble, B. U. Pauli, and D. J. Benos. Ca²⁺-activated Cl⁻ channels: a newly emerging anion transport family. *Pflugers Arch.* 443 (Suppl 1): S107-S110, 2001.
- 111. Furness, J. B., H. L. Robbins, I. S. Selmer, B. Hunne, M. X. Chen, G. A. Hicks, S. Moore, and C. B. Neylon. Expression of intermediate conductance potassium channel immunoreactivity in neurons and epithelial cells of the rat gastrointestinal tract. *Cell Tissue Res.* 314: 179-189, 2003.
- 112. Furuse, M., K. Fujita, T. Hiiragi, K. Fujimoto, and S. Tsukita. Claudin-1 and -2: novel integral membrane proteins localizing at tight junctions with no sequence similarity to occludin. *J.Cell Biol.* 141: 1539-1550, 1998.
- 113. Furuse, M., T. Hirase, M. Itoh, A. Nagafuchi, S. Yonemura, S. Tsukita, and S. Tsukita. Occludin: a novel integral membrane protein localizing at tight junctions. *J.Cell Biol.* 123: 1777-1788, 1993.
- 114. Gabriel, S. E., K. N. Brigman, B. H. Koller, R. C. Boucher, and M. J. Stutts. Cystic fibrosis heterozygote resistance to cholera toxin in the cystic fibrosis mouse model. *Science* 266: 107-109, 1994.

- 115. Gabriel, S. E., L. L. Clarke, R. C. Boucher, and M. J. Stutts. CFTR and outward rectifying chloride channels are distinct proteins with a regulatory relationship. *Nature* 363: 263-268, 1993.
- 116. Garner, M. J., R. D. Hayward, and V. Koronakis. The Salmonella pathogenicity island 1 secretion system directs cellular cholesterol redistribution during mammalian cell entry and intracellular trafficking. Cell.Microbiol. 4: 153-165, 2002.
- 117. Gatfield, J. and J. Pieters. Essential role for cholesterol in entry of mycobacteria into macrophages. *Science* 288: 1647-1650, 2000.
- 118. Gaus, K., L. Kritharides, G. Schmitz, A. Boettcher, W. Drobnik, T. Langmann, C. M. Quinn, A. Death, R. T. Dean, and W. Jessup. Apolipoprotein A-1 interaction with plasma membrane lipid rafts controls cholesterol export from macrophages. *FASEB J.* 18: 574-576, 2004.
- 119. Gawenis, L. R., X. Stien, G. E. Shull, P. J. Schultheis, A. L. Woo, N. M. Walker, and L. L. Clarke. Intestinal NaCl transport in NHE2 and NHE3 knockout mice. *Am.J.Physiol.Gastrointest.Liver Physiol.* 282: G776-G784, 2002.
- 120. Ghetie, M. A., R. Marches, S. Kufert, and E. S. Vitetta. An anti-CD19 antibody inhibits the interaction between P-glycoprotein (P-gp) and CD19, causes P-gp to translocate out of lipid rafts, and chemosensitizes a multidrug-resistant (MDR) lymphoma cell line. *Blood* 104: 178-183, 2004.
- 121. Gimpl, G., K. Burger, and F. Fahrenholz. Cholesterol as modulator of receptor function. *Biochemistry* 36: 10959-10974, 1997.
- 122. Gitter, A. H., K. Bendfeldt, J. D. Schulzke, and M. Fromm. Trans/paracellular, surface/crypt, and epithelial/subepithelial resistances of mammalian colonic epithelia. *Pflugers Arch.* 439: 477-482, 2000.
- 123. Gleason, M. M., M. S. Medow, and T. N. Tulenko. Excess membrane cholesterol alters calcium movements, cytosolic calcium levels, and membrane fluidity in arterial smooth muscle cells. *Circ.Res.* 69: 216-227, 1991.
- 124. Gomez-Mouton, C., J. L. Abad, E. Mira, R. A. Lacalle, E. Gallardo, S. Jimenez-Baranda, I. Illa, A. Bernad, S. Manes, and A. Martinez. Segregation of leading-

edge and uropod components into specific lipid rafts during T cell polarization. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 98: 9642-9647, 2001.

- 125. Grasl, M. and K. Turnheim. Stimulation of electrolyte secretion in rabbit colon by adenosine. *J.Physiol.* 346: 93-110, 1984.
- 126. Grassme, H., V. Jendrossek, A. Riehle, G. von Kurthy, J. Berger, H. Schwarz, M. Weller, R. Kolesnick, and E. Gulbins. Host defense against *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* requires ceramide-rich membrane rafts. *Nat. Med.* 9: 322-330, 2003.
- 127. Gray, J. H., R. P. Owen, and K. M. Giacomini. The concentrative nucleoside transporter family, SLC28. *Pflugers Arch.* 447: 728-734, 2004.
- 128. Grubb, B. R. and S. E. Gabriel. Intestinal physiology and pathology in genetargeted mouse models of cystic fibrosis. *Am.J.Physiol.* 273: G258-G266, 1997.
- 129. Grubb, B. R., E. Lee, A. J. Pace, B. H. Koller, and R. C. Boucher. Intestinal ion transport in NKCC1-deficient mice. *Am.J.Physiol.Gastrointest.Liver Physiol.* 279: G707-G718, 2000.
- Grubb, B. R., R. N. Vick, and R. C. Boucher. Hyperabsorption of Na⁺ and raised Ca²⁺-mediated Cl⁻ secretion in nasal epithelia of CF mice. *Am.J.Physiol.* 266: C1478-C1483, 1994.
- 131. Gruber, A. D., R. Gandhi, and B. U. Pauli. The murine calcium-sensitive chloride channel (mCaCC) is widely expressed in secretory epithelia and in other select tissues. *Histochem.Cell Biol.* 110: 43-49, 1998.
- Grundy, S. M. Absorption and metabolism of dietary cholesterol. *Annu.Rev.Nutr.* 3: 71-96, 1983.
- 133. Grunnet, M., H. B. Rasmussen, A. Hay-Schmidt, and D. A. Klaerke. The voltagegated potassium channel subunit, Kv1.3, is expressed in epithelia. *Biochim.Biophys.Acta* 1616: 85-94, 2003.
- Guan, G., G. Jiang, R. L. Koch, and I. Shechter. Molecular cloning and functional analysis of the promoter of the human squalene synthase gene. *J.Biol.Chem.* 270: 21958-21965, 1995.

- 135. Gupta, A. K. and H. Rudney. Plasma membrane sphingomyelin and the regulation of HMG-CoA reductase activity and cholesterol biosynthesis in cell cultures. *J.Lipid Res.* 32: 125-136, 1991.
- 136. Gyomorey, K., E. Garami, K. Galley, J. M. Rommens, and C. E. Bear. Non-CFTR chloride channels likely contribute to secretion in the murine small intestine. *Pflugers Arch.* 443 Suppl 1: S103-S106, 2001.
- 137. Gyomorey, K., H. Yeger, C. Ackerley, E. Garami, and C. E. Bear. Expression of the chloride channel ClC-2 in the murine small intestine epithelium. *Am.J.Physiol.Cell Physiol.* 279: C1787-C1794, 2000.
- 138. Haas, M. and B. Forbush, III. The Na-K-Cl cotransporter of secretory epithelia. Annu.Rev.Physiol. 62: 515-534, 2000.
- 139. Hadorn, B., G. Zoppi, D. H. Shmerling, A. Prader, I. McIntyre, and C. M. Anderson. Quantitative assessment of exocrine pancreatic function in infants and children. *J.Pediatr.* 73: 39-50, 1968.
- 140. Halm, D. R. and S. T. Halm. Secretagogue response of goblet cells and columnar cells in human colonic crypts. *Am.J.Physiol.Cell Physiol.* 278: C212-C233, 2000.
- 141. Hamilton, S. R., S. Y. Yao, J. C. Ingram, D. A. Hadden, M. W. Ritzel, M. P. Gallagher, P. J. Henderson, C. E. Cass, J. D. Young, and S. A. Baldwin. Subcellular distribution and membrane topology of the mammalian concentrative Na⁺-nucleoside cotransporter rCNT1. *J.Biol.Chem.* 276: 27981-27988, 2001.
- 142. Hamosh, A., T. M. King, B. J. Rosenstein, M. Corey, H. Levison, P. Durie, L. C. Tsui, I. McIntosh, M. Keston, D. J. Brock, and . Cystic fibrosis patients bearing both the common missense mutation Gly to Asp at codon 551 and the Δ F508 mutation are clinically indistinguishable from Δ F508 homozygotes, except for decreased risk of meconium ileus. *Am.J.Hum.Genet.* 51: 245-250, 1992.
- 143. Hanein, D., K. E. Matlack, B. Jungnickel, K. Plath, K. U. Kalies, K. R. Miller, T. A. Rapoport, and C. W. Akey. Oligomeric rings of the Sec61p complex induced by ligands required for protein translocation. *Cell* 87: 721-732, 1996.
- 144. Hansen, G. H., L. L. Niels-Christiansen, E. Thorsen, L. Immerdal, and E. M. Danielsen. Cholesterol depletion of enterocytes. Effect on the Golgi complex and apical membrane trafficking. *J.Biol.Chem.* 275: 5136-5142, 2000.

- 145. Hardcastle, J., P. T. Hardcastle, C. J. Taylor, and J. Goldhill. Failure of cholinergic stimulation to induce a secretory response from the rectal mucosa in cystic fibrosis. *Gut* 32: 1035-1039, 1991.
- 146. Hazes, B. and R. J. Read. Accumulating evidence suggests that several AB-toxins subvert the endoplasmic reticulum-associated protein degradation pathway to enter target cells. *Biochemistry* 36: 11051-11054, 1997.
- 147. Hernandez, M., J. Montenegro, M. Steiner, D. Kim, C. Sparrow, P. A. Detmers, S. D. Wright, and Y. S. Chao. Intestinal absorption of cholesterol is mediated by a saturable, inhibitable transporter. *Biochim.Biophys.Acta* 1486: 232-242, 2000.
- 148. Hill, W. G., B. An, and J. P. Johnson. Endogenously expressed epithelial sodium channel is present in lipid rafts in A6 cells. *J.Biol.Chem.* 277: 33541-33544, 2002.
- 149. Hogenauer, C., C. A. Santa Ana, J. L. Porter, M. Millard, A. Gelfand, R. L. Rosenblatt, C. B. Prestidge, and J. S. Fordtran. Active intestinal chloride secretion in human carriers of cystic fibrosis mutations: an evaluation of the hypothesis that heterozygotes have subnormal active intestinal chloride secretion. *Am.J.Hum.Genet.* 67: 1422-1427, 2000.
- 150. Hoglund, P., S. Haila, J. Socha, L. Tomaszewski, U. Saarialho-Kere, M. L. Karjalainen-Lindsberg, K. Airola, C. Holmberg, A. de la Chapelle, and J. Kere. Mutations of the Down-regulated in adenoma (DRA) gene cause congenital chloride diarrhoea. *Nat. Genet.* 14: 316-319, 1996.
- 151. Holliday, N. D., I. R. Tough, and H. M. Cox. Inhibition of cyclic AMP-dependent chloride secretion by PP receptors and α₂-adrenoceptors in a human colonic epithelial cell line. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch.Pharmacol.* 355: 183-189, 1997.
- 152. Holmgren, J., I. Lonnroth, J. Mansson, and L. Svennerholm. Interaction of cholera toxin and membrane GM1 ganglioside of small intestine. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 72: 2520-2524, 1975.
- 153. Holsclaw, D. S., C. Rocmans, and H. Shwachman. Intussusception in patients with cystic fibrosis. *Pediatrics* 48: 51-58, 1971.
- 154. Hoogerwerf, W. A., S. C. Tsao, O. Devuyst, S. A. Levine, C. H. Yun, J. W. Yip, M. E. Cohen, P. D. Wilson, A. J. Lazenby, C. M. Tse, and M. Donowitz. NHE2

and NHE3 are human and rabbit intestinal brush-border proteins. Am.J.Physiol. 270: G29-G41, 1996.

- Hua, X., A. Nohturfft, J. L. Goldstein, and M. S. Brown. Sterol resistance in CHO cells traced to point mutation in SREBP cleavage-activating protein. *Cell* 87: 415-426, 1996.
- 156. Hua, X., C. Yokoyama, J. Wu, M. R. Briggs, M. S. Brown, J. L. Goldstein, and X. Wang. SREBP-2, a second basic-helix-loop-helix-leucine zipper protein that stimulates transcription by binding to a sterol regulatory element. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 90: 11603-11607, 1993.
- 157. Huang, Y. and P. Y. Wong. Inhibitory effect of ATP-sensitive K⁺ channel regulators on forskolin-stimulated short-circuit current across the isolated mucosa of the rat colon. *J.Cell Physiol.* 168: 678-683, 1996.
- 158. Ichinose, Y., T. Tsuji, M. Ehara, A. Miyama, and T. Naito. The protease from Vibrio cholerae nicks arginine at position 192 from the N-terminus of the heatlabile enterotoxin a subunit from enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli. Eur.J.Epidemiol. 8: 743-747, 1992.
- 159. Igarashi, P., G. B. Vanden Heuvel, J. A. Payne, and B. Forbush, III. Cloning, embryonic expression, and alternative splicing of a murine kidney-specific Na-K-Cl cotransporter. *Am.J.Physiol.* 269: F405-F418, 1995.
- 160. Ingraham, R. C. and M. B. Visscher. Further studies on intestinal absorption with the performance of osmotic work. *Am.J.Physiol.* 121: 765-770, 1938.
- Javed, N. H. and H. J. Cooke. Acetylcholine release from colonic submucous neurons associated with chloride secretion in the guinea pig. *Am.J.Physiol.* 262: G131-G136, 1992.
- Jentsch, T. J., M. Poet, J. C. Fuhrmann, and A. A. Zdebik. Physiological functions of CLC Cl⁻ channels gleaned from human genetic disease and mouse models. *Annu.Rev.Physiol.* 67: 779-807, 2005.
- 163. Jentsch, T. J., K. Steinmeyer, and G. Schwarz. Primary structure of *Torpedo* marmorata chloride channel isolated by expression cloning in *Xenopus* oocytes. *Nature* 348: 510-514, 1990.

- 164. Joiner, W. J., S. Basavappa, S. Vidyasagar, K. Nehrke, S. Krishnan, H. J. Binder, E. L. Boulpaep, and V. M. Rajendran. Active K⁺ secretion through multiple K_{Ca}type channels and regulation by IK_{Ca} channels in rat proximal colon. *Am.J.Physiol.Gastrointest.Liver Physiol.* 285: G185-G196, 2003.
- 165. Keller, P. and K. Simons. Cholesterol is required for surface transport of influenza virus hemagglutinin. *J.Cell Biol.* 140: 1357-1367, 1998.
- 166. Kent, G., M. Oliver, J. K. Foskett, H. Frndova, P. Durie, J. Forstner, G. G. Forstner, J. R. Riordan, D. Percy, and M. Buchwald. Phenotypic abnormalities in long-term surviving cystic fibrosis mice. *Pediatr.Res.* 40: 233-241, 1996.
- 167. Kim, K. M. and D. Shibata. Methylation reveals a niche: stem cell succession in human colon crypts. *Oncogene* 21: 5441-5449, 2002.
- 168. Kirchgessner, A. L. and M. D. Gershon. Projections of submucosal neurons to the myenteric plexus of the guinea pig intestine: *in vitro* tracing of microcircuits by retrograde and anterograde transport. *J.Comp.Neurol.* 277: 487-498, 1988.
- 169. Kirk, K. L., D. R. Halm, and D. C. Dawson. Active sodium transport by turtle colon via an electrogenic Na-K exchange pump. *Nature* 287: 237-239, 1980.
- Kockerling, A. and M. Fromm. Origin of cAMP-dependent Cl⁻ secretion from both crypts and surface epithelia of rat intestine. *Am.J.Physiol.* 264: C1294-C1301, 1993.
- Kockerling, A., D. Sorgenfrei, and M. Fromm. Electrogenic Na⁺ absorption of rat distal colon is confined to surface epithelium: a voltage-scanning study. *Am.J.Physiol.* 264: C1285-C1293, 1993.
- Koleske, A. J., D. Baltimore, and M. P. Lisanti. Reduction of caveolin and caveolae in oncogenically transformed cells. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 92: 1381-1385, 1995.
- 173. Kowalski, M. P. and G. B. Pier. Localization of cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator to lipid rafts of epithelial cells is required for *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*-induced cellular activation. *J.Immunol.* 172: 418-425, 2004.

- 174. Kramer, W., F. Girbig, D. Corsiero, K. Burger, F. Fahrenholz, C. Jung, and G. Muller. Intestinal cholesterol absorption: identification of different binding proteins for cholesterol and cholesterol absorption inhibitors in the enterocyte brush border membrane. *Biochim.Biophys.Acta* 1633: 13-26, 2003.
- 175. Kundu, A., R. T. Avalos, C. M. Sanderson, and D. P. Nayak. Transmembrane domain of influenza virus neuraminidase, a type II protein, possesses an apical sorting signal in polarized MDCK cells. J. Virol. 70: 6508-6515, 1996.
- 176. Kunzelmann, K., M. Hubner, R. Schreiber, R. Levy-Holzman, H. Garty, M. Bleich, R. Warth, M. Slavik, T. von Hahn, and R. Greger. Cloning and function of the rat colonic epithelial K⁺ channel KVLQT1. *J.Membr.Biol.* 179: 155-164, 2001.
- 177. Kuver, R., N. Ramesh, S. Lau, C. Savard, S. P. Lee, and W. R. Osborne. Constitutive mucin secretion linked to CFTR expression. *Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun.* 203: 1457-1462, 1994.
- 178. Lam, R. S., A. R. Shaw, and M. Duszyk. Membrane cholesterol content modulates activation of BK channels in colonic epithelia. *Biochim.Biophys.Acta* 1667: 241-248, 2004.
- Lange, Y., A. L. Molinaro, T. R. Chauncey, and T. L. Steck. On the mechanism of transfer of cholesterol between human erythrocytes and plasma. *J.Biol.Chem.* 258: 6920-6926, 1983.
- 180. Lange, Y. and B. V. Ramos. Analysis of the distribution of cholesterol in the intact cell. *J.Biol.Chem.* 258: 15130-15134, 1983.
- Lange, Y., V. M. Schmit, and J. R. Schreiber. Localization and movement of newly synthesized cholesterol in rat ovarian granulosa cells. *Endocrinology* 123: 81-86, 1988.
- 182. Lange, Y., M. H. Swaisgood, B. V. Ramos, and T. L. Steck. Plasma membranes contain half the phospholipid and 90% of the cholesterol and sphingomyelin in cultured human fibroblasts. *J.Biol.Chem.* 264: 3786-3793, 1989.
- 183. Lange, Y., J. Ye, M. Rigney, and T. L. Steck. Regulation of endoplasmic reticulum cholesterol by plasma membrane cholesterol. *J.Lipid Res.* 40: 2264-2270, 1999.

- Lasley, R. D., P. Narayan, A. Uittenbogaard, and E. J. Smart. Activated cardiac adenosine A₁ receptors translocate out of caveolae. *J.Biol.Chem.* 275: 4417-4421, 2000.
- Ledesma, M. D., K. Simons, and C. G. Dotti. Neuronal polarity: essential role of protein-lipid complexes in axonal sorting. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 95: 3966-3971, 1998.
- 186. Lee, J., V. M. Rajendran, A. S. Mann, M. Kashgarian, and H. J. Binder. Functional expression and segmental localization of rat colonic K-adenosine triphosphatase. *J. Clin. Invest.* 96: 2002-2008, 1995.
- 187. Lee, S. W., C. L. Reimer, P. Oh, D. B. Campbell, and J. E. Schnitzer. Tumor cell growth inhibition by caveolin re-expression in human breast cancer cells. *Oncogene* 16: 1391-1397, 1998.
- 188. Leitner, D. M., F. L. Brown, and K. R. Wilson. Regulation of protein mobility in cell membranes: a dynamic corral model. *Biophys.J.* 78: 125-135, 2000.
- 189. Lencer, W. I., C. Constable, S. Moe, P. A. Rufo, A. Wolf, M. G. Jobling, S. P. Ruston, J. L. Madara, R. K. Holmes, and T. R. Hirst. Proteolytic activation of cholera toxin and *Escherichia coli* labile toxin by entry into host epithelial cells. Signal transduction by a protease-resistant toxin variant. *J.Biol.Chem.* 272: 15562-15568, 1997.
- 190. Leppimaki, P., R. Kronqvist, and J. P. Slotte. The rate of sphingomyelin synthesis *de novo* is influenced by the level of cholesterol in cultured human skin fibroblasts. *Biochem.J.* 335 (Pt 2): 285-291, 1998.
- 191. Levitan, I., A. E. Christian, T. N. Tulenko, and G. H. Rothblat. Membrane cholesterol content modulates activation of volume-regulated anion current in bovine endothelial cells. *J.Gen.Physiol.* 115: 405-416, 2000.
- 192. Levy, E., D. Menard, I. Suc, E. Delvin, V. Marcil, L. Brissette, L. Thibault, and M. Bendayan. Ontogeny, immunolocalisation, distribution and function of SR-BI in the human intestine. *J. Cell Sci.* 117: 327-337, 2004.
- 193. Li, C., M. Ramjeesingh, E. Reyes, T. Jensen, X. Chang, J. M. Rommens, and C. E. Bear. The cystic fibrosis mutation (ΔF508) does not influence the chloride channel activity of CFTR. *Nat.Genet.* 3: 311-316, 1993.

- 194. Li, L., G. Yang, S. Ebara, T. Satoh, Y. Nasu, T. L. Timme, C. Ren, J. Wang, S. A. Tahir, and T. C. Thompson. Caveolin-1 mediates testosterone-stimulated survival/clonal growth and promotes metastatic activities in prostate cancer cells. *Cancer Res.* 61: 4386-4392, 2001.
- 195. Li, N., A. Mak, D. P. Richards, C. Naber, B. O. Keller, L. Li, and A. R. Shaw. Monocyte lipid rafts contain proteins implicated in vesicular trafficking and phagosome formation. *Proteomics* 3: 536-548, 2003.
- 196. Li, X., T. Galli, S. Leu, J. B. Wade, E. J. Weinman, G. Leung, A. Cheong, D. Louvard, and M. Donowitz. Na⁺-H⁺ exchanger 3 (NHE3) is present in lipid rafts in the rabbit ileal brush border: a role for rafts in trafficking and rapid stimulation of NHE3. *J.Physiol.* 537: 537-552, 2001.
- 197. Li, Y., S. T. Halm, and D. R. Halm. Secretory activation of basolateral membrane Cl⁻ channels in guinea pig distal colonic crypts. *Am.J.Physiol.Cell Physiol.* 284: C918-C933, 2003.
- 198. Lindqvist, S., J. Hernon, P. Sharp, N. Johns, S. Addison, M. Watson, R. Tighe, S. Greer, J. Mackay, M. Rhodes, M. Lewis, W. Stebbings, C. Speakman, S. Evangelista, I. Johnson, and M. Williams. The colon-selective spasmolytic otilonium bromide inhibits muscarinic M₃ receptor-coupled calcium signals in isolated human colonic crypts. *Br.J.Pharmacol.* 137: 1134-1142, 2002.
- 199. Lipecka, J., M. Bali, A. Thomas, P. Fanen, A. Edelman, and J. Fritsch. Distribution of ClC-2 chloride channel in rat and human epithelial tissues. *Am.J.Physiol.Cell Physiol.* 282: C805-C816, 2002.
- 200. Lisanti, M. P., M. Sargiacomo, L. Graeve, A. R. Saltiel, and E. Rodriguez-Boulan. Polarized apical distribution of glycosyl-phosphatidylinositol-anchored proteins in a renal epithelial cell line. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 85: 9557-9561, 1988.
- 201. Littlewood, J. M. Cystic fibrosis: gastrointestinal complications. *Br.Med.Bull.* 48: 847-859, 1992.
- 202. Locher, R., L. Neyses, M. Stimpel, B. Kuffer, and W. Vetter. The cholesterol content of the human erythrocyte influences calcium influx through the channel. *Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun.* 124: 822-828, 1984.

- 203. Lockwich, T., B. B. Singh, X. Liu, and I. S. Ambudkar. Stabilization of cortical actin induces internalization of transient receptor potential 3 (Trp3)-associated caveolar Ca²⁺ signaling complex and loss of Ca²⁺ influx without disruption of Trp3-inositol trisphosphate receptor association. J.Biol.Chem. 276: 42401-42408, 2001.
- 204. Lockwich, T. P., X. Liu, B. B. Singh, J. Jadlowiec, S. Weiland, and I. S. Ambudkar. Assembly of Trp1 in a signaling complex associated with caveolin-scaffolding lipid raft domains. *J.Biol.Chem.* 275: 11934-11942, 2000.
- 205. Lohrmann, E., I. Burhoff, R. B. Nitschke, H. J. Lang, D. Mania, H. C. Englert, M. Hropot, R. Warth, W. Rohm, M. Bleich, and R. Greger. A new class of inhibitors of cAMP-mediated Cl⁻ secretion in rabbit colon, acting by the reduction of cAMP-activated K⁺ conductance. *Pflugers Arch.* 429: 517-530, 1995.
- 206. Lomax, R. B., G. Warhurst, and G. I. Sandle. Characteristics of two basolateral potassium channel populations in human colonic crypts. *Gut* 38: 243-247, 1996.
- 207. Lu, H., C. Chen, and C. Klaassen. Tissue distribution of concentrative and equilibrative nucleoside transporters in male and female rats and mice. *Drug Metab.Dispos.* 32: 1455-1461, 2004.
- 208. Lucotte, G. and F. Loirat. A more detailed map of the cystic fibrosis mutation Δ F508 frequencies in Europe. *Hum.Biol.* 65: 503-507, 1993.
- 209. Ma, D. W., J. Seo, L. A. Davidson, E. S. Callaway, Y. Y. Fan, J. R. Lupton, and R. S. Chapkin. n-3 PUFA alter caveolae lipid composition and resident protein localization in mouse colon. *FASEB J.* 18: 1040-1042, 2004.
- MacVinish, L. J., Y. Guo, A. K. Dixon, R. D. Murrell-Lagnado, and A. W. Cuthbert. XE991 reveals differences in K⁺ channels regulating chloride secretion in murine airway and colonic epithelium. *Mol.Pharmacol.* 60: 753-760, 2001.
- 211. MacVinish, L. J., M. E. Hickman, D. A. Mufti, H. J. Durrington, and A. W. Cuthbert. Importance of basolateral K⁺ conductance in maintaining Cl⁻ secretion in murine nasal and colonic epithelia. *J.Physiol.* 510 (Pt 1): 237-247, 1998.
- 212. MacVinish, L. J., J. Keogh, and A. W. Cuthbert. EBIO, an agent causing maintained epithelial chloride secretion by co-ordinate actions at both apical and basolateral membranes. *Pflugers Arch.* 443 (Suppl 1): S127-S131, 2001.

- 213. Madara, J. L., T. W. Patapoff, B. Gillece-Castro, S. P. Colgan, C. A. Parkos, C. Delp, and R. J. Mrsny. 5'-adenosine monophosphate is the neutrophil-derived paracrine factor that elicits chloride secretion from T84 intestinal epithelial cell monolayers. *J.Clin.Invest.* 91: 2320-2325, 1993.
- Madore, N., K. L. Smith, C. H. Graham, A. Jen, K. Brady, S. Hall, and R. Morris. Functionally different GPI proteins are organized in different domains on the neuronal surface. *EMBO J.* 18: 6917-6926, 1999.
- Mahraoui, L., M. Rousset, E. Dussaulx, D. Darmoul, A. Zweibaum, and E. Brot-Laroche. Expression and localization of GLUT-5 in Caco-2 cells, human small intestine, and colon. *Am.J.Physiol.* 263: G312-G318, 1992.
- Manie, S. N., S. Debreyne, S. Vincent, and D. Gerlier. Measles virus structural components are enriched into lipid raft microdomains: a potential cellular location for virus assembly. *J.Virol.* 74: 305-311, 2000.
- Martens, J. R., R. Navarro-Polanco, E. A. Coppock, A. Nishiyama, L. Parshley, T. D. Grobaski, and M. M. Tamkun. Differential targeting of Shaker-like potassium channels to lipid rafts. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275: 7443-7446, 2000.
- Martens, J. R., N. Sakamoto, S. A. Sullivan, T. D. Grobaski, and M. M. Tamkun. Isoform-specific localization of voltage-gated K⁺ channels to distinct lipid raft populations: Targeting of Kv1.5 to caveolae. *J.Biol.Chem.* 2000.
- 219. Matsuzaki, T., Y. Tajika, T. Suzuki, T. Aoki, H. Hagiwara, and K. Takata. Immunolocalization of the water channel, aquaporin-5 (AQP5), in the rat digestive system. *Arch.Histol.Cytol.* 66: 307-315, 2003.
- 220. Matthews, J. B., K. J. Tally, J. A. Smith, A. J. Zeind, and B. J. Hrnjez. Activation of Cl secretion during chemical hypoxia by endogenous release of adenosine in intestinal epithelial monolayers. *J.Clin.Invest.* 96: 117-125, 1995.
- 221. Meneton, P., P. J. Schultheis, J. Greeb, M. L. Nieman, L. H. Liu, L. L. Clarke, J. J. Duffy, T. Doetschman, J. N. Lorenz, and G. E. Shull. Increased sensitivity to K⁺ deprivation in colonic H,K-ATPase-deficient mice. J.Clin.Invest. 101: 536-542, 1998.

- 222. Merritt, E. A., S. Sarfaty, A. F. van den, C. L'Hoir, J. A. Martial, and W. G. Hol. Crystal structure of cholera toxin B-pentamer bound to receptor GM1 pentasaccharide. *Protein Sci.* 3: 166-175, 1994.
- 223. Mignen, O., S. Egee, M. Liberge, and B. J. Harvey. Basolateral outward rectifier chloride channel in isolated crypts of mouse colon. *Am.J.Physiol.Gastrointest.Liver Physiol.* 279: G277-G287, 2000.
- 224. Mineo, C., G. L. James, E. J. Smart, and R. G. Anderson. Localization of epidermal growth factor-stimulated Ras/Raf-1 interaction to caveolae membrane. *J.Biol.Chem.* 271: 11930-11935, 1996.
- 225. Moore, R., C. Pothoulakis, J. T. LaMont, S. Carlson, and J. L. Madara. C. difficile toxin A increases intestinal permeability and induces Cl⁻ secretion. Am.J.Physiol. 259: G165-G172, 1990.
- 226. Moseley, R. H., P. Hoglund, G. D. Wu, D. G. Silberg, S. Haila, C. A. de la, C. Holmberg, and J. Kere. Downregulated in adenoma gene encodes a chloride transporter defective in congenital chloride diarrhea. *Am.J.Physiol.* 276: G185-G192, 1999.
- Mun, E. C., K. J. Tally, and J. B. Matthews. Characterization and regulation of adenosine transport in T84 intestinal epithelial cells. *Am.J.Physiol.* 274: G261-G269, 1998.
- 228. Murata, M., J. Peranen, R. Schreiner, F. Wieland, T. V. Kurzchalia, and K. Simons. VIP21/caveolin is a cholesterol-binding protein. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 92: 10339-10343, 1995.
- 229. Nakamura, N., S. Tanaka, Y. Teko, K. Mitsui, and H. Kanazawa. Four Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger isoforms are distributed to Golgi and post-Golgi compartments and are involved in organelle pH regulation. *J.Biol.Chem.* 280: 1561-1572, 2005.
- 230. Naren, A. P., B. Cobb, C. Li, K. Roy, D. Nelson, G. D. Heda, J. Liao, K. L. Kirk, E. J. Sorscher, J. Hanrahan, and J. P. Clancy. A macromolecular complex of β₂ adrenergic receptor, CFTR, and ezrin/radixin/moesin-binding phosphoprotein 50 is regulated by PKA. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 100: 342-346, 2003.

- 231. Nilsson, O., J. Cassuto, P. A. Larsson, M. Jodal, P. Lidberg, H. Ahlman, A. Dahlstrom, and O. Lundgren. 5-Hydroxytryptamine and cholera secretion: a histochemical and physiological study in cats. *Gut* 24: 542-548, 1983.
- Niu, S. L., D. C. Mitchell, and B. J. Litman. Manipulation of cholesterol levels in rod disk membranes by methyl-β-cyclodextrin: effects on receptor activation. *J.Biol.Chem.* 277: 20139-20145, 2002.
- 233. Nusrat, A., C. Eichel-Streiber, J. R. Turner, P. Verkade, J. L. Madara, and C. A. Parkos. *Clostridium difficile* toxins disrupt epithelial barrier function by altering membrane microdomain localization of tight junction proteins. *Infect.Immun.* 69: 1329-1336, 2001.
- 234. Ohama, T., K. Hirano, Z. Zhang, R. Aoki, K. Tsujii, Y. Nakagawa-Toyama, K. Tsukamoto, C. Ikegami, A. Matsuyama, M. Ishigami, N. Sakai, H. Hiraoka, K. Ueda, S. Yamashita, and Y. Matsuzawa. Dominant expression of ATP-binding cassette transporter-1 on basolateral surface of Caco-2 cells stimulated by LXR/RXR ligands. *Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun.* 296: 625-630, 2002.
- 235. Ohvo, H., C. Olsio, and J. P. Slotte. Effects of sphingomyelin and phosphatidylcholine degradation on cyclodextrin-mediated cholesterol efflux in cultured fibroblasts. *Biochim.Biophys.Acta* 1349: 131-141, 1997.
- 236. Ono, A. and E. O. Freed. Plasma membrane rafts play a critical role in HIV-1 assembly and release. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 98: 13925-13930, 2001.
- Orlandi, P. A. and P. H. Fishman. Filipin-dependent inhibition of cholera toxin: evidence for toxin internalization and activation through caveolae-like domains. *J.Cell Biol.* 141: 905-915, 1998.
- Orlando, R. C., D. W. Powell, R. D. Croom, H. M. Berschneider, R. C. Boucher, and M. R. Knowles. Colonic and esophageal transpithelial potential difference in cystic fibrosis. *Gastroenterology* 96: 1041-1048, 1989.
- 239. Orlowski, J. and S. Grinstein. Diversity of the mammalian sodium/proton exchanger SLC9 gene family. *Pflugers Arch.* 447: 549-565, 2004.
- 240. Palade, G. E. The fine structure of blood capillaries. J. Appl. Phys. 24: 1424, 1953.

- 241. Park, R. W. and R. J. Grand. Gastrointestinal manifestations of cystic fibrosis: a review. *Gastroenterology* 81: 1143-1161, 1981.
- Park, S. M., G. Liu, A. Kubal, M. Fury, L. Cao, and S. O. Marx. Direct interaction between BKCa potassium channel and microtubule-associated protein 1A. *FEBS Lett.* 570: 143-148, 2004.
- 243. Parraga, A., L. Bellsolell, A. R. Ferre-D'Amare, and S. K. Burley. Co-crystal structure of sterol regulatory element binding protein 1a at 2.3 Å resolution. *Structure*. 6: 661-672, 1998.
- Parsons, D. S. and M. I. Shaw. Use of high performance liquid chromatography to study absorption and metabolism of purines by rat jejunum in vitro. *Q.J.Exp.Physiol.* 68: 53-67, 1983.
- 245. Peterson, J. W. and L. G. Ochoa. Role of prostaglandins and cAMP in the secretory effects of cholera toxin. *Science* 245: 857-859, 1989.
- 246. Peterson, J. W., S. S. Saini, W. D. Dickey, G. R. Klimpel, J. S. Bomalaski, M. A. Clark, X. J. Xu, and A. K. Chopra. Cholera toxin induces synthesis of phospholipase A₂-activating protein. *Infect.Immun.* 64: 2137-2143, 1996.
- 247. Pinches, S. A., S. M. Gribble, R. B. Beechey, A. Ellis, J. M. Shaw, and S. P. Shirazi-Beechey. Preparation and characterization of basolateral membrane vesicles from pig and human colonocytes: the mechanism of glucose transport. *Biochem.J.* 294 (Pt 2): 529-534, 1993.
- 248. Porn, M. I., M. P. Ares, and J. P. Slotte. Degradation of plasma membrane phosphatidylcholine appears not to affect the cellular cholesterol distribution. *J.Lipid Res.* 34: 1385-1392, 1993.
- Potten, C. S., G. Owen, and S. A. Roberts. The temporal and spatial changes in cell proliferation within the irradiated crypts of the murine small intestine. *Int.J.Radiat.Biol.* 57: 185-199, 1990.
- 250. Poulsen, J. H., H. Fischer, B. Illek, and T. E. Machen. Bicarbonate conductance and pH regulatory capability of cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 91: 5340-5344, 1994.

- 251. Powell, A. R. and R. A. Reddix. Differential effects of maturation on nicotinicand muscarinic receptor-induced ion secretion in guinea pig distal colon. *Proc.Soc.Exp.Biol.Med.* 224: 147-151, 2000.
- 252. Pralle, A., P. Keller, E. L. Florin, K. Simons, and J. K. Horber. Sphingolipidcholesterol rafts diffuse as small entities in the plasma membrane of mammalian cells. *J. Cell Biol.* 148: 997-1008, 2000.
- 253. Qiu, W., B. Lee, M. Lancaster, W. Xu, S. Leung, and S. E. Guggino. Cyclic nucleotide-gated cation channels mediate sodium and calcium influx in rat colon. *Am.J.Physiol.Cell Physiol.* 278: C336-C343, 2000.
- 254. Quinton, P. M. Physiological basis of cystic fibrosis: a historical perspective. *Physiol.Rev.* 79: S3-S22, 1999.
- 255. Radhakrishnan, A., L. P. Sun, H. J. Kwon, M. S. Brown, and J. L. Goldstein. Direct binding of cholesterol to the purified membrane region of SCAP: mechanism for a sterol-sensing domain. *Mol.Cell* 15: 259-268, 2004.
- Rajendran, V. M. and H. J. Binder. Cl-HCO₃ and Cl-OH exchanges mediate Cl uptake in apical membrane vesicles of rat distal colon. *Am.J.Physiol.* 264: G874-G879, 1993.
- 257. Rajendran, V. M. and H. J. Binder. Differential modulation of Na-HCO₃ cotransport and Na-H exchange by pH in basolateral membrane vesicles of rat distal colon. *J.Biol.Chem.* 269: 156-160, 1994.
- Rajendran, V. M. and H. J. Binder. Distribution and regulation of apical Cl/anion exchanges in surface and crypt cells of rat distal colon. *Am.J.Physiol.* 276: G132-G137, 1999.
- 259. Rajendran, V. M., J. Black, T. A. Ardito, P. Sangan, S. L. Alper, C. Schweinfest, M. Kashgarian, and H. J. Binder. Regulation of DRA and AE1 in rat colon by dietary Na depletion. *Am.J.Physiol.Gastrointest.Liver Physiol.* 279: G931-G942, 2000.
- Rajendran, V. M., J. Geibel, and H. J. Binder. Chloride-dependent Na-H exchange. A novel mechanism of sodium transport in colonic crypts. *J.Biol.Chem.* 270: 11051-11054, 1995.

- 261. Rajendran, V. M., J. Geibel, and H. J. Binder. Role of Cl channels in Cldependent Na/H exchange. Am.J. Physiol. 276: G73-G78, 1999.
- 262. Rajendran, V. M., S. K. Singh, J. Geibel, and H. J. Binder. Differential localization of colonic H⁺-K⁺-ATPase isoforms in surface and crypt cells. *Am.J.Physiol.* 274: G424-G429, 1998.
- 263. Ralevic, V. and G. Burnstock. Receptors for purines and pyrimidines. *Pharmacol.Rev.* 50: 413-492, 1998.
- 264. Ratcliff, R., M. J. Evans, A. W. Cuthbert, L. J. MacVinish, D. Foster, J. R. Anderson, and W. H. Colledge. Production of a severe cystic fibrosis mutation in mice by gene targeting. *Nat.Genet.* 4: 35-41, 1993.
- 265. Razani, B., J. A. Engelman, X. B. Wang, W. Schubert, X. L. Zhang, C. B. Marks, F. Macaluso, R. G. Russell, M. Li, R. G. Pestell, D. Di Vizio, H. Hou, Jr., B. Kneitz, G. Lagaud, G. J. Christ, W. Edelmann, and M. P. Lisanti. Caveolin-1 null mice are viable but show evidence of hyperproliferative and vascular abnormalities. J.Biol.Chem. 276: 38121-38138, 2001.
- 266. Razani, B., X. B. Wang, J. A. Engelman, M. Battista, G. Lagaud, X. L. Zhang, B. Kneitz, H. Hou, Jr., G. J. Christ, W. Edelmann, and M. P. Lisanti. Caveolin-2-deficient mice show evidence of severe pulmonary dysfunction without disruption of caveolae. *Mol.Cell Biol.* 22: 2329-2344, 2002.
- 267. Remaley, A. T., J. A. Stonik, S. J. Demosky, E. B. Neufeld, A. V. Bocharov, T. G. Vishnyakova, T. L. Eggerman, A. P. Patterson, N. J. Duverger, S. Santamarina-Fojo, and H. B. Brewer, Jr. Apolipoprotein specificity for lipid efflux by the human ABCAI transporter. *Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun.* 280: 818-823, 2001.
- 268. Renard, S., N. Voilley, F. Bassilana, M. Lazdunski, and P. Barbry. Localization and regulation by steroids of the α , β and γ subunits of the amiloride-sensitive Na⁺ channel in colon, lung and kidney. *Pflugers Arch.* 430: 299-307, 1995.
- 269. Resnick, M. B., S. P. Colgan, T. W. Patapoff, R. J. Mrsny, C. S. Awtrey, C. Delp-Archer, P. F. Weller, and J. L. Madara. Activated eosinophils evoke chloride secretion in model intestinal epithelia primarily via regulated release of 5'-AMP. *J.Immunol.* 151: 5716-5723, 1993.

- Riordan, J. R., J. M. Rommens, B. Kerem, N. Alon, R. Rozmahel, Z. Grzelczak, J. Zielenski, S. Lok, N. Plavsic, and J. L. Chou. Identification of the cystic fibrosis gene: cloning and characterization of complementary DNA. *Science* 245: 1066-1073, 1989.
- 271. Roberts, S. J., M. Papaioannou, B. A. Evans, and R. J. Summers. Functional and molecular evidence for β_1 -, β_2 and β_3 -adrenoceptors in human colon. *Br.J.Pharmacol.* 120: 1527-1535, 1997.
- 272. Roden, M., A. R. Paterson, and K. Turnheim. Sodium-dependent nucleoside transport in rabbit intestinal epithelium. *Gastroenterology* 100: 1553-1562, 1991.
- 273. Roediger, W. E. Utilization of nutrients by isolated epithelial cells of the rat colon. *Gastroenterology* 83: 424-429, 1982.
- 274. Romanenko, V. G., Y. Fang, F. Byfield, A. J. Travis, C. A. Vandenberg, G. H. Rothblat, and I. Levitan. Cholesterol sensitivity and lipid raft targeting of Kir2.1 channels. *Biophys.J.* 87: 3850-3861, 2004.
- 275. Romero, M. F. The electrogenic Na⁺/HCO₃⁻ cotransporter, NBC. JOP. 2: 182-191, 2001.
- Romero, M. F., M. A. Hediger, E. L. Boulpaep, and W. F. Boron. Expression cloning and characterization of a renal electrogenic Na⁺/HCO₃⁻ cotransporter. *Nature* 387: 409-413, 1997.
- 277. Roper, K., D. Corbeil, and W. B. Huttner. Retention of prominin in microvilli reveals distinct cholesterol-based lipid micro-domains in the apical plasma membrane. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 2: 582-592, 2000.
- 278. Rubinstein, S., R. Moss, and N. Lewiston. Constipation and meconium ileus equivalent in patients with cystic fibrosis. *Pediatrics* 78: 473-479, 1986.
- Rust, S., M. Rosier, H. Funke, J. Real, Z. Amoura, J. C. Piette, J. F. Deleuze, H. B. Brewer, N. Duverger, P. Denefle, and G. Assmann. Tangier disease is caused by mutations in the gene encoding ATP-binding cassette transporter 1. *Nat.Genet.* 22: 352-355, 1999.

- 280. Sacks, F. M., L. P. Svetkey, W. M. Vollmer, L. J. Appel, G. A. Bray, D. Harsha, E. Obarzanek, P. R. Conlin, E. R. Miller, III, D. G. Simons-Morton, N. Karanja, and P. H. Lin. Effects on blood pressure of reduced dietary sodium and the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) diet. DASH-Sodium Collaborative Research Group. *N.Engl.J.Med.* 344: 3-10, 2001.
- 281. Saiman, L., G. Cacalano, D. Gruenert, and A. Prince. Comparison of adherence of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* to respiratory epithelial cells from cystic fibrosis patients and healthy subjects. *Infect.Immun.* 60: 2808-2814, 1992.
- 282. Sakai, J., E. A. Duncan, R. B. Rawson, X. Hua, M. S. Brown, and J. L. Goldstein. Sterol-regulated release of SREBP-2 from cell membranes requires two sequential cleavages, one within a transmembrane segment. *Cell* 85: 1037-1046, 1996.
- 283. Sakai, J., A. Nohturfft, D. Cheng, Y. K. Ho, M. S. Brown, and J. L. Goldstein. Identification of complexes between the COOH-terminal domains of sterol regulatory element-binding proteins (SREBPs) and SREBP cleavage-activating protein. J.Biol.Chem. 272: 20213-20221, 1997.
- Sand, P., A. Anger, and B. Rydqvist. Hypotonic stress activates an intermediate conductance K⁺ channel in human colonic crypt cells. *Acta Physiol.Scand.* 182: 361-368, 2004.
- 285. Sandle, G. I. and I. Butterfield. Potassium secretion in rat distal colon during dietary potassium loading: role of pH regulated apical potassium channels. *Gut* 44: 40-46, 1999.
- 286. Sangan, P., S. S. Kolla, V. M. Rajendran, M. Kashgarian, and H. J. Binder. Colonic H-K-ATPase β-subunit: identification in apical membranes and regulation by dietary K depletion. *Am.J.Physiol.* 276: C350-C360, 1999.
- 287. Sangan, P., V. M. Rajendran, J. P. Geibel, and H. J. Binder. Cloning and expression of a chloride-dependent Na⁺-H⁺ exchanger. *J.Biol.Chem.* 277: 9668-9675, 2002.
- 288. Sangan, P., V. M. Rajendran, A. S. Mann, M. Kashgarian, and H. J. Binder. Regulation of colonic H-K-ATPase in large intestine and kidney by dietary Na depletion and dietary K depletion. *Am.J.Physiol.* 272: C685-C696, 1997.

- 289. Sangan, P., S. Thevananther, S. Sangan, V. M. Rajendran, and H. J. Binder. Colonic H-K-ATPase α- and β-subunits express ouabain-insensitive H-K-ATPase. Am.J.Physiol.Cell Physiol. 278: C182-C189, 2000.
- 290. Sargiacomo, M., M. Sudol, Z. Tang, and M. P. Lisanti. Signal transducing molecules and glycosyl-phosphatidylinositol-linked proteins form a caveolin-rich insoluble complex in MDCK cells. *J.Cell Biol.* 122: 789-807, 1993.
- Scharrer, E. and B. Grenacher. Active intestinal absorption of nucleosides by Na⁺dependent transport across the brush border membrane in cows. *J.Dairy Sci.* 84: 614-619, 2001.
- 292. Scheiffele, P., P. Verkade, A. M. Fra, H. Virta, K. Simons, and E. Ikonen. Caveolin-1 and -2 in the exocytic pathway of MDCK cells. *J.Cell Biol.* 140: 795-806, 1998.
- 293. Scherer, P. E., R. Y. Lewis, D. Volonte, J. A. Engelman, F. Galbiati, J. Couet, D. S. Kohtz, E. van Donselaar, P. Peters, and M. P. Lisanti. Cell-type and tissue-specific expression of caveolin-2. Caveolins 1 and 2 co-localize and form a stable hetero-oligomeric complex *in vivo*. *J.Biol.Chem.* 272: 29337-29346, 1997.
- 294. Scherer, P. E., T. Okamoto, M. Chun, I. Nishimoto, H. F. Lodish, and M. P. Lisanti. Identification, sequence, and expression of caveolin-2 defines a caveolin gene family. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 93: 131-135, 1996.
- 295. Schreiber, R., R. Nitschke, R. Greger, and K. Kunzelmann. The cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator activates aquaporin 3 in airway epithelial cells. *J.Biol.Chem.* 274: 11811-11816, 1999.
- 296. Schroeder, B. C., S. Waldegger, S. Fehr, M. Bleich, R. Warth, R. Greger, and T. J. Jentsch. A constitutively open potassium channel formed by KCNQ1 and KCNE3. *Nature* 403: 196-199, 2000.
- 297. Schultheis, P. J., L. L. Clarke, P. Meneton, M. Harline, G. P. Boivin, G. Stemmermann, J. J. Duffy, T. Doetschman, M. L. Miller, and G. E. Shull. Targeted disruption of the murine Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger isoform 2 gene causes reduced viability of gastric parietal cells and loss of net acid secretion. *J.Clin.Invest.* 101: 1243-1253, 1998.

- 298. Schultheis, P. J., L. L. Clarke, P. Meneton, M. L. Miller, M. Soleimani, L. R. Gawenis, T. M. Riddle, J. J. Duffy, T. Doetschman, T. Wang, G. Giebisch, P. S. Aronson, J. N. Lorenz, and G. E. Shull. Renal and intestinal absorptive defects in mice lacking the NHE3 Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger. *Nat. Genet.* 19: 282-285, 1998.
- 299. Schultheiss, G. and M. Diener. Regulation of apical and basolateral K⁺ conductances in rat colon. *Br.J.Pharmacol.* 122: 87-94, 1997.
- 300. Schultheiss, G. and M. Diener. Adrenoceptor-mediated secretion across the rat colonic epithelium. *Eur.J.Pharmacol.* 403: 251-258, 2000.
- Schultheiss, G., R. Ribeiro, K. H. Schafer, and M. Diener. Activation of apical K⁺ conductances by muscarinic receptor stimulation in rat distal colon: fast and slow components. *J.Membr.Biol.* 195: 183-196, 2003.
- 302. Seidler, U., O. Bachmann, P. Jacob, S. Christiani, I. Blumenstein, and H. Rossmann. Na⁺/HCO₃⁻ cotransport in normal and cystic fibrosis intestine. JOP. 2: 247-256, 2001.
- 303. Seidler, U., H. Rossmann, P. Jacob, O. Bachmann, S. Christiani, G. Lamprecht, and M. Gregor. Expression and function of Na⁺HCO₃⁻ cotransporters in the gastrointestinal tract. *Ann.N.Y.Acad.Sci.* 915: 1-14, 2000.
- 304. Selvarangan, R., P. Goluszko, V. Popov, J. Singhal, T. Pham, D. M. Lublin, S. Nowicki, and B. Nowicki. Role of decay-accelerating factor domains and anchorage in internalization of Dr-fimbriated *Escherichia coli. Infect.Immun.* 68: 1391-1399, 2000.
- 305. Senard, J. M., D. Langin, L. Estan, and H. Paris. Identification of α_2 adrenoceptors and non-adrenergic idazoxan binding sites in rabbit colon epithelial cells. *Eur.J. Pharmacol.* 191: 59-68, 1990.
- 306. Shimomura, I., H. Shimano, J. D. Horton, J. L. Goldstein, and M. S. Brown. Differential expression of exons 1a and 1c in mRNAs for sterol regulatory element binding protein-1 in human and mouse organs and cultured cells. J.Clin.Invest. 99: 838-845, 1997.
- 307. Silberstein, C., A. Kierbel, G. Amodeo, E. Zotta, F. Bigi, D. Berkowski, and C. Ibarra. Functional characterization and localization of AQP3 in the human colon. Braz.J.Med.Biol.Res. 32: 1303-1313, 1999.

- Simons, K. and E. Ikonen. Functional rafts in cell membranes. Nature 387: 569-572, 1997.
- Simons, K. and D. Toomre. Lipid rafts and signal transduction. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 1: 31-39, 2000.
- 310. Simons, K. and G. van Meer. Lipid sorting in epithelial cells. *Biochemistry* 27: 6197-6202, 1988.
- 311. Singer, S. J. and G. L. Nicolson. The fluid mosaic model of the structure of cell membranes. *Science* 175: 720-731, 1972.
- 312. Singh, S. K., H. J. Binder, W. F. Boron, and J. P. Geibel. Fluid absorption in isolated perfused colonic crypts. *J.Clin.Invest.* 96: 2373-2379, 1995.
- Skibbens, J. E., M. G. Roth, and K. S. Matlin. Differential extractability of influenza virus hemagglutinin during intracellular transport in polarized epithelial cells and nonpolar fibroblasts. *J.Cell Biol.* 108: 821-832, 1989.
- 314. Slotte, J. P. and E. L. Bierman. Depletion of plasma-membrane sphingomyelin rapidly alters the distribution of cholesterol between plasma membranes and intracellular cholesterol pools in cultured fibroblasts. *Biochem.J.* 250: 653-658, 1988.
- 315. Slotte, J. P., G. Hedstrom, S. Rannstrom, and S. Ekman. Effects of sphingomyelin degradation on cell cholesterol oxidizability and steady-state distribution between the cell surface and the cell interior. *Biochim.Biophys.Acta* 985: 90-96, 1989.
- Smart, E. J., Y. Ying, W. C. Donzell, and R. G. Anderson. A role for caveolin in transport of cholesterol from endoplasmic reticulum to plasma membrane. *J.Biol.Chem.* 271: 29427-29435, 1996.
- 317. Smith, J. R., T. F. Osborne, M. S. Brown, J. L. Goldstein, and G. Gil. Multiple sterol regulatory elements in promoter for hamster 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutarylcoenzyme A synthase. *J. Biol. Chem.* 263: 18480-18487, 1988.
- Smith, P. L. and R. A. Frizzell. Chloride secretion by canine tracheal epithelium: IV. Basolateral membrane K permeability parallels secretion rate. *J.Membr.Biol.* 77: 187-199, 1984.

- 319. Smith, S. N., D. M. Steel, P. G. Middleton, F. M. Munkonge, D. M. Geddes, N. J. Caplen, D. J. Porteous, J. R. Dorin, and E. W. Alton. Bioelectric characteristics of exon 10 insertional cystic fibrosis mouse: comparison with humans. *Am.J. Physiol.* 268: C297-C307, 1995.
- 320. Snouwaert, J. N., K. K. Brigman, A. M. Latour, N. N. Malouf, R. C. Boucher, O. Smithies, and B. H. Koller. An animal model for cystic fibrosis made by gene targeting. *Science* 257: 1083-1088, 1992.
- 321. Soleimani, M. and C. E. Burnham. Na⁺:HCO₃⁻ cotransporters (NBC): cloning and characterization. J.Membr.Biol. 183: 71-84, 2001.
- 322. Soleimani, M., S. M. Grassi, and P. S. Aronson. Stoichiometry of Na⁺-HCO₃⁻ cotransport in basolateral membrane vesicles isolated from rabbit renal cortex. *J.Clin.Invest.* 79: 1276-1280, 1987.
- 323. Spicer, E. K., W. M. Kavanaugh, W. S. Dallas, S. Falkow, W. H. Konigsberg, and D. E. Schafer. Sequence homologies between A subunits of *Escherichia coli* and *Vibrio cholerae* enterotoxins. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 78: 50-54, 1981.
- 324. Sprenger, R. R., D. Speijer, J. W. Back, C. G. De Koster, H. Pannekoek, and A. J. Horrevoets. Comparative proteomics of human endothelial cell caveolae and rafts using two-dimensional gel electrophoresis and mass spectrometry. *Electrophoresis* 25: 156-172, 2004.
- 325. Stahlhut, M. and B. van Deurs. Identification of filamin as a novel ligand for caveolin-1: evidence for the organization of caveolin-1-associated membrane domains by the actin cytoskeleton. *Mol.Biol.Cell* 11: 325-337, 2000.
- 326. Steagall, W. K. and M. L. Drumm. Stimulation of cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator-dependent short-circuit currents across ΔF508 murine intestines. *Gastroenterology* 116: 1379-1388, 1999.
- 327. Stokes, J. B. and R. D. Sigmund. Regulation of rENaC mRNA by dietary NaCl and steroids: organ, tissue, and steroid heterogeneity. *Am.J.Physiol.* 274: C1699-C1707, 1998.
- 328. Strohmeier, G. R., W. I. Lencer, T. W. Patapoff, L. F. Thompson, S. L. Carlson, S. J. Moe, D. K. Carnes, R. J. Mrsny, and J. L. Madara. Surface expression,

polarization, and functional significance of CD73 in human intestinal epithelia. *J.Clin.Invest.* 99: 2588-2601, 1997.

- 329. Strohmeier, G. R., S. M. Reppert, W. I. Lencer, and J. L. Madara. The A_{2b} adenosine receptor mediates cAMP responses to adenosine receptor agonists in human intestinal epithelia. *J.Biol.Chem.* 270: 2387-2394, 1995.
- 330. Strong, T. V., K. Boehm, and F. S. Collins. Localization of cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator mRNA in the human gastrointestinal tract by in situ hybridization. *J. Clin. Invest.* 93: 347-354, 1994.
- 331. Stulnig, T. M., J. Huber, N. Leitinger, E. M. Imre, P. Angelisova, P. Nowotny, and W. Waldhausl. Polyunsaturated eicosapentaenoic acid displaces proteins from membrane rafts by altering raft lipid composition. *J.Biol.Chem.* 276: 37335-37340, 2001.
- 332. Stutts, M. J., C. M. Canessa, J. C. Olsen, M. Hamrick, J. A. Cohn, B. C. Rossier, and R. C. Boucher. CFTR as a cAMP-dependent regulator of sodium channels. *Science* 269: 847-850, 1995.
- 333. Sugimoto, Y., H. Ninomiya, Y. Ohsaki, K. Higaki, J. P. Davies, Y. A. Ioannou, and K. Ohno. Accumulation of cholera toxin and GM1 ganglioside in the early endosome of Niemann-Pick C1-deficient cells. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 98: 12391-12396, 2001.
- Suzuki, Y., K. Kaneko, M. Maruyama, and H. Hayashi. Basolateral Cl⁻/HCO₃⁻ exchange in epithelial cells from guinea pig distal colon. *Jpn.J.Physiol.* 44 Suppl 2: S305-S307, 1994.
- 335. Tang, Z., P. E. Scherer, T. Okamoto, K. Song, C. Chu, D. S. Kohtz, I. Nishimoto, H. F. Lodish, and M. P. Lisanti. Molecular cloning of caveolin-3, a novel member of the caveolin gene family expressed predominantly in muscle. *J.Biol.Chem.* 271: 2255-2261, 1996.
- 336. Taverna, E., E. Saba, J. Rowe, M. Francolini, F. Clementi, and P. Rosa. Role of lipid microdomains in P/Q-type calcium channel (Ca_v2.1) clustering and function in presynaptic membranes. *J.Biol.Chem.* 279: 5127-5134, 2004.

- 337. Taylor, A. L., L. M. Schwiebert, J. J. Smith, C. King, J. R. Jones, E. J. Sorscher, and E. M. Schwiebert. Epithelial P2X purinergic receptor channel expression and function. *J.Clin.Invest.* 104: 875-884, 1999.
- 338. Thiagarajah, J. R., T. Broadbent, E. Hsieh, and A. S. Verkman. Prevention of toxin-induced intestinal ion and fluid secretion by a small-molecule CFTR inhibitor. *Gastroenterology* 126: 511-519, 2004.
- 339. Thomopoulos, G. N., D. K. Shori, B. Asking, A. Kosta, A. Dimopoulou, K. Paterson, R. Hartley, and W. H. Colledge. Ultrastructural changes in exocrine tissues of a ΔF508 CFTR mouse model. *Pflugers Arch.* 443 (Suppl 1): S28-S35, 2001.
- 340. Thomsen, P., K. Roepstorff, M. Stahlhut, and B. van Deurs. Caveolae are highly immobile plasma membrane microdomains, which are not involved in constitutive endocytic trafficking. *Mol.Biol.Cell* 13: 238-250, 2002.
- 341. Thurnhofer, H. and H. Hauser. Uptake of cholesterol by small intestinal brush border membrane is protein-mediated. *Biochemistry* 29: 2142-2148, 1990.
- 342. Trezise, A. E. and M. Buchwald. *In vivo* cell-specific expression of the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator. *Nature* 353: 434-437, 1991.
- 343. Trouet, D., I. Carton, D. Hermans, G. Droogmans, B. Nilius, and J. Eggermont. Inhibition of VRAC by c-Src tyrosine kinase targeted to caveolae is mediated by the Src homology domains. *Am.J.Physiol.Cell Physiol.* 281: C248-C256, 2001.
- 344. Tsuganezawa, H., K. Kobayashi, M. Iyori, T. Araki, A. Koizumi, S. Watanabe, A. Kaneko, T. Fukao, T. Monkawa, T. Yoshida, D. K. Kim, Y. Kanai, H. Endou, M. Hayashi, and T. Saruta. A new member of the HCO₃⁻ transporter superfamily is an apical anion exchanger of β-intercalated cells in the kidney. *J.Biol.Chem.* 276: 8180-8189, 2001.
- 345. Turnheim, K., H. Plass, and W. Wyskovsky. Basolateral potassium channels of rabbit colon epithelium: role in sodium absorption and chloride secretion. *Biochim.Biophys.Acta* 1560: 51-66, 2002.
- Ussing, H. H. and K. Zerahn. Active transport of sodium as the source of electric current in the short-circuited isolated frog skin. *Acta Physiol.Scand.* 23: 110-127, 1951.

- 347. Valera, S., N. Hussy, R. J. Evans, N. Adami, R. A. North, A. Surprenant, and G. Buell. A new class of ligand-gated ion channel defined by P2X receptor for extracellular ATP. *Nature* 371: 516-519, 1994.
- 348. Valet, P., J. M. Senard, J. C. Devedjian, V. Planat, R. Salomon, T. Voisin, G. Drean, A. Couvineau, D. Daviaud, and C. Denis. Characterization and distribution of α₂-adrenergic receptors in the human intestinal mucosa. J.Clin.Invest. 91: 2049-2057, 1993.
- 349. van Doorninck, J. H., P. J. French, E. Verbeek, R. H. Peters, H. Morreau, J. Bijman, and B. J. Scholte. A mouse model for the cystic fibrosis △F508 mutation. *EMBO J.* 14: 4403-4411, 1995.
- 350. van Meer, G. and K. Simons. The function of tight junctions in maintaining differences in lipid composition between the apical and the basolateral cell surface domains of MDCK cells. *EMBO J.* 5: 1455-1464, 1986.
- Vogel, U., K. Sandvig, and B. van Deurs. Expression of caveolin-1 and polarized formation of invaginated caveolae in Caco-2 and MDCK II cells. *J.Cell Sci.* 111 (Pt 6): 825-832, 1998.
- 352. von Haller, P. D., S. Donohoe, D. R. Goodlett, R. Aebersold, and J. D. Watts. Mass spectrometric characterization of proteins extracted from Jurkat T cell detergent-resistant membrane domains. *Proteomics* 1: 1010-1021, 2001.
- 353. Wang, K. S., T. Ma, F. Filiz, A. S. Verkman, and J. A. Bastidas. Colon water transport in transgenic mice lacking aquaporin-4 water channels. *Am.J.Physiol.Gastrointest.Liver Physiol.* 279: G463-G470, 2000.
- 354. Wang, S., R. W. Raab, P. J. Schatz, W. B. Guggino, and M. Li. Peptide binding consensus of the NHE-RF-PDZ1 domain matches the C-terminal sequence of cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR). *FEBS Lett.* 427: 103-108, 1998.
- 355. Ward, J. L. and C. M. Tse. Nucleoside transport in human colonic epithelial cell lines: evidence for two Na⁺-independent transport systems in T84 and Caco-2 cells. *Biochim.Biophys.Acta* 1419: 15-22, 1999.
- 356. Warnock, D. E., C. Roberts, M. S. Lutz, W. A. Blackburn, W. W. Young, Jr., and J. U. Baenziger. Determination of plasma membrane lipid mass and composition

in cultured Chinese hamster ovary cells using high gradient magnetic affinity chromatography. J.Biol.Chem. 268: 10145-10153, 1993.

- 357. Warth, R. and M. Bleich. K⁺ channels and colonic function. *Rev. Physiol. Biochem. Pharmacol.* 140: 1-62, 2000.
- 358. Warth, R., K. Hamm, M. Bleich, K. Kunzelmann, T. von Hahn, R. Schreiber, E. Ullrich, M. Mengel, N. Trautmann, P. Kindle, A. Schwab, and R. Greger. Molecular and functional characterization of the small Ca²⁺-regulated K⁺ channel (rSK4) of colonic crypts. *Pflugers Arch.* 438: 437-444, 1999.
- 359. Wattenberg, B. W. and D. F. Silbert. Sterol partitioning among intracellular membranes. Testing a model for cellular sterol distribution. *J.Biol.Chem.* 258: 2284-2289, 1983.
- 360. Webb, Y., L. Hermida-Matsumoto, and M. D. Resh. Inhibition of protein palmitoylation, raft localization, and T cell signaling by 2-bromopalmitate and polyunsaturated fatty acids. *J.Biol.Chem.* 275: 261-270, 2000.
- 361. Welsh, M. J., P. L. Smith, M. Fromm, and R. A. Frizzell. Crypts are the site of intestinal fluid and electrolyte secretion. *Science* 218: 1219-1221, 1982.
- 362. Wills, N. K. Apical membrane potassium and chloride permeabilities in surface cells of rabbit descending colon epithelium. *J. Physiol.* 358: 433-445, 1985.
- 363. Wolf, A. A., Y. Fujinaga, and W. I. Lencer. Uncoupling of the cholera toxin-G_{M1} ganglioside receptor complex from endocytosis, retrograde Golgi trafficking, and downstream signal transduction by depletion of membrane cholesterol. *J.Biol.Chem.* 277: 16249-16256, 2002.
- 364. Wolf, A. A., M. G. Jobling, S. Wimer-Mackin, M. Ferguson-Maltzman, J. L. Madara, R. K. Holmes, and W. I. Lencer. Ganglioside structure dictates signal transduction by cholera toxin and association with caveolae-like membrane domains in polarized epithelia. J.Cell Biol. 141: 917-927, 1998.
- 365. Wong, W. and L. C. Schlichter. Differential recruitment of Kv1.4 and Kv4.2 to lipid rafts by PSD-95. *J.Biol.Chem.* 279: 444-452, 2004.

- 366. Yamada, E. The fine structure of the gall bladder epithelium of the mouse. J.Biophys.Biochem.Cytol. 1: 445-458, 1955.
- 367. Yang, G., L. D. Truong, T. L. Timme, C. Ren, T. M. Wheeler, S. H. Park, Y. Nasu, C. H. Bangma, M. W. Kattan, P. T. Scardino, and T. C. Thompson. Elevated expression of caveolin is associated with prostate and breast cancer. *Clin.Cancer Res.* 4: 1873-1880, 1998.
- 368. Yokoyama, C., X. Wang, M. R. Briggs, A. Admon, J. Wu, X. Hua, J. L. Goldstein, and M. S. Brown. SREBP-1, a basic-helix-loop-helix-leucine zipper protein that controls transcription of the low density lipoprotein receptor gene. *Cell* 75: 187-197, 1993.
- 369. Zdebik, A. A., J. E. Cuffe, M. Bertog, C. Korbmacher, and T. J. Jentsch. Additional disruption of the ClC-2 Cl⁻ channel does not exacerbate the cystic fibrosis phenotype of cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator mouse models. J.Biol.Chem. 279: 22276-22283, 2004.
- 370. Zeiher, B. G., E. Eichwald, J. Zabner, J. J. Smith, A. P. Puga, P. B. McCray, Jr., M. R. Capecchi, M. J. Welsh, and K. R. Thomas. A mouse model for the ΔF508 allele of cystic fibrosis. *J.Clin.Invest.* 96: 2051-2064, 1995.
- 371. Zitzer, A., R. Bittman, C. A. Verbicky, R. K. Erukulla, S. Bhakdi, S. Weis, A. Valeva, and M. Palmer. Coupling of cholesterol and cone-shaped lipids in bilayers augments membrane permeabilization by the cholesterol-specific toxins streptolysin O and *Vibrio cholerae* cytolysin. *J.Biol.Chem.* 276: 14628-14633, 2001.

CHAPTER 2

Regulation of Cl⁻ secretion by α_2 -adrenergic receptors in mouse colonic epithelium

This chapter was published in 2003:

Lam, RS; App, EM; Nahirney, D; Szkotak, AJ; Vieira-Coelha, MA; King, M; Duszyk, M. (2003) Regulation of Cl⁻ secretion by α_2 -adrenergic receptors in mouse colonic epithelium. *Journal of Physiology (London)* 548(2): 475-484.

INTRODUCTION

The α_2 -adrenergic receptors (α_2 ARs) belong to the seven transmembrane domain superfamily of G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs), and mediate many of the physiological effects of the native catecholamines, adrenaline and noradrenaline (17). The primary signal transduction pathway of α_2 ARs is through pertussis toxin (PTX)sensitive G_{i/o} proteins, which leads to inhibition of adenylyl cyclase and a reduction in intracellular cAMP (6). However, under certain circumstances α_2 ARs can also couple to G_s proteins leading to activation of adenylyl cyclase (11). Other physiological signaling pathways mediated by α_2 ARs include stimulation of phospholipases (A₂, C and D), and inhibition of voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels (15). Three distinct α_2 AR subtypes have been described (α_{2A} , α_{2B} , and α_{2C} AR) based on molecular and pharmacological criteria (17). These subtypes exhibit different cellular and tissue distributions, suggesting distinct physiological functions.

The presence of $\alpha_2 ARs$ in the intestinal mucosa has been demonstrated in earlier studies (36). These receptors were shown to be of the α_{2A} subtype, and their distribution suggested preferential localization in the basolateral membranes of the proximal colon. The source of native $\alpha_2 AR$ agonists may be the noradrenergic fibers that extensively innervate the intestinal mucosa, endocrine cells within the epithelial layer, or circulating catecholamines. While the presence of $\alpha_2 ARs$ on enterocyte membranes implies a direct interaction between catecholamines and the epithelium, the mechanisms of $\alpha_2 AR$ mediated effects and the nature of their molecular interaction with ion channels remain poorly defined. Classically, regulation of epithelial transport processes occurs in response to agents that alter cyclic nucleotide or $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ levels, affecting mainly apical anion channels and basolateral K⁺ channels. Although CFTR Cl⁻ channels represent a major pathway for anion movement across the apical membrane, the contribution of outwardly rectifying Cl⁻ channels, Ca^{2+} -dependent Cl⁻ channels and members of the ClC Cl⁻ channel family may also be important (2;34). At least four biophysically and pharmacologically distinct types of K⁺ channels have been shown to contribute to the basolateral K⁺ conductance: a cAMP-activated K⁺ channel (KCNQ1), an intermediate conductance Ca^{2+} -activated K⁺ channel (IK-1), a large conductance Ca^{2+} -activated K⁺ channel (BK), and ATP-dependent K⁺ channels (K_{ATP}) (8;27;31). These channels are thought to play a crucial role in the regulation of the overall process of chloride secretion.

 α_2 AR agonists have been shown to inhibit electrolyte secretion in human colonic epithelial cell lines (20;40), rabbit ileum (12) and rat jejunum (38). Although this type of regulation may be of clinical and pharmacological relevance in diseases characterized by abnormal intestinal secretion, the molecular mechanisms involved in this process are not well understood. Therefore, our main objective was to identify ion channels and transporters affected by α_2 AR agonists. Our data indicate that the main targets of α_2 AR action are basolateral K_{ATP} channels. These channels are inhibited by a process that requires activation of G_{i/o} proteins but is independent of the cAMP- or Ca²⁺-mediated pathways.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Epithelial cells

The colonic epithelia used in this study came from four dfferent strains of mice: BALB/c, NMRI, C57BL/6J and cystic fibrosis (CF) mice. The breeding colony of CF mice (B6.129S6-Cftr^{tm1Kth}, Jackson Laboratory, Bar Harbor, ME) was housed in a specific pathogen-free environment (Health Sciences Laboratory Animal Services, University of Alberta). Breeder pairs were heterozygous for a CTT deletion mutation of the CFTR gene, which results in the loss of a phenylalanine residue in exon 10 and corresponds to the human position 508. Pups were weaned at 21 days of age, and genotyped by PCR amplification of ear clip genomic DNA according to established methods (Jackson Laboratory, Bar Harbor, ME). Pups were either wild-type homozygous (+/+), heterozygous (+/ Δ F), or homozygous for mutant CFTR (Δ F/ Δ F) (Cftr^{tm1Kth}, referred to as CF). No differences in the behavior of intestinal epithelium from CFTR(+/+) and $CFTR(+/\Delta F)$ mice have been found (42), and no distinction between the two types is made in this study. All experiments described in this study were carried out with the approval of the Health Sciences Animal Policy and Welfare Committee, University of Alberta.

Mice were killed by CO_2 narcosis, and 6 cm long pieces of colon were removed from ~2 cm below the caecum and immediately placed in cold Krebs-Henseleit (KH) solution containing (mM): 116 NaCl, 4.7 KCl, 2.5 CaCl₂, 1.2 MgCl₂, 25 NaHCO₃, 1.2 KH₂PO₄, and 11.1 glucose, pH 7.4. The colons were opened up, and the muscle layers were dissected away. Usually, two pieces of 0.2 cm² were taken from proximal and distal colon, and mounted in Ussing chambers. In experiments requiring Cl⁻free KH solution,

NaCl and KCl were replaced by equimolar sodium gluconate and potassium gluconate, respectively, and 2.5 mM CaCl₂ was replaced by 5 mM calcium gluconate to compensate for the Ca²⁺-buffering capacity of gluconate. In experiments requiring HCO₃⁻-free solution it contained (mM): 141 NaCl, 4.7 KCl, 2.5 CaCl₂, 1.2 MgCl₂, 1.2 KH₂PO₄, 11.1 glucose and 10 HEPES, pH 7.4.

Transepithelial measurements

Standard techniques were used in Ussing chamber studies. The tissues were bathed on apical and basolateral sides with 10 ml of KH solution, which was warmed to 37°C and continually circulated with a gas lift by bubbling with 95% O₂-5% CO₂. Chemicals were added from concentrated stock solutions and both chambers were continuously and separately perfused to ensure proper oxygenation and stirring of the solutions. The transepithelial potential difference was clamped to zero using a DVC 1000 amplifier (WPI, Sarasota, FI) and the resulting short-circuit current (I_{sc}) was recorded through Ag-AgCl electrodes and 3 M KCl agarose bridges. The I_{sc} was allowed to stabilize for 10-15 min before application of α_2 agonists or other tested chemicals. Positive currents were defined as anion secretion or movement from the basolateral to the apical side. The transepithelial resistance was continuously monitored and calculated, using Ohm's law, by measuring current changes in response to 0.5 mV pulses. The data were collected and stored using a PowerLab 8SP series (ADInstruments, NSW 2154, Australia).

For basolateral membrane K^+ current measurements apical NaCl was replaced by equimolar potassium gluconate, while basolateral NaCl was substituted with sodium gluconate and the Ca²⁺ concentration was increased to 5 mM in both solutions. In addition, 100 μ M ouabain was added to the basolateral compartment to inhibit the Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase. Subsequent permeabilization of the apical membrane with nystatin (90 μ g/ml) allowed measurement of K⁺ current as these ions move down their concentration gradient through basolateral K⁺ channels.

Unidirectional Ion Fluxes

To measure chloride flux from the basolateral to apical side, epithelia were shortcircuited as described above. Three μ Ci of ³⁶Cl⁻ (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, UK) was added to the basolateral side, 30 min allowed for equilibration and then two 0.5 ml samples were taken from the apical side and replaced with fresh KH solution; this point was considered time zero. Samples were taken thereafter at 10-min intervals for the next 30 min, followed by the addition of UK 14,304 and further sampling for another 30 min. Basolateral samples taken just prior to UK 14,304 addition gave the specific activity for chloride. This information together with that from the apical samples allowed calculation of the Cl⁻ flux change caused by UK 14,304. This change was compared to the change in the I_{se} response, calculated from the integral of the I_{se} versus time record. ³⁶Cl⁻ fluxes in the apical to basolateral direction were measured in exactly the same fashion, except that the radioisotope was added to the apical bathing solution.

Measurement of intracellular Ca^{2+} concentration (performed by Ms. Fenglian Xu)

Changes in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ were measured in isolated colonic crypts using fura-2 as the reporter molecule. A ~6 cm long piece of mouse colon was everted, tied at both ends and filled with low calcium (LC) solution as previously described (10). The LC solution

contained the following (mM): 127 NaCl, 5 KCl, 1 MgCl₂, 5 glucose, 10 HEPES, 5 EDTA, bovine serum albumin (BSA) 1%, pH 7.4. The distended and everted colon was submersed in LC solution at 37°C for 5 min with gentle shaking. At the end of 5 min the colonic preparation was shaken vigorously for 2 min, the tissue discarded and the crvpt suspension separated by gentle centrifugation. The crypts were resuspended in KH solution and loaded with 2.5 µM fura-2 AM at 37°C for 15 min, and then washed with KH solution to remove untrapped dye before the beginning of each experiment. Groups of cells (typically 5) were illuminated with light delivered from an HBO 100 W mercury lamp via a ×40, 1.3 numerical aperture, oil-immersion objective. Cell fluorescence was analyzed with an imaging system (TILL Photonics, Eugene, OR), which included a monochrometer capable of switching the excitation wavelength in <1 ms and a cooled CCD camera synchronized to integrate the emitted light at each excitation wavelength. Ratiometric imaging of fura-2 fluorescence was performed at 0.2 Hz with sequential 340/380-nm excitation. Each fluorescence image was collected at 640 × 480 pixels resolution via a long-pass 510 nM dichroic mirror/emission filter and integrated for 10 ms. After subtraction of background fluorescence at each wavelength of excitation, the fluorescence ratio (R) of fura-2 at 340-nm excitation/380-nm excitation, was displayed as a continuous record showing the time course of changes of R from an individual region of interest.

Conversion of R into $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ was performed in separate calibration experiments, in which individual cells were dialysed in whole cell recording with intracellular solutions of known $[Ca^{2+}]$ and fura-2 (0.1 mM, potassium salt from Molecular Probes). The three solutions for this calibration were identical to those previously used for calibrating indo-1
(35) and had $[Ca^{2+}]$ of <0.1 nM, 212 nM, and 15 μ M, respectively. R values were converted to $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ using the following equation (16)

$$[Ca^{2+}]_i = K(R - R_{\min})/(R_{\max} - R)$$

In this study, the value of R_{min} was 0.132, R_{max} was 3.4, and K was 2,723.6 nM.

Cyclic AMP radioimmunoassay (performed by Dr. Anthony Ho)

A radioimmunoassay procedure was used in which the samples were acetylated before analysis (19). Colonic epithelia (20 mm²) prepared as for I_{sc} recording, were exposed either to 1 μ M UK 14,304, or to 10 μ M forskolin for 10 min in 50 μ l of KH solution, either with or without IBMX (100 μ M) at 37°C. Acetic anhydride, 50 μ l (final concentration 5 mM) was added to stop the reaction. The whole tissue was then frozen and thawed three times, to disrupt the cells, using solid CO₂. Aliquots were taken for protein estimation while the remainder was boiled for 5 min, centrifuged at 20,000 g and used for immunoassay. Each measurement was the average of triplicate determinations.

Tissue noradrenaline measurement (performed by Maria A. Vieira-Coelha)

The noradrenaline assay was performed by HPLC with electrochemical detection as previously described (37). Briefly, 0.5 ml tissue samples in perchloric acid were placed in 5 ml vials with 50 mg alumina, and the pH was adjusted to 8.6 with Tris. The adsorbed catecholamines were eluted from the alumina with 200 μ l of 0.2 M perchloric acid on Costar Spin-X microfilters, and 50 μ l of the eluate was injected into HPLC (Gilson Medical Electronics, France) by an automatic sample injector (Gilson model 231). The detection was carried out electrochemically with a carbon electrode, an Ag-AgCl

reference electrode and an amperometric detector (Gilson model 141) operated at 0.75 V. The lower limit of noradrenaline detection ranged from 0.35 to 0.50 pmol.

RT-PCR

Total RNA was isolated from mouse colonic epithelium using the Qiagen RNeasy kit (Qiagen). First-strand cDNA was synthesized by reverse transcription of the RNA using Superscript II (Invitrogen) and random hexamer primers (200 ng). PCR was performed using the following sets of primers (5' to 3'): Kir6.1 (GenBankTM accession number D88159) forward nucleotides 126-145, reverse 1041-1022; Kir6.2 (D50581) forward 243-262, reverse 1066-1047; SUR1 (L40624) forward 2091-2110, reverse 2622-2603; SUR2A/B (D86038) forward 4237-4256, reverse 5076-5057 for SUR2A and 4900-4881 for SUR2B. PCR was performed using the hot-start method. 10% of the reverse transcription reaction was combined with 1 µM of each primer, 0.2 mM of each dNTP, 0.75 mM MgCl₂, 50 mM KCl, 20 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.4), 2.5 U of Taq polymerase, and autoclaved ddH₂O to a final volume of 20 µl. After 3 min at 94°C, amplifications proceeded for 35 cycles (94°C, 30 s; 58°C, 60 s; 72°C, 3 min) with a final elongation period at 72°C for 7 min. PCR products were separated and visualized on an ethidium bromide-stained 1.5% agarose gel by electrophoresis. The expected sizes (bp) of the PCR products were: 916 (Kir6.1), 824 (Kir6.2), 532 (SUR1), 840 and 664 (SUR2A and SUR2B, respectively).

Chemicals

Amiloride (10 mM), clonidine (1 mM), ouabain (10 mM), rauwolscine (1 mM) and tetrapentylammonium chloride (TPA, 100 mM) were dissolved in H₂O. Furosemide and IBMX were prepared as a 100 mM stock solution in H₂O with a drop of 1N NaOH. Charybdotoxin was prepared as a 10 μ M stock in KH solution containing 0.1% BSA. Bumetanide, clotrimazole, forskolin, medetomidine, phentolamine, tolbutamide and UK 14,304 were made as at least 1,000-fold stock solutions in ethanol. Diazoxide (300 mM) and prazosin (10 mM) were dissolved in dimethyl sulphoxide (DMSO). Nystatin was prepared as a 180-mg/ml stock solution in DMSO and sonicated for 30 s just before use. XE991 (a generous gift from Dr. B.S. Brown, DuPont, Wilmington, DE) was prepared as a 10 mM stock solution in 0.1 N HCl. Medetomidine and HMR 1098 were generous gifts from Prof. K. Starke, University of Freiburg, Germany, and Dr. P.E. Light, University of Alberta, Canada, respectively. All other chemicals were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). Nystatin and diazoxide were prepared fresh before each experiment. Other chemicals were used from stock solutions stored at either 4°C or -20°C.

Data analysis

All data are expressed as means \pm SE along with the number of preparations used (N). Statistical difference was determined by Student's *t*-test or one-way ANOVA. Values of P<0.05 were considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Noradrenaline levels in mouse intestine

The total amount of noradrenaline in the proximal colon (including mucosa, submucosa, and muscular layers) was 3.49 ± 0.75 nmol/g (N=5), of which 1.08 ± 0.21 nmol/g (or 31.2 %) was from the epithelial layer. For comparison, mouse jejunum contained 1.70 ± 0.37 nmol/g (N=5), of which 0.04 ± 0.02 nmol/g (or 2.0 %) was from the epithelial layer. The fact that noradrenaline levels in the proximal colonic epithelium are ~20-fold higher than in the jejunal epithelium suggests that α_2 ARs could play a significant role in colonic epithelial cell function.

Effect of $\alpha_2 AR$ agonists and antagonists on I_{sc}

Application of the specific α_2AR agonist, UK 14,304, produced a concentrationdependent (1 to 10,000 nM, both sides) decrease in the baseline current, with the IC₅₀ = 34.7 nM. The effect of UK 14,304 (1 µM) was similar in the presence and absence of 10 µM apical amiloride (-21.5 ± 4.1 and -23.6 ± 3.9 µA/cm², respectively, N=5, P>0.05), indicating that α_2AR activation had no effect on electrogenic Na⁺ absorption by ENaC channels. Similar experiments performed in the presence or absence of apical BaCl₂ (5 mM) to inhibit K⁺ secretion have shown UK 14,304 does not affect K⁺ secretion (-18.7 ± 3.6 and -20.1 ± 4.4 µA/cm², N=4, P>0.05). Therefore, all subsequent experiments were performed in the presence of amiloride (10 µM) in the apical compartment. In addition, in Cl⁻ current studies, BaCl₂ (5 mM) was also present in the apical compartment.

 α_2 AR agonists are more effective inhibitors of I_{sc} in the proximal colon than the distal colon (Fig. 2-1). UK 14,304 (1 μ M) decreased the I_{sc} from 40.7 ± 4.4 to 19.6 ± 4.2



Figure 2-1 Inhibition of I_{sc} by the $\alpha_2 AR$ agonist, UK 14,304, in the distal and proximal colon

 I_{sc} was more effectively inhibited by UK 14,304 (1 μ M, both sides) in the proximal than in the distal colon. The data were obtained in KH solution and show means \pm SE from 12 different preparations in each segment. Amiloride (10 μ M) and BaCl₂ (5 mM) were present in the apical compartment to inhibit Na⁺ absorption and K⁺ secretion, respectively.

 μ A/cm² (N=14, P<0.001, paired *t*-test) in the proximal colon, and from 34.7 ± 6.3 to 23.9 ± 4.2 μ A/cm² (N=13, P<0.01, paired *t*-test) in the distal colon. Thus, activation of α_2 ARs inhibits ~52% of the proximal and ~31% of the distal colon baseline I_{sc}. Similar results were obtained with two other α_2 AR agonists, medetomidine (1 μ M, both sides, N=3) and clonidine (10 μ M, both sides, N=6; data not shown). The α_2 AR antagonists, rauwolscine (1 μ M, N=4) and phentolamine (1 μ M, N=11), as well as the α_1 adrenoceptor antagonist, prazosin (1 μ M, N=4), did not affect the I_{sc} in any segment of the colon. In addition, the presence of prazosin (1 μ M, N=4) in the bath solution had no effect on I_{sc} inhibition by UK 14,304. Tissue conductances of the proximal and distal colon in KH solution were 31.1 ± 1.1 mS/cm² (N=57) and 20.5 ± 0.9 mS/cm² (N=49), respectively, and were not significantly changed by UK 14,304 treatment (data not shown).

$\alpha_2 ARs$ inhibit CFTR-mediated Cl⁻ secretion

Figure 2-2 shows that UK 14,304 (1 μ M) inhibited baseline I_{sc} in control but not in CF colonic epithelia. The data are representative of four different experiments with CF tissues. For comparison, the subsequent responses to forskolin and furosemide in both epithelia are also shown. Sequential application of forskolin and furosemide is known to exert opposite effects on I_{sc} in control compared to CF epithelia (7). The results shown in Fig. 2-2 suggest that activation of α_2 ARs does not affect forskolin or furosemide responses in either tissue.

Further characterization of the effects of $\alpha_2 AR$ agonists on anion secretion has been performed in anion replacement studies. In the proximal colon, in Cl⁻-free solution, UK 14,304 inhibited I_{sc} by 10.8 μ A/cm² (from 29.9 ± 3.9 to 19.1 ± 3.6 μ A/cm², N=4),



Figure 2-2 Effect of UK 14,304 on I_{sc} in control and CF colonic epithelia

UK 14,304 (1 μ M, both sides) inhibited baseline I_{sc} in control but not in Δ F508 CF colonic epithelia. For comparison, the responses to forskolin (10 μ M, both sides) and furosemide (1 mM, basolateral) in control and CF tissues after UK 14,304 treatment are also shown. The data are representative of four different preparations from CF mice.

whereas in HCO₃⁻-free solution it was inhibited by 41.6 μ A/cm² (from 81.3 ± 5.8 to 39.7 ± 4.0 μ A/cm², N=13). Despite the marked differences in the baseline I_{sc} in these solutions, the relative effect of UK 14,304 in KH and HCO₃⁻-free solutions was similar (52% vs. 51%), but significantly reduced in Cl⁻-free solution (~33%). This suggests that UK 14,304 affects mainly Cl⁻ secretion in colonic epithelia.

A direct way to show that UK 14,304 inhibits Cl⁻ secretion is to measure chloride movement using ³⁶Cl⁻. Chloride fluxes were measured in both the basolateral to apical and in the apical to basolateral directions. The change in chloride movement in each direction in response to UK 14,304 (1 μ M, both sides) was calculated from the specific activity and expressed as a percentage of the I_{sc} response to UK 14,304, obtained by integrating the area under the I_{sc}-time record. The experiments were unpaired, that is each preparation was used to measure flux in only one direction. The results of these studies show that UK 14,304 decreased Cl⁻ flux in the basolateral to apical direction, and significantly increased Cl⁻ backflux (Fig. 2•3). In all experiments, amiloride (10 μ M) and BaCl₂ (5 mM) were present in the apical compartment to inhibit Na⁺ absorption and K⁺ secretion, respectively, as described earlier (Duszyk et al., 2001). Overall, the net flux decreased by 0.44 μ Eq cm⁻²h⁻¹, which corresponded to 96% of that predicted by the I_{sc}.

$\alpha_2 ARs$ control basolateral K_{ATP} channels

Chloride flux measurements and the fact that UK 14,304 has no effect on I_{sc} in CF epithelia indicate that α_2ARs regulate CFTR-mediated Cl⁻ secretion. Primary control of transepithelial anion secretion occurs at the level of apical anion channels as well as basolateral Na⁺/K⁺-ATPases, Na⁺/K⁺/2Cl⁻ cotransporters and K⁺ channels. Each of these



Figure 2.3 Effect of UK 14,304 on Cl fluxes

Unidirectional and net CI⁻ fluxes are shown before and after addition of UK 14,304 (1 μ M, both sides). Under baseline conditions the basolateral-to-apical (J_{BA}) and the apical-to-basolateral (J_{AB}) fluxes were approximately equal, resulting in a lack of net CI⁻ flux (J_{NET}). UK 14,304 decreased J_{BA} and increased J_{AB} (N=6 in each direction). In all experiments, amiloride (10 μ M) and BaCl₂ (5 mM) were present in the apical compartment to inhibit Na⁺ absorption and K⁺ secretion, respectively. *P<0.05, **P<0.01

components could be a target for transport modulation. The effects of α_2AR activation on CFTR CI⁻ channel function were evaluated by measuring forskolin-activated I_{sc}. Forskolin (10 µM, both sides) increased I_{sc} from 39.2 ± 4.5 to 264.6 ± 2.7 µA/cm², N=6. Subsequent application of UK 14,304 reduced I_{sc} by 24.3 ± 8.1 µA/cm². Under baseline conditions UK 14,304 reduced the I_{sc} from 36.8 ± 4.1 to 19.9 ± 2.4 µA/cm², and subsequent application of forskolin increased I_{sc} by 216.8 ± 7.8 µA/cm² (N=6). Statistical analysis of these data indicated that UK 14,304 had similar effects on the baseline and forskolin-activated I_{sc} (P>0.05).

An inhibitor of the basolateral Na⁺/K⁺/2Cl⁻ cotransporter, furosemide (1 mM), reduced forskolin-activated I_{sc} by ~65%, but had no significant effect on the baseline current ($\Delta I_{sc} = -3.8 \pm 4.1 \mu A/cm^2$, N=6, P>0.05 paired Student's *t*-test). In the presence of furosemide, UK 14,304 reduced the I_{sc} by 19.8 ± 3.9 $\mu A/cm^2$ (N=4), which is not significantly different from experiments under control conditions. Similar results were obtained with another inhibitor of the basolateral Na⁺/K⁺/2Cl⁻ cotransporter, bumetanide (10 μ M, N=6, data not shown). These results indicate that α_2 ARs do not affect Na⁺/K⁺/2Cl⁻ cotransporter function in mouse colonic epithelia.

The effect of α_2ARs on basolateral K⁺ channels was assessed in the presence of ouabain (100 μ M, basolateral side) to inhibit the Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase, and with the use of the ionophore nystatin in order to bypass the apical membrane (Fig. 2•4A). In the presence of an apical to basolateral directed K⁺ gradient, nystatin (90 μ g/ml, apical side) evoked a strong increase in I_{sc}, which rose to a peak value of 325.6 ± 59.8 μ A/cm² (N=4). When the tissue was pretreated with UK 14,304 (1 μ M, both sides) the effect of nystatin was decreased by about half, i.e. the increase in I_{sc} amounted to only 151.6 ± 26.3 μ A/cm²



Figure 2-4 Effect of UK 14,304 on nystatin-stimulated I_{sc}

A. Epithelia, pre-treated with ouabain (100 μ M, basolateral), were subjected to an apical-tobasolateral K⁺ gradient and nystatin (90 μ g/ml, apical) was added at the time indicated. B. In the absence of a K⁺ gradient, i.e. with standard KH solution on both sides, apical nystatin produced a similar increase in I_{se} in the absence and presence of UK 14,304 (1 μ M, both sides). The effect of nystatin was abolished in the presence of ouabain (100 μ M, basolateral), indicating that the nystatin-induced current in the absence of a K⁺ gradient is caused by the Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase. Furthermore, UK 14,304 does not affect Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase activity. The data are shown as means ± SE from 4 to 7 different experiments. The insets show the direction of K⁺ gradients. (N=4). The effect of UK 14,304 on Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase activity was investigated in the absence of a K⁺ gradient, i.e. with standard KH solution on both sides of the tissue (Fig. 2•4B). Nystatin increased I_{sc} by 108.6 ±16.9 μ A/cm², and 99.5 ± 10.3 μ A/cm² in the absence and presence of UK 14,304 (1 μ M, both sides), respectively (N=4 in both sets, P>0.05, Student's *t*-test). The effect of nystatin was abolished in the presence of basolateral ouabain (100 μ M), indicating that the nystatin-induced current in the absence of a K⁺ gradient is caused by the Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase. Thus, these experiments demonstrate that UK 14,304 inhibits basolateral K⁺ channels but not the Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase. Further experiments were designed to identify the K⁺ channels inhibited by α_2 ARs.

At least four biophysically and pharmacologically distinct types of K⁺ channels contribute to the basolateral K⁺ conductance: a cAMP-activated K⁺ channel (KCNQ1), an intermediate conductance Ca²⁺-activated K⁺ channel (IK-1), a large conductance Ca²⁺activated K⁺ channel (BK), and ATP-dependent K⁺ channels (K_{ATP}). The KCNQ1 channel can be specifically blocked by the cognitive enhancer XE991 (39), the IK-1 channel - by an antifungal antibiotic, clotrimazole, the BK channel - by charybdotoxin or TPA, and the K_{ATP} channel - by tolbutamide (27). We used the above-mentioned blockers to identify K⁺ channels inhibited by α_2 ARs. We found that XE991 (30 µM, N=4), clotrimazole (50 µM, N=6), TPA (100 µM, N=5), and charybdotoxin (50 nM, N=4), did not affect I_{sc} inhibition by UK 14,304. However, in the presence of tolbutamide (100 µM), I_{sc} inhibition by UK 14,304 was reduced by 46.2 ± 5.4% (N=8), suggesting the involvement of K_{ATP} channels. In another study we used the specific K_{ATP} opener, diazoxide (300 µM), to study its effects on I_{sc} inhibition by α_2 AR agonists. Diazoxide increased I_{sc} by 15.2 ± 2.8 and by 82.5 ± 10.4 µA/cm², in KH and HCO₃⁻ free solutions, respectively (N=4). The diazoxide-activated I_{sc} could be completely inhibited by UK 14,304, confirming the critical role of K_{ATP} channels in inhibition of anion secretion by α_2ARs (Fig. 2.5).

 K_{ATP} channels are heteromultimers composed of inwardly rectifying $K^{\text{+}}$ channel subunits (Kir6.x) and sulforylurea receptors (SURs) that associate in a 4:4 stoichiometry to form an octameric unit. Glibenclamide has been shown to inhibit KATP channels containing the SUR1 isoform at nanomolar concentrations, whereas inhibition of channels containing either SUR2A or SUR2B subunits required significantly higher concentrations (28). We found that glibenclamide (200 nM, basolateral) changed the baseline current from 32.7 \pm 5.8 to 29.9 \pm 4.0 μ A/cm² (N=6, P>0.05, paired Student's *t*test), indicating that the KATP channel in mouse colonic epithelium does not contain the SUR1 isoform. We have not used glibenclamide at higher concentrations, where this chemical is also known to inhibit CFTR. However, it has recently been shown that the sulphonylurea derivative HMR 1098 is a selective inhibitor of KATP channels containing the SUR2A subunit (26). We used this chemical to investigate the composition of K_{ATP} channels in mouse colonic epithelia. HMR 1098 (20 µM, basolateral) changed the baseline I_{sc} from 35.2 ± 9.9 to $33.8 \pm 7.8 \ \mu\text{A/cm}^2$ (N=6, P>0.05, paired Student's *t*-test), indicating that epithelial KATP channels do not contain the SUR2A isoform. This result is consistent with Isc activation by diazoxide, which is known to activate KATP channels, containing SUR1 or SUR2B but not SUR2A subunits (1:25).

Further identification of the epithelial K_{ATP} channel composition was performed using RT-PCR studies. Figure 2-6 shows the presence of Kir6.1, Kir6.2, SUR1 and SUR2B in mouse colonic epithelia. SUR2A mRNA was not detected.



Figure 2.5 Activation and inhibition of K_{ATP} channels in colonic epithelia

Diazoxide (300 μ M, basolateral) causes a strong activation in I_{sc}, which is completely inhibited by UK 14,304 (1 μ M, both sides). The data show average responses (mean ± SE) from four experiments in HCO₃⁻ free solution.



Figure 2.6 Expression of K_{ATP} channel subunits in murine colonic epithelial cells

RT-PCR experiments show the expression of Kir6.1, Kir6.2, SUR1, and SUR2B but not SUR2A mRNAs. The marker lane contains a 100 bp ladder, with the characteristic thick band corresponding to 600 bp. The identity of PCR products was confirmed by sequencing.

$\alpha_2 ARs$ inhibit anion secretion by activating $G_{i/o}$ proteins

In many cell types, α_2ARs transduce their signal through pertussis-toxin (PTX) sensitive G_{i/o} proteins. In order to investigate their role in inhibition of CI secretion by α_2ARs , epithelia were incubated with PTX (500 ng/ml, 2 hours) before application of UK 14,304. In two mouse colon preparations PTX completely prevented I_{sc} inhibition by UK 14,304 (1 μ M, both sides). However, in three other preparations less than 45% of the UK 14,304 response was reduced by PTX. The reason(s) for this considerable variability between animals, which have been maintained under the same conditions and are otherwise normal, is not certain. Overall, UK 14,304 reduced the I_{sc} by 5.2 ± 1.6 μ A/cm² (N=14) after PTX treatment. This indicates that more than 75 % of the UK 14,304 response is sensitive to PTX.

Studies with cultured human colonic epithelial cells have shown that both cAMP and Ca^{2+} signaling pathways mediate inhibition of CI⁻ secretion by α_2ARs (20;40). Therefore, we used radioimmunoassay to measure cyclic AMP concentrations following exposure of colonic epithelia to either UK 14,304 or to forskolin in the presence or absence of isobutylmethylxanthine (IBMX). The cyclic AMP content of the epithelial tissue plus that released into the medium were measured. We found that UK 14,304 had no significant effect on the intracellular level of cAMP in mouse colonic epithelium (Fig. 2•7A). To measure if α_2ARs affected $[Ca^{2+}]_i$, we used Fura-2 as a reporting molecule and challenged isolated colonic cells with UK 14,304 or ionomycin (Fig. 2•7B). UK 14,304 treatment changed $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ from 242.8 ± 57.1 nM to 251.2 ± 53.2 nM (N=6 mice, P>0.05, paired Student's *t*-test). Subsequent application of ionomycin increased $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ to 754.8 ± 171.3 nM.



Figure 2-7 cAMP and intracellular Ca²⁺ are not involved in the signal transduction pathway activated by UK 14,304

A: The amount of cAMP refers to that present in the tissue and that lost into the medium under basal conditions, during UK 14,304 (1 μ M) exposure, or during forskolin (10 μ M) exposure, in the presence or absence of IBMX (100 μ M). Forskolin was used as a positive control. Values are means of 4 triplicate measurements ± SE. B: UK 14,304 (1 μ M) has no effect on [Ca²⁺]_i. Ionomycin (10 μ M) was used as a positive control. The data are representative of six different preparations. *P<0.05 single-tail Student's *t*-test, compared with the basal values.

DISCUSSION

Earlier studies have shown that human intestinal mucosa possessed the highest α_2AR density in the proximal colon, and that their number decreased gradually towards the distal section (36). Our study shows that α_2AR agonists inhibited Cl⁻ secretion with the greatest potency in the proximal section, suggesting a similar gradient of α_2AR distribution in the mouse colon.

The α_2AR family is comprised of three subtypes of receptors, α_{2A} , α_{2B} and α_{2C} , encoded by distinct genes (17). The rodent $\alpha_{2A}AR$ differs pharmacologically from the human $\alpha_{2A}AR$, and is sometimes called $\alpha_{2D}AR$ (5). Studies of α_2AR subtype tissue distribution have shown that intestinal epithelia express $\alpha_{2A}AR$ but not $\alpha_{2B}AR$ or $\alpha_{2C}AR$ (29;36). These receptors are present in the basolateral membrane of colonic epithelial cells (36). The α_2ARs have differential sensitivity to prazosin: $\alpha_{2A}AR$ are insensitive (K_i > 300 nM), $\alpha_{2B}AR$ are very sensitive (K_i = 5 nM), and $\alpha_{2C}AR$ have an intermediate sensitivity (K_i = 15-36 nM) (4). The fact that in our studies prazosin did not affect I_{sc} inhibition by UK 14,304 supports the conclusion that $\alpha_{2A}ARs$ mediate the effects of UK 14,304 in colonic epithelial cells.

Experiments with CF mice, Cl⁻ flux measurements, and ion replacement studies indicated that in mouse colonic epithelium α_2ARs inhibit transepithelial Cl⁻ secretion. Other studies have shown that α_2AR agonists inhibit cAMP-dependent Cl⁻ secretion in human colon (20) and rat jejunum (38), but activate K⁺ secretion in rat colon via Ca²⁺dependent pathways (21;30). This indicates that the effect of α_2AR activation varies amongst species and tissues and may involve activation of different targets and signal transduction pathways. Intestinal Cl⁻ secretion depends on the coordinated activity of apical Cl⁻ channels as well as basolateral Na⁺/K⁺/2Cl⁻ cotransporters, Na⁺/K⁺-ATPases and K⁺ channels. Inhibition of one of these transport mechanisms leads to the inhibition of Cl⁻ secretion. Our data show that in mouse colon α_2 ARs affect Cl⁻ secretion by inhibiting basolateral K_{ATP} channels, in a process that likely requires activation of G_{i/o} proteins, but does not involve intracellular second messengers such as cAMP and Ca²⁺.

A number of K⁺ channels have been identified on the basolateral membrane of mammalian colon (2). Interestingly, our studies show that, of these, only K_{ATP} channels are affected by α_2 ARs. These channels are constitutively active, since their blockers inhibit baseline Isc by more than 50%. KATP channels are heteromultimers composed of inwardly rectifying K⁺ channel subunits (Kir6.x) and sulfonylurea receptors (SURs) that associate in a 4:4 stoichiometry to form an octameric K_{ATP} channel (1). Various combinations of these two subunits convey the heterogeneity in channel properties observed in native cells such as Kir6.2/SUR1 in pancreatic β -cells and neural tissue, Kir6.2/SUR2A in cardiac and skeletal muscles, and Kir6.1/SUR2B or Kir6.2/SUR2B in vascular smooth muscle (1). RT-PCR experiments and pharmacological studies have shown that colonic epithelial cells do not express the SUR2A subunit, and the lack of sensitivity to glibenclamide suggests that the epithelial KATP channel complex does not contain SUR1. Thus, KATP channels in colonic epithelia are likely to be similar to vascular smooth muscle KATP channels, composed of SUR2B and either Kir6.1 or Kir6.2 subunits.

 α_2 ARs are members of the G protein-coupled receptor superfamily that interact primarily with G_{i/o} proteins (6). Most (but not all) physiological signaling pathways

linked to α_2AR activation involve these PTX-sensitive G-proteins. For example, $\alpha_{2A}ARs$ were shown to inhibit adenylyl cyclase upon stimulation by UK 14,304 in a PTX-resistant manner (41), and to have the potential to couple physically and functionally to other G proteins (11). In addition, during the past few years several reports have described various physiological consequences of GPCR stimulation that were not mediated by G protein activation (for review see (18)). In our experiments, pretreatment of cells with PTX reduced I_{sc} inhibition by α_2AR agonists by ~75%. This suggests that interaction with G_{i/o} proteins is an integral part of α_2AR function in colonic epithelium, but does not exclude a possibility that some effects of α_2AR activation could be mediated via a G_{i/o} protein-independent pathway.

The regulation of K_{ATP} channels by $G_{i/o}$ proteins has been demonstrated by several authors (13;22;24). These studies showed that PTX-sensitive $G_{i/o}$ proteins activated K_{ATP} channels in pancreatic cells (13), cardiac myocytes (24), and neurons (14). Interestingly, our data show that in murine colonic epithelium activation of $G_{i/o}$ proteins by α_2ARs inhibits K_{ATP} channels. This result is consistent with studies showing that α_2ARs inhibit Cl⁻ secretion via activation of PTX-sensitive G proteins (40), and that blockers of K_{ATP} channels reduced anion secretion in human colonic epithelial cells (27).

ATP inhibits K_{ATP} channels with IC₅₀ values generally in the low micromolar range, 5 – 20 μ M (1). Since the intracellular ATP concentration in most cells lies between 3 and 7 mM, it may be argued that K_{ATP} channels should never be open under ATP-rich, physiological conditions. Interestingly, our data show that K_{ATP} channels are tonically active in the colonic epithelium. This fact suggests that other regulatory mechanisms are involved in the control of K_{ATP} channel activity. One such mechanism may involve increased levels of MgADP, which has been shown to activate K^+ channels inhibited by ATP (9;23). Another mechanism may involve phosphatidylinositol phosphates, which facilitate channel activity in the presence of ATP by antagonizing the ATP-induced channel inhibition (3;32). In addition, there is significant evidence that supports the existence of subcellular compartmentalization in different cells (33). This suggests that not all ATP could gain access to K_{ATP} channels, limiting effective ATP concentration in the vicinity of the channel.

In conclusion, our results provide new insights into the mechanisms of α_2AR regulation of anion secretion. We have shown that α_2ARs inhibit anion secretion in colonic epithelia by acting on basolateral K_{ATP} channels, through a process that does not involve classical second messengers, such as cAMP or Ca²⁺. This type of regulation may be of clinical and pharmacological relevance in understanding the molecular mechanisms of diseases characterized by abnormal intestinal secretion.

REFERENCES

- 1. Aguilar-Bryan, L. and J. Bryan. Molecular biology of adenosine triphosphatesensitive potassium channels. *Endocr. Rev.* 20: 101-135, 1999.
- 2. Barrett, K. E. and S. J. Keely. Chloride secretion by the intestinal epithelium: molecular basis and regulatory aspects. *Annu. Rev. Physiol.* 62: 535-572, 2000.
- Baukrowitz, T., U. Schulte, D. Oliver, S. Herlitze, T. Krauter, S. J. Tucker, J. P. Ruppersberg, and B. Fakler. PIP₂ and PIP as determinants for ATP inhibition of K_{ATP} channels. *Science* 282: 1141-1144, 1998.
- Blaxall, H. S., T. J. Murphy, J. C. Baker, C. Ray, and D. B. Bylund. Characterization of the α_{2C} adrenergic receptor subtype in the opossum kidney and in the OK cell line. *J.Pharmacol.Exp.Ther.* 259: 323-329, 1991.

- Bylund, D. B., D. C. Eikenberg, J. P. Hieble, S. Z. Langer, R. J. Lefkowitz, K. P. Minneman, P. B. Molinoff, R. R. Ruffolo, Jr., and U. Trendelenburg. International Union of Pharmacology nomenclature of adrenoceptors. *Pharmacol.Rev.* 46: 121-136, 1994.
- Cotecchia, S., B. K. Kobilka, K. W. Daniel, R. D. Nolan, E. Y. Lapetina, M. G. Caron, R. J. Lefkowitz, and J. W. Regan. Multiple second messenger pathways of α-adrenergic receptor subtypes expressed in eukaryotic cells. *J.Biol.Chem.* 265: 63-69, 1990.
- 7. Cuthbert, A. W., M. E. Hickman, and L. J. MacVinish. Formal analysis of electrogenic sodium, potassium, chloride and bicarbonate transport in mouse colon epithelium. *Br.J.Pharmacol.* 126: 358-364, 1999.
- Cuthbert, A. W., M. E. Hickman, P. Thorn, and L. J. MacVinish. Activation of Ca²⁺- and cAMP-sensitive K⁺ channels in murine colonic epithelia by 1-ethyl-2benzimidazolone. *Am.J. Physiol.* 277: C111-C120, 1999.
- 9. Dunne, M. J. and O. H. Petersen. Intracellular ADP activates K⁺ channels that are inhibited by ATP in an insulin-secreting cell line. *FEBS Lett.* 208: 59-62, 1986.
- 10. Duszyk, M., L. MacVinish, and A. W. Cuthbert. Phenanthrolines--a new class of CFTR chloride channel openers. *Br.J.Pharmacol.* 134: 853-864, 2001.
- 11. Eason, M. G., H. Kurose, B. D. Holt, J. R. Raymond, and S. B. Liggett. Simultaneous coupling of α_2 -adrenergic receptors to two G-proteins with opposing effects. Subtype-selective coupling of α_2 C10, α_2 C4, and α_2 C2 adrenergic receptors to G_i and G_s. J.Biol.Chem. 267: 15795-15801, 1992.
- 12. Fondacaro, J. D., D. Kolpak, and G. P. McCafferty. Selective α_2 adrenoceptor agonists alter fluid and electrolyte transport in mammalian small intestine. *J.Pharmacol.Exp.Ther.* 247: 481-486, 1988.
- Fosset, M., H. Schmid-Antomarchi, J. R. de Weille, and M. Lazdunski. Somatostatin activates glibenclamide-sensitive and ATP-regulated K⁺ channels in insulinoma cells via a G-protein. *FEBS Lett.* 242: 94-96, 1988.

- 14. Galeotti, N., C. Ghelardini, M. C. Vinci, and A. Bartolini. Role of potassium channels in the antinociception induced by agonists of α_2 -adrenoceptors. *Br.J.Pharmacol.* 126: 1214-1220, 1999.
- 15. Graham, R. M., R. Neubig, and K. R. Lynch. α₂-adrenoceptors take centre stage at Nashville meeting. *Trends Pharmacol.Sci.* 17: 90-94, 1996.
- 16. Grynkiewicz, G., M. Poenie, and R. Y. Tsien. A new generation of Ca²⁺ indicators with greatly improved fluorescence properties. *J. Biol. Chem.* 260: 3440-3450, 1985.
- 17. Guimaraes, S. and D. Moura. Vascular adrenoceptors: an update. *Pharmacol.Rev.* 53: 319-356, 2001.
- 18. Hall, R. A., R. T. Premont, and R. J. Lefkowitz. Heptahelical receptor signaling: beyond the G protein paradigm. *J.Cell Biol.* 145: 927-932, 1999.
- 19. Harper, J. F. and G. Brooker. Femtomole sensitive radioimmunoassay for cyclic AMP and cyclic GMP after 2'0 acetylation by acetic anhydride in aqueous solution. *J.Cyclic.Nucleotide.Res.* 1: 207-218, 1975.
- 20. Holliday, N. D., I. R. Tough, and H. M. Cox. Inhibition of cyclic AMP-dependent chloride secretion by PP receptors and α_2 -adrenoceptors in a human colonic epithelial cell line. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch.Pharmacol.* 355: 183-189, 1997.
- 21. Horger, S., G. Schultheiss, and M. Diener. Segment-specific effects of epinephrine on ion transport in the colon of the rat. *Am.J.Physiol.* 275: G1367-G1376, 1998.
- Ishizaka, H., S. R. Gudi, J. A. Frangos, and L. Kuo. Coronary arteriolar dilation to acidosis: role of ATP-sensitive potassium channels and pertussis toxin-sensitive G proteins. *Circulation* 99: 558-563, 1999.
- Kakei, M., R. P. Kelly, S. J. Ashcroft, and F. M. Ashcroft. The ATP-sensitivity of K⁺ channels in rat pancreatic B-cells is modulated by ADP. *FEBS Lett.* 208: 63-66, 1986.
- 24. Kirsch, G. E., J. Codina, L. Birnbaumer, and A. M. Brown. Coupling of ATPsensitive K⁺ channels to A₁ receptors by G proteins in rat ventricular myocytes. *Am.J.Physiol.* 259: H820-H826, 1990.

- Koh, S. D., K. K. Bradley, M. G. Rae, K. D. Keef, B. Horowitz, and K. M. Sanders. Basal activation of ATP-sensitive potassium channels in murine colonic smooth muscle cell. *Biophys.J.* 75: 1793-1800, 1998.
- Manning Fox, J. E., H. D. Kanji, R. J. French, and P. E. Light. Cardioselectivity of the sulphonylurea HMR 1098: studies on native and recombinant cardiac and pancreatic K_{ATP} channels. *Br.J.Pharmacol.* 135: 480-488, 2002.
- McNamara, B., D. C. Winter, J. E. Cuffe, G. C. O'Sullivan, and B. J. Harvey. Basolateral K⁺ channel involvement in forskolin-activated chloride secretion in human colon. *J. Physiol.* 519 (Pt 1): 251-260, 1999.
- Russ, U., U. Lange, C. Loffler-Walz, A. Hambrock, and U. Quast. Interaction of the sulfonylthiourea HMR 1833 with sulfonylurea receptors and recombinant ATPsensitive K⁺ channels: comparison with glibenclamide. *J.Pharmacol.Exp.Ther.* 299: 1049-1055, 2001.
- 29. Saunders, C. and L. E. Limbird. Localization and trafficking of α_2 -adrenergic receptor subtypes in cells and tissues. *Pharmacol.Ther.* 84: 193-205, 1999.
- 30. Schultheiss, G. and M. Diener. Adrenoceptor-mediated secretion across the rat colonic epithelium. *Eur.J.Pharmacol.* 403: 251-258, 2000.
- 31. Schultz, B. D., A. K. Singh, D. C. Devor, and R. J. Bridges. Pharmacology of CFTR chloride channel activity. *Physiol.Rev.* 79: S109-S144, 1999.
- Shyng, S. L. and C. G. Nichols. Membrane phospholipid control of nucleotide sensitivity of K_{ATP} channels. *Science* 282: 1138-1141, 1998.
- 33. Steinberg, S. F. and L. L. Brunton. Compartmentation of G protein-coupled signaling pathways in cardiac myocytes. *Annu.Rev.Pharmacol.Toxicol.* 41: 751-773, 2001.
- Tarran, R., M. A. Gray, M. J. Evans, W. H. Colledge, R. Ratcliff, and B. E. Argent. Basal chloride currents in murine airway epithelial cells: modulation by CFTR. *Am.J.Physiol.* 274: C904-C913, 1998.
- 35. Tse, F. W. and A. Tse. Stimulation of Ca²⁺-independent exocytosis in rat pituitary gonadotrophs by G-protein. *J.Physiol.* 526 (Pt 1): 99-108, 2000.

- Valet, P., J. M. Senard, J. C. Devedjian, V. Planat, R. Salomon, T. Voisin, G. Drean, A. Couvineau, D. Daviaud, C. Denis, and . Characterization and distribution of α₂-adrenergic receptors in the human intestinal mucosa. *J.Clin.Invest.* 91: 2049-2057, 1993.
- 37. Vieira-Coelho, M. A. and P. Soares-da-Silva. Dopamine formation, from its immediate precursor 3,4-dihydroxyphenylalanine, along the rat digestive tract. *Fundam.Clin.Pharmacol.* 7: 235-243, 1993.
- 38. Vieira-Coelho, M. A. and P. Soares-da-Silva. α_2 -adrenoceptors mediate the effect of dopamine on adult rat jejunal electrolyte transport. *Eur.J.Pharmacol.* 356: 59-65, 1998.
- Wang, H. S., B. S. Brown, D. McKinnon, and I. S. Cohen. Molecular basis for differential sensitivity of KCNQ and I_{Ks} channels to the cognitive enhancer XE991. *Mol.Pharmacol.* 57: 1218-1223, 2000.
- Warhurst, G., L. A. Turnberg, N. B. Higgs, A. Tonge, J. Grundy, and K. E. Fogg. Multiple G-protein-dependent pathways mediate the antisecretory effects of somatostatin and clonidine in the HT29-19A colonic cell line. *J.Clin.Invest.* 92: 603-611, 1993.
- 41. Wong, Y. H., B. R. Conklin, and H. R. Bourne. Gz-mediated hormonal inhibition of cyclic AMP accumulation. *Science* 255: 339-342, 1992.
- Zeiher, B. G., E. Eichwald, J. Zabner, J. J. Smith, A. P. Puga, P. B. McCray, Jr., M. R. Capecchi, M. J. Welsh, and K. R. Thomas. A mouse model for the ΔF508 allele of cystic fibrosis. *J. Clin. Invest.* 96: 2051-2064, 1995.

CHAPTER 3

Membrane cholesterol content modulates activation of BK channels in colonic epithelia

This chapter was published in 2004:

Lam, RS; Shaw, AR; Duszyk, M. (2004) Membrane cholesterol content modulates activation of BK channels in colonic epithelia. *Biophysica et Biochimica Acta* - *Biomembranes* 1667(2): 241-248.

INTRODUCTION

The plasma membrane of eukaryotic cells contains a far greater variety of lipid species than is required to form a lipid bilayer, suggesting that lipids play a unique and determining role in membrane organization (6). In recent years studies on lipid biophysics, protein sorting and detergent solubility have converged to support the concept that lipids are not homogeneously distributed within the lipid bilayer but spontaneously aggregate to form microdomains enriched in cholesterol and sphingolipid (32;37). The physical characteristics of these microdomains or "lipid rafts" are proposed to preferentially admit and retain proteins modified by unsaturated long chain fatty acids while excluding the majority of transmembrane proteins (37;38). Thus by accumulating signaling molecules and selectively admitting transmembrane proteins, lipid rafts have the potential to compartmentalize signals within the plasma membrane (39). A potential problem with the lipid raft concept is that most of the evidence for the existence of lipid rafts derives from indirect approaches such as resistance to detergent extraction at subphysiological temperature, and the use of cholesterol-sequestering agents. This has led some investigators to question the existence of lipid rafts and to offer alternative explanations for the effect of modulating cholesterol and sphingolipids on cell function. For example, it was recently suggested that the major role of cholesterol and sphingolipids might be to regulate the permeability of the exofacial leaflet of the bilayer (28). Therefore, while there is consensus that lipids modify cellular functionality in reproducible ways, the mechanisms responsible have yet to be fully resolved.

In the last few years several reports have provided evidence that certain ion channels physically associate with the low-density detergent-insoluble microdomains that characterize lipid rafts. For example, both cardiac (42) and epithelial (16) Na⁺ channels were recovered within such fractions. Similarly, the voltage-gated K⁺ channels, Kv1.5 and Kv2.1 (but not channel Kv4.2) (25;26), and the large conductance Ca^{2+} -activated K⁺ (BK) channels (4) were observed within cholesterol-enriched microdomains. Associations with lipid rafts have been shown to involve the transport of Kir3.1/3.2 channels to the membrane (9), and to control the activities of both Cl⁻ (3) and Ca²⁺ (5) channels. Thus, although the functional implications of channel associations with plasma membrane microdomains are not well understood, there is growing evidence that these structures play an important role in the modulation of ion channel activity. The localization of ion channels within lipid rafts is an attractive concept, which would integrate ion channels into multi-component signaling complexes capable of generating localized signals in the plasma membrane.

The role of lipid rafts in intestinal epithelial cell function has been explored in several studies. Cholesterol-enriched microdomains were shown to play a role in cholesterol trafficking (10), and in apical exocytotic membrane trafficking in enterocytes (12;13). However, very little is known about the role of these microdomains in transepithelial anion transport. Chloride secretion in colonic epithelia drives water into the intestinal lumen, providing for the fluidity of intestinal contents (2). Either over-secretion or undersecretion of chloride can result in significant pathophysiological events, such as secretory diarrhea or cystic fibrosis, respectively. Therefore, significant efforts have been made to study anion secretion in order to understand the underlying mechanisms involved.

The aim of our study was to characterize the role of cholesterol-enriched microdomains in the regulation of transepithelial anion secretion. Using a combination of

biophysical, pharmacological and biochemical approaches we have investigated the role of cholesterol and plasma membrane microdomains in transepithelial anion secretion in colonic epithelia. Our studies show that lowering the cholesterol and sphingomyelin content of the basolateral plasma membrane leads to the activation of BK channels, to an increase in the detergent solubility of BK channels, and to the stimulation of transepithelial anion secretion. Our results therefore identify a novel cholesteroldependent mechanism of BK channel regulation operative in colonic epithelia. BK channels were not detected within conventional low-density detergent-insoluble microdomains, but were associated with a high-density detergent-insoluble pellet containing the cytoskeleton. Since BK channels and the raft associated protein caveolin both translocated into a high-density detergent-soluble phase on reducing cholesterol we propose that BK channels may be the first ion channel shown to associate with a cytoskeletally anchored lipid raft.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Epithelial cells

The colonic epithelia were from three different strains of mice: BALB/c, C57BL/6J and cystic fibrosis (CF) mice. The breeding colony of CF mice (B6.129S6-*Cftr^{tm1Kth}*, Jackson Laboratory, Bar Harbor, ME) was housed in a pathogen-free environment (Health Sciences Laboratory Animal Services, University of Alberta). All experiments were carried out with the approval of the Health Sciences Animal Policy and Welfare Committee, University of Alberta. Pups were weaned at 21 days of age, and genotyped as described previously (19). Mice were killed by CO₂ narcosis, and 6 cm-long pieces of colon were removed from ~2 cm below the caecum and immediately placed in cold Krebs-Henseleit solution (KHS) containing (mM): 116 NaCl, 4.7 KCl, 2.5 CaCl₂, 1.2 MgCl₂, 25 NaHCO₃, 1.2 KH₂PO₄, and 11.1 glucose, pH 7.4. The colons were opened up, the muscle layers dissected away and four pieces were mounted in Ussing chambers with a 0.2 cm^2 recording area.

Transepithelial measurements

Ussing chamber experiments were performed as described earlier (19). For basolateral membrane K⁺ current measurements, apical NaCl was replaced by equimolar potassium gluconate, while basolateral NaCl was substituted with sodium gluconate and the Ca²⁺ concentration was increased to 5 mM in both solutions, to compensate for the Ca²⁺-buffering capacity of gluconate. In addition, 100 μ M ouabain was added to the basolateral compartment to inhibit the Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase. Subsequent permeabilization of the apical membrane with nystatin (90 μ g/ml), allowed measurement of K⁺ current as these ions moved down their concentration gradient through basolateral K⁺ channels.

Lipid raft protein isolation and immunoblotting

Isolated epithelium was treated with or without 10 mM M β CD for 30 min (in KHS, bubbled with 95%O₂/5%CO₂) and then lysed in 1 ml of cold MES-buffered saline (25 mM MES, 150 mM NaCl, 5 mM Na₄P₂O₇·10H₂O, 1 mM NaVO₄, 2 mM NaF, pH 6.5, 1% (v/v) Triton X-100, 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride, and 10 µg/ml each of aprotinin, leupeptin, pepstatin) for 90 min at 4°C. The lysate (containing 200 µg of protein) was loaded with an equal volume of 90% sucrose and overlaid with 30% and 5% sucrose.

Centrifugation was performed at 165,000 RCF (relative centrifugal force) for 18 hours at 4°C in a Beckman SW60Ti rotor. Starting from the top of the gradient 9 fractions, including the pellet, were collected and separated by SDS-PAGE (5-20% gradient gel). The proteins were transferred to nitrocellulose membranes incubated with 5% (w/v) non-fat milk powder in phosphate-buffered saline plus Tween 20 (PBST: 137 mM NaCl, 2.68 mM KCl, 8.1 mM Na₂HPO₄, 1.47 mM KH₂PO₄, 0.05% (v/v) Tween 20, pH 7.2), washed and incubated with polyclonal rabbit antibodies against the BK channel α subunit (Chemicon International, Temecula, CA) diluted 1:500, or with polyclonal rabbit antibodies against caveolin-1 (Santa Cruz Biotech., Santa Cruz, CA) diluted 1:200. The membranes were incubated with 1:10,000 peroxidase-conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG (H+L, Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratory, West Grove, PA) and then washed in PBST. Detection was carried out using the ECL kit (Amersham Biosciences, Buckinghamshire, England) and HyperfilmTM (Amersham Biosciences).

Chemicals

Amiloride (10 mM), BaCl₂ (500 mM), ouabain (10 mM) and tetrapentylammonium chloride (TPeA, 100 mM) were dissolved in H₂O, methyl- β -cyclodextrin (M β CD) and mannitol (80 mM) in KHS, diphenylamine-2-carboxylate (DPC, 1 M) and pimaric acid (10 mM, a generous gift from J. Clay, Helix Biotech, New Westminster, BC) in dimethyl sulphoxide (DMSO). Furosemide (100 mM) was prepared in H₂O with a drop of 1N NaOH, charybdotoxin (10 μ M) in KHS containing 0.1% BSA. Bumetanide, ceramide, clotrimazole, and tolbutamide were made as at least 1,000-fold stock solutions in ethanol. Filipin (10 mg/ml in methanol) and nystatin (90 mg/ml in DMSO) were prepared fresh

before each experiment. XE991 (10 mM, a generous gift from Dr. B.S. Brown, DuPont, Wilmington, DE) was dissolved in 0.1 N HCl. BaCl₂ and mannitol were from Fisher Scientific (Fair Lawn, NJ), all other chemicals were from Sigma-Aldrich.

Statistical analysis

Data are expressed as means \pm SE with the number of preparations used (N). Statistical difference was determined by Student's *t*-test or one-way ANOVA. Values of P<0.05 were considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Basolateral lipid rafts affect anion secretion in colonic epithelia

The cyclic oligosaccharide methyl- β -cyclodextrin (M β CD) is a membrane impermeable molecule that selectively and rapidly extracts cholesterol from the plasma membrane. We applied M β CD to either the apical or basolateral side of epithelial cell sheets from colonic epithelia and measured the effect on transepithelial short-circuit current (I_{sc}). Figure 3•1A shows that in KHS, apical M β CD (10 mM, N=11) had no significant effect on I_{sc} for at least 30 min (P>0.05, Student's *t*-test). In contrast, basolateral M β CD (10 mM, N=38) produced a biphasic I_{sc} response, with an initial peak followed by an elevated plateau. When M β CD was added unilaterally, mannitol (10 mM) was added to the opposite side to compensate for changes in osmotic pressure. Mannitol by itself had no effect on I_{sc} (N=9, P>0.05). Bilateral M β CD produced a change in I_{sc} that was identical to that caused by basolateral M β CD (N=8). M β CD had no effect on transepithelial resistance for at least 90 min (P>0.05, paired Student's *t*-test, N=12),



Figure 3.1 The effects of MBCD, filipin and sphingomyelinase on I.

A: Basolateral M β CD (10 mM, N=38) produced a biphasic I_{sc} response, with an initial increase followed by a plateau that was attained after ~ 20 min. Apical M β CD (N=11) had no significant effect on I_{sc} for at least 30 min. Both filipin (B, 10µg/ml, N=8) and neutral sphingomyelinase (C, 1.6 U/ml, N=6) activated I_{sc} from the basolateral side only. The product of sphingomyelinase metabolism, ceramide (10 µg/ml, both sides) had no effect on I_{sc} (N=6, P>0.05, Student's *t*-test). In all experiments, 10 µM amiloride was present in the apical compartment to inhibit Na⁺ channels.

indicating that this treatment does not affect the paracellular pathway. Similarly, it did not affect cell viability, since the relative I_{sc} activated by the cAMP- or Ca²⁺-dependent secretagogues (10 μ M forskolin and 100 μ M carbachol, respectively) was not altered by M β CD treatment (10 mM, basolateral, 90 min; Table 3•1). Moreover, tetrodotoxin (5 μ M, data not shown) did not affect the response to basolateral M β CD, ruling out the contribution of residual neural activity. The effect of M β CD was also not affected by the presence of the epithelial Na⁺ channel (ENaC) blocker, amiloride (10 μ M, N=12, P>0.05). Therefore, all subsequent experiments were performed with amiloride in the apical compartment to inhibit ENaC-mediated Na⁺ absorption.

Filipin is a cholesterol-binding reagent that is frequently used in lipid raft studies. We found that apical filipin (10 μ g/ml, N=4) had no effect on the baseline I_{sc} (Fig. 3•1B). However, basolateral filipin (N=8) increased I_{sc} similarly to M β CD, although the peak was broader and the plateau level was attained at higher I_{sc} (Fig. 3•1B).

Lipid raft integrity depends on the presence of both cholesterol and sphingomyelin. We reasoned that treating cells with sphingomyelinase would alter raft structure or composition and affect ion flux mediated by these domains, if they were involved in this process. Apical sphingomyelinase (1.6 U/ml) had no effect on the baseline I_{sc} (N=4), but basolateral sphingomyelinase produced a change in I_{sc} that was qualitatively similar to the effects of M β CD and filipin (Fig. 3•1C). One of the products of sphingomyelinase action is ceramide. Therefore, we applied ceramide (10 µg/ml, both sides) to investigate if the effect of sphingomyelinase could be related to ceramide production. Figure 3•1C shows that ceramide had no effect on I_{sc} (N=6, P>0.05, Student's *t*-test). The fact that three dissimilar treatments that affect lipid raft integrity produced qualitatively similar

Table 3-1

	Control	N	MβCD (10 mM)	N
	$\Delta I_{sc} (\mu A/cm^2)$		$\Delta I_{sc} (\mu A/cm^2)$	
Forskolin	322.4 ± 9.6	13	326.8 ± 16.0	7
(10 µM, bilateral)				
Carbachol	183.0 ± 10.6	15	182.4 ± 16.7	10
(100 µM, basolateral)				
<u> </u>				

 I_{sc} activated by forskolin and carbachol under control and M β CD-pretreated conditions

N - number of experiments

effects on I_{sc} , suggests that these microdomains are involved in the regulation of ion transport in epithelial cells.

Lipid raft disruption affects CFTR-mediated anion secretion

In order to identify the current affected by cholesterol depletion, we used colonic epithelium from Δ F508CFTR mice. Figure 3·2A shows that M β CD has no significant effect on I_{sc} in CF mice (N=6). Similarly, the CFTR Cl⁻ channel blocker, DPC (0.5 mM, apical, N=8), significantly inhibited I_{sc} activation by M β CD. These experiments indicate that disruption of lipid rafts affects CFTR-mediated anion secretion.

Anion secretion in epithelial cells is coordinated by a network of ion channels, transporters, and energy-dependent pumps that are selectively expressed in the apical or basolateral aspects of the epithelium. Since M β CD, filipin and sphingomyelinase affected I_{sc} from the basolateral side only, we focused on this side to identify the target(s) that were affected by these reagents.

Basolateral BK channels are associated with lipid rafts

An inhibitor of the basolateral Na⁺/K⁺/2Cl⁻ cotransporter, furosemide (1 mM), had no effect on the baseline current ($\Delta I_{sc} = -1.6 \pm 2.1 \ \mu A/cm^2$, N=4, P>0.05 Student's *t*-test), and in its presence M β CD increased the I_{sc} by 92.8 \pm 13.6 μ A/cm² (N=4), which is not significantly different from control conditions. Similar results were obtained with another inhibitor of the basolateral Na⁺/K⁺/2Cl⁻ cotransporter, bumetanide (10 μ M, N=6). These results indicate that cholesterol depletion does not affect Na⁺/K⁺/2Cl⁻ cotransporter


Figure 3·2 MβCD treatment affects CFTR-mediated anion secretion

(A) M β CD did not activate I_{sc} in Δ F508 CF colonic epithelia (N=6), and DPC (0.5 mM, apical) blocked the effect of M β CD (10 mM, N=8) on I_{sc} in wild-type mice. (B) M β CD treatment has no effect on I_{sc} generated by the Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase in nystatin-permeabilized epithelia. The data are means ± SE from 3 to 4 recordings.

function in colonic epithelia.

The effect of M β CD on Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase activity was investigated with the use of the ionophore nystatin in order to bypass the apical membrane (Fig. 3•2B). In regular Krebs-Henseleit solution, nystatin (90 µg/ml, apical) activated similar currents in the presence or absence of M β CD (10 mM, N=4 in both sets, P>0.05, Student's *t*-test), indicating that removal of cholesterol from the basolateral side does not affect Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase function in colonic epithelia. The effect of nystatin was inhibited by basolateral ouabain (100 µM, N=3), confirming that the nystatin-induced current is generated by the Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase.

The effect of M β CD on basolateral K⁺ channels was assessed in nystatinpermeabilized epithelia in the presence of ouabain (100 μ M) to inhibit the Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase, and an apical-to-basolateral directed K⁺ gradient (Fig. 3•3A). Nystatin (90 μ g/ml, apical) increased I_{sc} from 72.6 ± 19.8 μ A/cm² (N=4) under control conditions to 125.6 ± 21.3 μ A/cm² (N=4, P<0.05 Student's *t*-test) in M β CD-treated epithelia (Fig. 3•3A), indicating that removal of cholesterol from the basolateral membrane activated K⁺ channels in colonic epithelia. Further studies were designed to identify the K⁺ channels activated by M β CD.

At least four biophysically and pharmacologically distinct types of K^+ channels contribute to the basolateral K^+ conductance in mammalian colon: a cAMP-activated K^+ channel (KCNQ1) (24), an intermediate conductance Ca²⁺-activated K^+ channel (IK-1) (7), a large conductance Ca²⁺-activated K^+ channel (BK) (24), and ATP-dependent K^+ channels (K_{ATP}) (19). The KCNQ1 channel can be specifically blocked by the cognitive enhancer XE991, the IK-1 channel - by an antifungal antibiotic, clotrimazole, the BK channel - by Ba²⁺, charybdotoxin or TPeA, and the K_{ATP} channel - by tolbutamide (27).



Figure 3-3 Activation of basolateral K⁺ channels by M β CD treatment

Epithelia pre-incubated with ouabain (100 μ M, basolateral), were subjected to an apical-tobasolateral K⁺ gradient and nystatin (90 μ g/ml, apical) was added at the time indicated (A). The data are shown as means ± SE from 4 control and 7 M β CD-treated I_{se} measurements. B: The effect of K⁺ channel blockers on I_{se} activation by M β CD. Epithelia were pre-treated from the basolateral side with BaCl₂ (5 mM), clotrimazole (50 μ M), TPeA (100 μ M), tolbutamide (100 μ M), charybdotoxin (CTX, 100 nM) or XE991 (30 μ M), before M β CD treatment (10 mM, basolateral). Values are expressed as percentages of M β CD-activated I_{se} in the absence of K⁺ channel blockers. The number of experiments is shown in the histogram. *P<0.05, **P<0.01. We used the above-mentioned blockers to identify the K⁺ channels activated by M β CD. We found that XE991 (30 μ M, N=4), clotrimazole (50 μ M, N=5), and tolbutamide (100 μ M, N=3), did not affect I_{sc} activation by M β CD (Fig. 3•3B). However, in the presence of TPeA (100 μ M, N=4) I_{sc} activation by M β CD was reduced by 85.5 ± 8.7% (N=4, P<0.01, paired Student's *t*-test). Similar results were obtained using charybdotoxin and BaCl₂ (Fig. 3•3B), suggesting that BK channels were activated by cholesterol removal in colonic epithelia. This conclusion has been further supported by experiments with the specific BK channel opener, pimaric acid (17). Figure 3•4 shows that I_{sc} activation by pimaric acid (90 μ M, N=8) was significantly attenuated after pretreatment of the epithelium with M β CD. The I_{sc} peak response to pimaric acid was reduced from 65 μ A/cm² under control conditions to 12.5 μ A/cm² after M β CD treatment.

In subsequent studies we used rabbit polyclonal antibodies against the BK channel α subunit to investigate BK channel expression in colonic epithelia. Western blot experiments have shown that this antibody recognized a ~125 kDa protein band that disappeared after pre-absorption of the primary antibody with a blocking peptide supplied by the manufacturer (data not shown). This antibody was used to detect BK channels in fractions obtained after sucrose density gradient centrifugation. Figure 3.5 shows that the BK channel is present mainly in the detergent-insoluble pellet that contains the actin cytoskeleton. The gradient fractions were also blotted for the caveolae marker, caveolin-1, which was found not only in the low buoyant density raft fractions 4-5, but also in higher density fractions including the pellet. Interestingly, after M β CD treatment the majority of BK channels translocated from the pellet to lighter density fraction 8 which contains detergent-soluble proteins (Fig. 3.5). The translocation of BK channels from the



Figure 3-4 The response to pimaric acid in control and M β CD-treated epithelia Activation of I_{sc} by pimaric acid (90 μ M, both sides) in control (A, N=6) and M β CD-treated (B, 10 mM, N=8) epithelia.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Figure 3.5 BK channels partition in the pellet fraction of sucrose density gradients and do not co-localize with caveolin in colonic epithelial cells

Cells were lysed in MES-buffered saline + 1% Triton X-100 and fractionated in sucrose gradients. Fractions were collected from the gradient top (1) to bottom (8), where P is the pellet, and analyzed by immunoblotting with the indicated antibodies. For M β CD treatment, cells were incubated for 30 minutes with 10 mM M β CD before lysis. The BK channel antibody recognizes the C-terminal region of the α subunit, and the expected size is 125 kDa. The caveolin-1 antibody recognizes a 24 kDa protein.

pellet was accompanied by a similar shift in the buoyant density of caveolin, which also accumulated in fractions 7 and 8. Since M β CD treatment displaced caveolin from the low buoyant density fractions, it was effective in disrupting caveolin-containing lipid rafts. Thus our evidence indicates BK channels are selectively associated with the cytoskeleton and not within the low-density lipid rafts, but are nevertheless dependent upon cholesterol for anchorage to the cytoskeleton. This suggests that BK channels are associated with a subset of lipid rafts that are selectively anchored to the cytoskeleton.

DISCUSSION

The main finding of our study is that BK channels, present in the basolateral membrane of colonic epithelial cells, control transepithelial anion secretion through a cholesterol-dependent mechanism. The convergent effects of cholesterol depletion by M β CD, filipin and of sphingolipid depletion by sphingomyelinase provide strong evidence that lipid microdomains in the plasma membrane play an important role in the regulation of anion secretion.

Lipid rafts in intestinal epithelial cells have been extensively characterized (8;10;12). The apical (brush border) membrane contains at least two different types of lipid raft microdomains that are different from rafts present in the basolateral membrane or on the surface of other cell types (8). In particular, apical rafts are stable rather than transient, and their core components include glycolipids as well as the divalent lectin galectin-4 (8). Although apical rafts contain cholesterol, it is not essential for raft stability (12). The results of our studies show that the removal of cholesterol from the apical membrane, or treatment with the sphingomyelin-degrading enzyme, sphingomyelinase, has no effect on

transepithelial anion secretion. Since the majority of apical anion conductance in colonic epithelia is mediated by CFTR (24), this suggests that raft integrity is not essential for CFTR function.

Anion secretion in epithelial cells depends on the coordinated activity of apical Cl⁻ channels, as well as basolateral Na⁺/K⁺-ATPases, Na⁺/K⁺/2Cl⁻ cotransporters and K⁺ channels. The role of rafts in the regulation of Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase is controversial. Several studies have shown that caveolae do not contain Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase (13;21), whereas others have suggested that Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase is present in lipid rafts (22). These contradictory conclusions were based on the biochemical analysis of proteins found in caveolae, and could be related to differences in the experimental methods used to isolate cell membrane microdomains (e.g. in the presence or absence of Triton X-100). Our results indicate that disruption of basolateral rafts has no effect on Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase activity in colonic epithelia. In addition, pharmacological studies showed that the Na⁺/K⁺/2Cl⁻ cotransporter does not play a role in the response to basolateral lipid raft disruption.

A number of distinct K^+ channels have been identified on the basolateral membrane of mammalian colon (2). In our earlier studies we have shown that K_{ATP} , but not BK channels, were tonically active and controlled baseline anion secretion in murine colonic epithelia (19). The results of this study further expand those observations by showing that lipid rafts control the activity of basolateral BK channels. Under baseline conditions these channels are found mainly in the high-density pellet fraction, and are inactive, since charybdotoxin has no effect on the baseline I_{sc} . Following M β CD treatment they translocate out of the pellet fraction and become active, resulting in cell hyperpolarization and stimulation of anion secretion. The fact that pimaric acid-induced BK channel activation is inhibited after M β CD treatment suggests that BK channels may either be fully activated by cholesterol removal, or that pimaric acid activates only those BK channels that are associated with lipid rafts.

Although lipid rafts are by definition recovered within low buoyant density fractions, subsets of lipid rafts may associate with the cytoskeleton. For example multivalent ligation of the Fc receptor in neutrophils results in translocation into high buoyant density lipid rafts (1;34). Other studies have shown that a subset of plasma membrane skeleton proteins co-isolate with cholesterol-rich, detergent-resistant membrane fragments that exhibit a high buoyant density in sucrose (29). Similarly clustering the hyaluronan receptor CD44 promotes association with lipid rafts and the redirection of actin bundles into the raft (30). Mass spectrometric analysis of lipid raft proteomes, including our own studies, identify structural components of the intermediate filament and actin cytoskeleton as frequent components of low-density detergent-insoluble fractions (11:20:29:36:40:41). Actin is a common component of such fractions and clustering raftbased glycolipids or GPI-linked proteins promotes local organization of F-actin (14). Similarly cortical F-actin spikes originate within the caveolae of adipocytes (18). Thus although their exact roles remain to be determined we have speculated that lipid rafts regulate cytoskeletal assembly and conversely that cytoskeletal assemblies with lipid rafts might provide submembranous scaffolds for the assembly and function of signaling molecules (36). According to this view the functions of lipid rafts and the assembly of cortical cytoskeletal assemblies are reciprocally linked. If lipid rafts are closely associated with F-actin assembly then those rafts, which are most tightly associated with the cytoskeleton, might be expected to segregate with the cytoskeletal pellet following

detergent extraction. In the current study failure to identify BK channels within the low buoyant density fractions demonstrates that BK channels are not associated with conventional lipid rafts. However, translocation of BK channels from the cytoskeleton to the detergent-soluble fraction on lowering cholesterol would be compatible with the disruption of cytoskeletally-associated lipid rafts, and with the redistribution of caveolin from both low- and high-density fractions to those of intermediate density. The absence of BK channels from low-density domains indicates that if BK channels associate with lipid rafts they do so only as a very late event and may therefore be components of a subset of lipid rafts that associate exclusively with the cytoskeleton.

Many studies of lipid rafts have been conducted in transformed cell lines that are nonpolarized. In polarized epithelia the cytoskeleton is most elaborated on the basolateral margin. It therefore seems likely that apically located lipid rafts would be recovered within the low buoyant density fractions, whereas basolaterally located rafts would associate with the cytoskeleton. The cytoskeleton can provide a scaffold for the assembly, juxtaposition and three-dimensional orientation of signaling complexes. The mechanism of BK channel activation by MβCD is presently unknown. However, the fact that under control conditions BK channels are found in the pellet fraction suggests that they are constitutively present in large macromolecular complexes that maintain the channel in the closed state. Cholesterol removal could cause the breakup of these structures leading to BK channel translocation into a lighter fraction and simultaneous removal of inhibitory interactions that hold the channel in the closed state. A similar mechanism has been recently proposed for adenylyl cyclase activation, based on the observation that treatment with MβCD augmented the enzyme activity (35). Lipid rafts are also known to contain proteins that are involved in Ca^{2+} homeostasis (5;22), and changes in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ due to lipid raft disruption could lead to BK channel activation. However, a recent study has shown that basal levels of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in M β CD-treated and untreated cells were identical (31).

The physiological significance of BK channel regulation by lipid rafts, in particular cholesterol, is presently unknown. However, in vivo studies show that feeding mice with n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids may reduce cell membrane cholesterol content in colonic epithelia by 46%, without altering total cellular levels (23). The results of this study indicate that such a change would have a major effect on transepithelial anion secretion in the colon. Similarly, changes in membrane cholesterol concentration could be related to reverse cholesterol transport, the process whereby cholesterol is removed from peripheral tissues and is delivered to the liver for subsequent excretion into bile (15). The ability of peripheral cells to participate in reverse cholesterol transport has been proposed to be essential in establishing the proper cholesterol distribution in cells. Measurements of the cholesterol efflux from epithelial cells have shown that cholesterol efflux occurs less readily from the apical than basolateral membrane (33), a result consistent with the observed effect of cholesterol removal on Isc reported in this study. In summary, we have shown that lipid raft disruption stimulates transepithelial anion secretion by a mechanism compatible with the activation of basolateral BK channels in colonic epithelial cells. These channels are of particular interest because they transform intracellular signals into changes in membrane conductance, and are thought to be loci where the regulation of anion secretion is accomplished.

REFERENCES

- Barabe, F., E. Rollet-Labelle, C. Gilbert, M. J. Fernandes, S. N. Naccache, and P. H. Naccache. Early events in the activation of FcyRIIA in human neutrophils: stimulated insolubilization, translocation to detergent-resistant domains, and degradation of FcyRIIA. *J.Immunol.* 168: 4042-4049, 2002.
- 2. Barrett, K. E. and S. J. Keely. Chloride secretion by the intestinal epithelium: molecular basis and regulatory aspects. *Annu. Rev. Physiol.* 62: 535-572, 2000.
- 3. Bathori, G., I. Parolini, F. Tombola, I. Szabo, A. Messina, M. Oliva, P. De, V, M. Lisanti, M. Sargiacomo, and M. Zoratti. Porin is present in the plasma membrane where it is concentrated in caveolae and caveolae-related domains. *J.Biol.Chem.* 274: 29607-29612, 1999.
- Bravo-Zehnder, M., P. Orio, A. Norambuena, M. Wallner, P. Meera, L. Toro, R. Latorre, and A. Gonzalez. Apical sorting of a voltage- and Ca²⁺-activated K⁺ channel alpha -subunit in Madin-Darby canine kidney cells is independent of N-glycosylation. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 97: 13114-13119, 2000.
- 5. Brazer, S. C., B. B. Singh, X. Liu, W. Swaim, and I. S. Ambudkar. Caveolin-1 contributes to assembly of store-operated Ca²⁺ influx channels by regulating plasma membrane localization of TRPC1. *J.Biol.Chem.* 278: 27208-27215, 2003.
- 6. Bretscher, M. S. Membrane structure: some general principles. *Science* 181: 622-629, 1973.
- Cuthbert, A. W., M. E. Hickman, P. Thorn, and L. J. MacVinish. Activation of Ca²⁺- and cAMP-sensitive K⁺ channels in murine colonic epithelia by 1-ethyl-2benzimidazolone. *Am.J. Physiol.* 277: C111-C120, 1999.
- 8. Danielsen, E. M. and G. H. Hansen. Lipid rafts in epithelial brush borders: atypical membrane microdomains with specialized functions. *Biochim.Biophys.Acta* 1617: 1-9, 2003.
- Delling, M., E. Wischmeyer, A. Dityatev, V. Sytnyk, R. W. Veh, A. Karschin, and M. Schachner. The neural cell adhesion molecule regulates cell-surface delivery of G-protein-activated inwardly rectifying potassium channels via lipid rafts. *J.Neurosci.* 22: 7154-7164, 2002.

- 10. Field, F. J., E. Born, S. Murthy, and S. N. Mathur. Caveolin is present in intestinal cells: role in cholesterol trafficking? *J.Lipid Res.* 39: 1938-1950, 1998.
- Foster, L. J., C. L. De Hoog, and M. Mann. Unbiased quantitative proteomics of lipid rafts reveals high specificity for signaling factors. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 100: 5813-5818, 2003.
- Hansen, G. H., L. Immerdal, E. Thorsen, L. L. Niels-Christiansen, B. T. Nystrom, E. J. Demant, and E. M. Danielsen. Lipid rafts exist as stable cholesterolindependent microdomains in the brush border membrane of enterocytes. *J.Biol.Chem.* 276: 32338-32344, 2001.
- Hansen, G. H., L. L. Niels-Christiansen, E. Thorsen, L. Immerdal, and E. M. Danielsen. Cholesterol depletion of enterocytes. Effect on the Golgi complex and apical membrane trafficking. *J.Biol.Chem.* 275: 5136-5142, 2000.
- 14. Harder, T. and K. Simons. Clusters of glycolipid and glycosylphosphatidylinositolanchored proteins in lymphoid cells: accumulation of actin regulated by local tyrosine phosphorylation. *Eur.J.Immunol.* 29: 556-562, 1999.
- 15. Haynes, M. P., M. C. Phillips, and G. H. Rothblat. Efflux of cholesterol from different cellular pools. *Biochemistry* 39: 4508-4517, 2000.
- 16. Hill, W. G., B. An, and J. P. Johnson. Endogenously expressed epithelial sodium channel is present in lipid rafts in A6 cells. *J.Biol.Chem.* 277: 33541-33544, 2002.
- Imaizumi, Y., K. Sakamoto, A. Yamada, A. Hotta, S. Ohya, K. Muraki, M. Uchiyama, and T. Ohwada. Molecular basis of pimarane compounds as novel activators of large-conductance Ca²⁺-activated K⁺ channel α-subunit. *Mol.Pharmacol.* 62: 836-846, 2002.
- Kanzaki, M. and J. E. Pessin. Caveolin-associated filamentous actin (Cav-actin) defines a novel F-actin structure in adipocytes. J.Biol.Chem. 277: 25867-25869, 2002.
- Lam, R. S., E. M. App, D. Nahirney, A. J. Szkotak, M. A. Vieira-Coelho, M. King, and M. Duszyk. Regulation of Cl⁻ secretion by α₂-adrenergic receptors in mouse colonic epithelium. *J.Physiol.* 548: 475-484, 2003.

- 20. Li, N., A. Mak, D. P. Richards, C. Naber, B. O. Keller, L. Li, and A. R. Shaw. Monocyte lipid rafts contain proteins implicated in vesicular trafficking and phagosome formation. *Proteomics* 3: 536-548, 2003.
- Lisanti, M. P., P. E. Scherer, J. Vidugiriene, Z. Tang, A. Hermanowski-Vosatka, Y. H. Tu, R. F. Cook, and M. Sargiacomo. Characterization of caveolin-rich membrane domains isolated from an endothelial-rich source: implications for human disease. J. Cell Biol. 126: 111-126, 1994.
- Liu, L., K. Mohammadi, B. Aynafshar, H. Wang, D. Li, J. Liu, A. V. Ivanov, Z. Xie, and A. Askari. Role of caveolae in signal-transducing function of cardiac Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase. *Am.J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 284: C1550-C1560, 2003.
- Ma, D. W. L., J. Seo, L. A. Davidson, E. S. Callaway, Y. Y. Fan, J. R. Lupton, and R. S. Chapkin. n-3 PUFA alter caveolae lipid composition and resident protein localization in mouse colon. *FASEB J.* 18: 1040-1042, 2004.
- MacVinish, L. J., M. E. Hickman, D. A. Mufti, H. J. Durrington, and A. W. Cuthbert. Importance of basolateral K⁺ conductance in maintaining Cl⁻ secretion in murine nasal and colonic epithelia. *J. Physiol.* 510 (Pt 1): 237-247, 1998.
- Martens, J. R., R. Navarro-Polanco, E. A. Coppock, A. Nishiyama, L. Parshley, T. D. Grobaski, and M. M. Tamkun. Differential targeting of Shaker-like potassium channels to lipid rafts. *J.Biol.Chem.* 275: 7443-7446, 2000.
- Martens, J. R., N. Sakamoto, S. A. Sullivan, T. D. Grobaski, and M. M. Tamkun. Isoform-specific localization of voltage-gated K⁺ channels to distinct lipid raft populations. Targeting of Kv1.5 to caveolae. *J.Biol.Chem.* 276: 8409-8414, 2001.
- McNamara, B., D. C. Winter, J. E. Cuffe, G. C. O'Sullivan, and B. J. Harvey. Basolateral K⁺ channel involvement in forskolin-activated chloride secretion in human colon. *J. Physiol.* 519 (Pt 1): 251-260, 1999.
- 28. Munro, S. Lipid rafts: elusive or illusive? Cell 115: 377-388, 2003.
- 29. Nebl, T., K. N. Pestonjamasp, J. D. Leszyk, J. L. Crowley, S. W. Oh, and E. J. Luna. Proteomic analysis of a detergent-resistant membrane skeleton from neutrophil plasma membranes. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277: 43399-43409, 2002.

- Oliferenko, S., K. Paiha, T. Harder, V. Gerke, C. Schwarzler, H. Schwarz, H. Beug, U. Gunthert, and L. A. Huber. Analysis of CD44-containing lipid rafts: Recruitment of annexin II and stabilization by the actin cytoskeleton. *J.Cell Biol.* 146: 843-854, 1999.
- 31. Petrie, R. J., P. P. Schnetkamp, K. D. Patel, M. Awasthi-Kalia, and J. P. Deans. Transient translocation of the B cell receptor and Src homology 2 domaincontaining inositol phosphatase to lipid rafts: evidence toward a role in calcium regulation. *J.Immunol.* 165: 1220-1227, 2000.
- 32. Razani, B., S. E. Woodman, and M. P. Lisanti. Caveolae: from cell biology to animal physiology. *Pharmacol.Rev.* 54: 431-467, 2002.
- Remaley, A. T., B. D. Farsi, A. C. Shirali, J. M. Hoeg, and H. B. Brewer, Jr. Differential rate of cholesterol efflux from the apical and basolateral membranes of MDCK cells. *J.Lipid Res.* 39: 1231-1238, 1998.
- Rollet-Labelle, E., S. Marois, K. Barbeau, S. E. Malawista, and P. H. Naccache. Recruitment of the cross-linked opsonic receptor CD32A (FcγRIIA) to high-density detergent-resistant membrane domains in human neutrophils. *Biochem.J.* 381: 919-928, 2004.
- Rybin, V. O., X. Xu, M. P. Lisanti, and S. F. Steinberg. Differential targeting of βadrenergic receptor subtypes and adenylyl cyclase to cardiomyocyte caveolae. A mechanism to functionally regulate the cAMP signaling pathway. *J.Biol.Chem.* 275: 41447-41457, 2000.
- 36. Shaw, A. R. and L. Li. Exploration of the functional proteome: lessons from lipid rafts. *Curr.Opin.Mol.Ther.* 5: 294-301, 2003.
- 37. Simons, K. and R. Ehehalt. Cholesterol, lipid rafts, and disease. *J.Clin.Invest.* 110: 597-603, 2002.
- 38. Simons, K. and E. Ikonen. Functional rafts in cell membranes. *Nature* 387: 569-572, 1997.
- 39. Simons, K. and D. Toomre. Lipid rafts and signal transduction. *Nat.Rev.Mol.Cell Biol.* 1: 31-39, 2000.

- 40. Sprenger, R. R., D. Speijer, J. W. Back, C. G. De Koster, H. Pannekoek, and A. J. Horrevoets. Comparative proteomics of human endothelial cell caveolae and rafts using two-dimensional gel electrophoresis and mass spectrometry. *Electrophoresis* 25: 156-172, 2004.
- 41. von Haller, P. D., S. Donohoe, D. R. Goodlett, R. Aebersold, and J. D. Watts. Mass spectrometric characterization of proteins extracted from Jurkat T cell detergent-resistant membrane domains. *Proteomics* 1: 1010-1021, 2001.
- 42. Yarbrough, T. L., T. Lu, H. C. Lee, and E. F. Shibata. Localization of cardiac sodium channels in caveolin-rich membrane domains: regulation of sodium current amplitude. *Circ.Res.* 90: 443-449, 2002.

CHAPTER 4

Cholesterol-dependent regulation of basolateral adenosinemediated anion secretion in colon epithelial cells

This chapter is a manuscript in progress for publication:

Lam, RS and Duszyk, M. (2005)

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

INTRODUCTION

Adenosine, a purine nucleoside, is a known regulator of epithelial ion channel function. Both potassium (15;36) and chloride conductances (8;35) appear to be under the regulation of adenosine in a variety of epithelia, and in mammalian intestinal epithelium it is well known that adenosine activates anion secretion (2;10;15;34). There are 4 subtypes of the G protein-coupled adenosine receptors: A1, A2A, A2B, and A3. A1 and A3 receptors are coupled to Gi/o and Gi/q proteins, respectively, whereas A2A and A2B receptors are coupled to G_s proteins and activate adenylyl cyclase (AC) and cAMP production. It is well established that adenosine stimulates Cl⁻ secretion in colonic epithelial cells (34). Sources of adenosine may be at the apical or basolateral membrane of intestinal epithelial cells, and so receptors appear to be present in both membranes (2;34). Intestinal inflammation is characterized by an influx of inflammatory cells, and adenosine receptors likely play an immunological role by altering secretion in response to inflammation-induced adenosine production from neutrophils (24), eosinophils (29), and mast cells (1). High concentrations of adenosine may also be present in the case of bacterial-induced secretory diarrhea. Killing a large amount of enterogenic bacteria will result in a significant amount of ATP release in the gut lumen, and ATP can be metabolized to adenosine, whose actions have implications in secretory diarrhea.

Adenosine metabolism and homeostasis is under the control of metabolic enzymes and nucleoside transporters. The surface enzyme ecto-5'-nucleotidase (also called CD73), which is present in intestinal epithelial cells (33), produces adenosine from 5'-AMP. Adenosine also has autocrine or paracrine actions, and after its production it can then act on its receptors or be transported into the cell. Cellular scavenging of adenosine occurs through the nucleoside transporters, of which there are two families: the concentrative, or Na⁺-dependent, nucleoside transporters (CNTs) and the equilibrative, or Na⁺- independent, nucleoside transporters (ENTs). The two families of nucleoside transporters have several subtypes, and currently there are four ENT and three CNT isoforms characterized. Studies looking at nucleoside transporters in colon epithelial cells have shown the presence of ENTs (25;37). Ward and Tse showed that both ENT1 and ENT2 were functionally expressed, however neither CNT1 nor CNT2 was present (37). In a study looking at mRNA expression, it appears that CNT1 is absent, CNT2 and CNT3 are present in low levels, and ENT1, 2, and 3 are present in the mouse colon (23). Once inside the cell, adenosine metabolism is due to the actions of adenosine kinase and adenosine deaminase.

The cell membrane contains the majority of total cell cholesterol, where one of its functions is to act as a regulator of membrane proteins. It has long been known that membrane transport is affected by cell membrane cholesterol (32), and in intestinal epithelium, the function of a variety of membrane proteins appears to rely on cholesterol (5;12;20). Cholesterol has been identified as a backbone in the structure of membrane microdomains known as lipid rafts. Rafts contain certain membrane proteins and cholesterol may exert control of proteins through raft-mediated mechanisms. Receptors, including adenosine receptors (21;31), G proteins and other signaling molecules, and their effectors, including ion channels (30), have been found to associate with rafts. Although the effects of adenosine on ion transport have been widely studied, little is known about the mechanisms regulating adenosine-mediated epithelial ion transport in the intestine.

For these studies, we explored the relationship between cell membrane cholesterol and adenosine-mediated ion transport. We found that altering basolateral, but not apical, cell membrane cholesterol levels affected adenosine receptor activation. This effect was not due to lipid raft disruption, since the cholesterol-binding drug filipin and the sphingomyelin-depleting drug sphingomyelinase did not affect adenosine receptor activation. More specifically, caveolae are also not involved since the responses of adenosine receptor activation on tissue from caveolin-1-deficient mice and wildtype mice indistinguishable. Anisotropy experiments showed that filipin were and sphingomyelinase do not affect cell membrane fluidity, however, the cholesteroldepleting drug methyl-\beta-cyclodextrin increased cell membrane fluidity. In addition, the effect was not due to a contribution from nucleoside transporters. We show here that modulating basolateral membrane cholesterol levels affected the Isc response to basolateral A_{2A} receptor activation, and this corresponded to a basolateral intermediate conductance Ca^{2+} -regulated K⁺ (IK) channel current.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Epithelial cells

The colonic epithelia used in this study were from three different strains of mice: C57BL/6J, cystic fibrosis (CF), and caveolin-1 knockout mice. The breeding colony of CF mice (B6.129S6-*Cftr^{tm1Kth}*, Jackson Laboratory, Bar Harbor, ME) was housed in a specific pathogen-free environment (Health Sciences Laboratory Animal Services, University of Alberta). Pups were weaned at 21 days of age, and genotyped as described previously (19). Caveolin-1-deficient mice (STOCK Cav^{tm1Mls}/J) were purchased from

Jackson Laboratory and a breeding colony was maintained under the same conditions as the CF mouse colony. All experiments described in this study were carried out with the approval of the Health Sciences Animal Policy and Welfare Committee, University of Alberta. Mice were killed by CO₂ narcosis, and 6 cm-long pieces of colon were removed from ~2 cm below the caecum and immediately placed in cold Krebs-Henseleit solution (KHS) containing (mM): 116 NaCl, 4.7 KCl, 2.5 CaCl₂, 1.2 MgCl₂, 25 NaHCO₃, 1.2 KH₂PO₄, and 11.1 glucose, pH 7.4. The colons were opened up, and the muscle layers were dissected away. Pieces of 0.2 cm² were taken from the colon and mounted in Ussing chambers.

Transepithelial measurements

Ussing chamber short-circuit current (I_{sc}) experiments were performed as described earlier (19). To compensate for changes in osmotic pressure, 10 mM mannitol was added to the apical side at the same time of basolateral M β CD addition. Tissue integrity was monitored throughout the experiments by transepithelial resistance measurements from 0.5 mV pulses every 90 seconds.

RT-PCR

Total RNA was isolated from mouse colonic epithelium using the Qiagen RNeasy kit (Qiagen). First-strand cDNA was synthesized by reverse transcription of the RNA using Superscript II (Invitrogen) and random hexamer primers (200 ng). PCR was performed using the following sets of primers (5' to 3'): mENT1 forward nucleotides 537-564, reverse 1018-992; mENT2 forward 735-754, reverse 1137-1116. PCR was performed

using the hot-start method. 10% of the reverse transcription reaction was combined with 1 μ M of each primer, 0.2 mM of each dNTP, 0.75 mM MgCl₂, 50 mM KCl, 20 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.4), 2.5 U of Taq polymerase, and autoclaved ddH₂O to a final volume of 20 μ l. After 3 min at 94°C, amplifications proceeded for 30 cycles (94°C, 30 s; 54°C, 60 s; 72°C, 3 min) with a final elongation period at 72°C for 7 min. PCR products were separated and visualized on an ethidium bromide-stained 1.5% agarose gel by electrophoresis. The expected sizes (bp) of the PCR products were: 482 (mENT1), 403 (mENT2).

Steady-state fluorescence anisotropy

Anisotropy measurements experiments were performed on a PTI fluorimeter equipped with manual polarizers (PTI, London, Ontario, Canada), by estimating fluorescence polarization of 1-(4-trimethyl-ammoniumphenyl)6-phenyl-1,3,5-hexatriene (TMA-DPH). TMA-DPH inserts into the cell membrane and its relative motion is determined by polarized fluorescence expressed as the anisotropy constant, which is inversely proportional to the degree of membrane fluidity (18). Excitation and emission wavelengths were set at 350 nm and 434 nm with a slit-width of 1 nm and 4 nm, respectively. Colonic epithelial cells were incubated at 37°C with 1 μ M TMA-DPH (final concentration) in the dark in KHS for 20 min. Unincorporated dye was removed by repeated washings with KHS. Labeled cells were suspended at a concentration of $2x10^6$ /ml in KHS, and fluorescence intensity was measured with the excitation polarizer in the vertical position and the analyzing emission polarizer in both the vertical (I_{VV}) and horizontal (I_{VH}) positions. Anisotropy, r, was calculated using the equation:

$$r = \frac{I_{VV} - GI_{VH}}{I_{VV} + 2GI_{VH}}$$
. The G factor (=I_{HV}/I_{HH}) was calculated using horizontally polarized

excitation and subsequent comparison of the horizontal and vertical emissions, which for our machine is 0.881. High degrees of fluorescence anisotropy indicate higher degrees of membrane order or lower degrees of membrane fluidity. Cholesterol measurements were performed using the Amplex® Red Cholesterol Assay Kit (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR), according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Chemicals

Adenosine (100 mM), amiloride (10 mM), and N⁶-cyclopentyladenosine (CPA) were dissolved in ddH₂O. Methyl-\beta-cyclodextrin (MBCD, 80 mM), mannitol (80 mM) and water-soluble cholesterol in KHS. Clotrimazole and forskolin, were made as at least 1,000-fold stock solutions ethanol. Dipyridamole, 2-p-(2in Carboxyethyl)phenethylamino-5'-N-ethylcarboxamidoadenosine hydrochloride (CGS-21680) and 3-propyl-6-ethyl-5-[(ethylthio)carbony]-2 phenyl-4-propyl-3-pyridine carboxylate (MRS-1523) were dissolved in DMSO. S-(4-Nitrobenzyl)-6-thioinosine (NBTI) and filipin (10 mg/ml, prepared fresh before each experiment) were dissolved in methanol. XE991 (10 mM, a generous gift from Dr. B.S. Brown, DuPont, Wilmington, DE) and 5'-N-ethylcarboxamidoadenosine (NECA, 10 mM) were dissolved in 0.1 N HCl. The stock solution of 1-(4-trimethyl-ammoniumphenyl)6-phenyl-1,3,5-hexatriene (2 mM TMA-DPH in DMSO) was stored at -20°C. Mannitol was from Fisher Scientific (Fair Lawn, NJ), all other chemicals were from Sigma-Aldrich.

Data analysis

All data are expressed as means \pm SE along with the number (N) of preparations used. Statistical difference was determined by Student's *t*-test or one-way ANOVA. Values of P<0.05 were considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Basolateral adenosine receptor activation stimulates anion secretion

Basolateral adenosine receptor agonists activate I_{sc} in colonic epithelium. Figure 4•1A shows that 10 µM basolateral NECA (an adenosine analog that is not metabolized or transported) activates I_{sc} . Basolateral NECA activated I_{sc} by 6.3 ± 1.0 µA/cm², N=12 (Fig 4•2) and basolateral adenosine (100 µM) activated I_{sc} by 13.5 ± 2.8 µA/cm², N=10 (Fig 4•2). CGS-21680 is a high affinity selective agonist for the A_{2A} receptor (13). Basolateral addition of 1 µM CGS-21680 also activated I_{sc} by 8.1 ± 7.2 µA/cm², N=4 (Fig 4•2). Apical adenosine receptors are present since apical adenosine activated I_{sc} (10 µM, 8.0 ± 4.6 µA/cm², N=4). Similarly, apical NECA also activated I_{sc} (10 µM, 4.1 ± 2.2 µA/cm², N=5).

Equilibrative nucleoside transporters are present in colonic epithelium (23;37), however few studies have addressed their activity in this tissue. To look at the basal activity of the ENTs, the general ENT inhibitor dipyridamole (100 μ M bilateral, 10 min) was used, however, it did not have a large effect on basal I_{sc} (2.8 ± 0.7 μ A/cm², N=5). Similarly, addition of the ENT1-selective inhibitor nitrobenzylthioinosine (NBTI, 20 μ M bilateral, 10 min) also did not have a large effect on basal I_{sc} (2.3 ± 0.1 μ A/cm², N=4).



Figure 4-1 The effect of basolateral NECA on colonic I_{sc} in control (A) or $M\beta CD$ -treated (B) conditions

The data shown are representative I_{sc} traces. Transepithelial resistance was monitored by 0.5 mV pulses applied approximately every 90 seconds.





M β CD (10 mM) refers to pretreatment of the basolateral membrane for 90 minutes before addition of the adenosine receptor agonist. M β CD + MRS-1523 refers to pretreatment with M β CD, as before, and then treatment with the A₃ receptor antagonist MRS-1523 (1 μ M basolateral, 10 min). CGS-21680 is a selective agonist for A_{2A} receptors and CPA is a selective agonist for A₁ receptors. The data shown are means ± SE. *** P<0.001

Basolateral cell membrane cholesterol removal enhances adenosine A_2 receptoractivated anion secretion by a lipid raft-independent mechanism

Basolateral addition of M β CD (10 mM, 90 min), which selectively removes membrane cholesterol, caused an increased response to the subsequent addition of certain basolateral adenosine receptor agonists. Figure 4•1B shows a I_{sc} trace of the response to basolateral NECA after M β CD treatment. The responses to basolateral adenosine (100 μ M, 99.9 ± 8.6 μ A/cm², N=12), basolateral NECA (10 μ M, 138.3 ± 9.1 μ A/cm², N=29), and basolateral CGS-21680 (1 μ M, 206.9 ± 23.4 μ A/cm², N=4) were all significantly greater after basolateral cholesterol removal compared to their respective control responses (P<0.001, Student's *t*-test, Fig 4•2). If M β CD was added to the apical side, the response to apical adenosine was not significantly greater than in the control conditions (100 μ M, 8.2 ± 3.8 μ A/cm², N=3, P>0.05).

Pretreatment with the selective A₃ receptor antagonist MRS-1523 (1 μ M basolateral, 10 min) did not block the M β CD-enhanced adenosine response (103 \pm 9.5 μ A/cm², N=3, P>0.05, Fig 4-2). To assess if the A₁ receptor was involved, the selective A₁ receptor agonist CPA was used. Figure 4-2 shows that the response to CPA (1 μ M basolateral) was not significantly different between control (2.0 \pm 0.6 μ A/cm², N=3) and M β CDtreated conditions (3.8 \pm 0.8 μ A/cm², N=4, P>0.05). These results suggest that the increased response to adenosine receptor stimulation after M β CD treatment is not mediated by the A₁ or the A₃ receptors.

The small, but discernable, effect of the ENT inhibitors NBTI and dipyridamole suggests that ENTs are basally active in colonic epithelium. RT-PCR showed the presence of ENT1, but not ENT2, mRNA (Fig 4-3). A decrease in ENT activity upon



Figure 4-3 Equilibrative nucleoside transporter expression in colonic epithelium RT-PCR of mENT1 (482bp) and ENT2 (403bp). The DNA ladder is a 100bp ladder with the thicker band corresponding to 600 bp. cholesterol depletion might contribute to the enhanced adenosine response we observed. The effect of cholesterol removal on the ENT1 was assessed by pretreatment with M β CD before NBTI addition (2.5 ± 0.4 μ A/cm², N=5, P>0.05). The response to NBTI was not significantly different compared to control conditions, which excludes a significant contribution from altered ENT activity on the M β CD-enhanced adenosine receptor agonist response. Although CNT activity was not assessed, it is unlikely to contribute to the response we were studying since CNTs transport adenosine against its gradient into the cell.

Lipid rafts are membrane microdomains that are rich in cholesterol and sphingolipids, and certain proteins show higher affinities for these areas. M β CD is commonly used to alter lipid raft integrity, as are other drugs that affect cholesterol and sphingolipids. Using the cholesterol-binding drug filipin (10 µg/ml basolateral, 90 min), instead of basolateral M β CD, did not affect the response to basolateral NECA (4.5 ± 2.3 µA/cm², N=5, P>0.05, Fig 4•4). In addition, depletion of cell membrane sphingomyelin with sphingomyelinase (1.6 U/ml basolateral, 90 min) did not affect the response to basolateral NECA (8.6 ± 3.2 µA/cm², N=4, P>0.05, Fig 4•4). Caveolae are a subset of membrane microdomains, also rich in cholesterol and sphingolipids, and defined by their resident protein caveolin-1. The effect of 10 µM NECA in caveolin-1-deficient mice, which lack caveolae (11), was not significantly different compared to wildtype mice (8.4 ± 0.6 µA/cm², N=4, P>0.05, Fig 4•4). Taken together, these results rule out a contribution from membrane microdomains in the enhanced adenosine receptor-activated anion secretion due to cholesterol removal.



Figure 4-4 Membrane cholesterol content modulates the response to basolateral NECA in colonic epithelia

All experiments looked at the response to 10 μ M basolateral NECA. Cholesterol depletion refers to M β CD (10 mM basolateral, 90 min) pretreatment and cholesterol repletion refers to M β CD (10 mM basolateral, 90 min) treatment and subsequent treatment with cholesterol-loaded M β CD (600 μ g cholesterol/ml basolateral, 100 min). The basolateral membrane was also pretreated either with filipin (10 μ g/ml, 90 min) or sphingomyelinase (SMase, 1.6 U/ml, 90 min). The data shown are means ± SE using one-way ANOVA. *** P<0.001

Repletion of cholesterol, after incubation with M β CD (10 mM basolateral, 90 min), was achieved by the addition of water-soluble cholesterol (600 μ g cholesterol/ml basolateral, 8 mM M β CD, 100 min) and resulted in a restoration of the NECA response to control levels (9.7 ± 2.4 μ A/cm², N=3, P>0.05, Fig 4•4), compared to the response without cholesterol repletion. These studies showed that basolateral cholesterol repletion reverses the effect of cholesterol removal on adenosine receptor activation.

MβCD, but not filipin and sphingomyelinase, affects membrane fluidity

We have used steady-state fluorescence anisotropy measurements to evaluate the effects of M β CD, filipin and sphingomyelinase on cell membrane fluidity. Measurements were performed using the dye 1,6-diphenyl-1,3,5-hexatriene (TMA-DPH) as a marker. The steady-state fluorescence polarization of TMA-DPH represents membrane motional order and is inversely related to membrane fluidity. Figure 4.5 shows a summary of changes in anisotropy following M β CD, filipin and sphingomyelinase treatments. M β CD treatment led to a decrease in the fluorescence anisotropy of TMA-DPH, which suggested changes in the order of the phospholipid molecules. Direct measurements of cholesterol content in mouse colonic epithelium have shown that M β CD (10 mM, 30 min) reduced the cholesterol level from 36 ± 12 µg/mg protein (N=3) to 15 ± 7 µg/mg protein (P<0.05, N=3). Thus, M β CD treatment reduces cholesterol content in epithelial cells leading to an increase in cell membrane fluidity. In contrast, both filipin and sphingomyelinase had no significant effect on cell membrane fluidity (Fig 4.5), indicating that their effects on Isc are independent of cell membrane fluidity.



Figure 4-5 Membrane cholesterol depletion increases membrane fluidity in colon epithelial cells

Changes in fluorescence anisotropy values of TMA-DPH measured in cells treated with M β CD (10 mM), filipin (10 μ g/ml) or sphingomyelinase (1.6 U/ml). The data shown are means ± SE of three experiments with triplicate determinations. *** P<0.001

Anion secretion is due to IK channel activation, not adenylyl cyclase activation, and accounts for the $M\beta$ CD-induced increase in NECA response

To determine if the enhanced NECA response after cholesterol depletion was activating anion secretion we performed experiments with CF mice, which lack functional CFTR. These studies confirmed that anion secretion was activated since the basolateral NECA response (10 μ M basolateral) after cholesterol depletion (10 mM M β CD basolateral, 90 min) was virtually absent (0.4 ± 0.6 μ A/cm², N=4, P<0.001, Fig 4·6) in CF mice, compared to wildtype mice.

Basolateral K⁺ channels are present in the basolateral membrane of colonic epithelial cells, where they can respond to intracellular Ca^{2+} or cAMP. An activation of basolateral K⁺ conductance can act as a driving force for Cl⁻ secretion, and we wanted to see if certain basolateral K^+ channels were activated in the enhanced NECA response after cholesterol depletion. We used selective inhibitors of intermediate conductance calciumactivated K^{+} (IK) channels and cAMP-dependent K^{+} channels, and an activator of large conductance calcium-activated K^+ (BK) channels. IK channels are inhibited by clotrimazole. Pretreatment of the cells with basolateral clotrimazole (90 µM, 10 min), before the addition of basolateral MBCD and then basolateral NECA, significantly reduced the NECA response (19.5 \pm 3.1 μ A/cm², N=8, P<0.001, ANOVA, Fig 4-6), compared to treatment without clotrimazole. Similar experiments using an inhibitor of cAMP-dependent K⁺ channels (30 µM XE991 basolateral) did not significantly affect the response to basolateral NECA after cholesterol depletion (113.0 \pm 13.9 μ A/cm², N=3, P>0.05, Fig 4.6). Activating BK channels with pimaric acid (100 µM basolateral) did not affect the response to basolateral NECA after cholesterol depletion (104.3 \pm 15.7



Figure 4.6 The enhanced response to basolateral NECA, after cholesterol depletion, affects anion secretion

The basolateral NECA (10 μ M basolateral) response, after M β CD (10 mM) treatment, activates basolateral IK channels and anion secretion. The selective K⁺ channel inhibitors, clotrimazole (90 μ M basolateral) and XE991 (30 μ M basolateral), or the BK channel opener pimaric acid (100 μ M basolateral) were added before NECA addition. The data shown are means ± SE. *** P<0.001

 μ A/cm², N=6, P>0.05, Fig 4-6). This further suggests that BK channels are not contributing to the cholesterol-sensitive NECA-activated I_{sc}.

The A_{2A} and A_{2B} receptors are coupled to G_s proteins, which activate AC and cAMP production. The response to the AC activator forskolin (10 μ M bilateral, 322.0 ± 17.3 μ A/cm², N=17) is unchanged after pretreatment with M β CD (318.4 ± 18.3 μ A/cm², N=10, P>0.05). This suggests that AC is not involved in adenosine receptor activation of I_{sc} after cholesterol depletion. We also did not see a contribution of cAMP-dependent K⁺ channel activity in the enhanced NECA response after cholesterol removal, and this suggests that the response is not due to the classical A₂ signaling pathway.

DISCUSSION

Here we present evidence that membrane cholesterol mediates adenosine receptor activation in colonic epithelium. Adenosine activated basal I_{sc} when applied to the apical or basolateral membrane of colonic epithelium, suggesting the presence of adenosine receptors in both membranes. Consistent with our results, adenosine receptor activation in both membranes has previously been shown in colonic epithelial cells (2). Barrett et al. also showed a greater activation of basolateral receptor-stimulated I_{sc} , compared to apical receptor stimulation, which we also observed with both adenosine and NECA responses.

Many studies have shown that M β CD significantly reduces the amount of cell membrane cholesterol (14;30), and we also observed this in colonic epithelial cells. In our studies, depletion of basolateral membrane cholesterol caused an increased response to basolaterally applied adenosine receptor agonists. This effect was not due to a decrease in nucleoside transporter activity, which would decrease the amount of adenosine uptake and increase the extracellular adenosine concentration. Exclusion of basolateral nucleoside transporter activity was shown by: 1) the use of NBTI and dipyridamole to inhibit the ENT1, and 2) the response to NECA (an adenosine analog that is not permeable through nucleoside transporters) after basolateral cholesterol removal, which was nearly identical to the adenosine response. Basal responses to NBTI and dipyridamole were relatively small, suggesting a low basal activity of ENTs. However, local increases in adenosine concentration are not easily measured in the Ussing chamber system since the continual perfusion would diffuse high local concentrations. Since we did not see a significant response to basal ENT inhibition, we could conclude that alterations in membrane cholesterol were unlikely to inhibit ENTs and cause the enhanced activation in I_{sc} that we observed. These results suggested that the effect is adenosine receptor-dependent.

Since the response to the A_{2A} receptor selective agonist CGS-21680 mimicked the effects of both adenosine and NECA, it appears that the basolateral A_{2A} receptor is mediating the increased response to adenosine agonists after basolateral cholesterol depletion. Furthermore, A_1 and A_3 receptor involvement was eliminated using the selective receptor agonist CPA and antagonist MRS-1523, respectively. Upon ligand binding the A_{2A} receptor activates the G_s protein, with subsequent AC activation, increased cAMP levels, and PKA activation. However, we observed no difference in forskolin response after basolateral cholesterol removal and this suggests that AC signaling is not affected. Furthermore, cAMP-dependent K⁺ channels were not involved in the enhanced NECA response after cholesterol depletion.
There is evidence that the A_1 and A_{2B} receptors can be associated with caveolar membrane microdomains (21:31), and so adenosine receptors might functionally depend on membrane microdomains, or lipid rafts. Lipid rafts are characterized by enrichment in cholesterol and sphingolipids and certain membrane proteins. To determine if the effect we saw was dependent upon cholesterol- and sphingolipid-rich microdomains, we studied lipid raft disruption by three means, other than cholesterol depletion with M β CD: 1) using filipin, a cholesterol-binding reagent, 2) depleting sphingomyelin using sphingomyelinase, or 3) using colonic epithelium from mice lacking caveolin-1 and caveolae. M β CD has been shown to disrupt caveolae (16), which are characterized by the presence of caveolin-1 and are considered a subset of lipid raft. None of these three approaches to alter lipid raft integrity mimicked the effect of M β CD on adenosine receptor activation. Since A1 receptors are caveolae-associated, this was further confirmation that our effect was not due to A_1 receptor activation. We also showed that cholesterol repletion after MBCD treatment caused a reversal of the NECA response to levels comparable to those without MBCD treatment. This showed that the enhanced NECA response was due specifically to alterations in membrane cholesterol, and that the effect was reversible.

The presence of cholesterol adds rigidity to the cell membrane and restricts the lateral motion of molecules, otherwise known as fluidity. Decreasing membrane cholesterol content has been shown to correspond with increases in membrane fluidity (5;14). Our studies of cell membrane fluidity showed that only M β CD, not filipin or sphingomyelinase, increased membrane fluidity. Our results confirm those of another study that saw a significant increase in membrane fluidity with M β CD treatment, but not

with sphingomyelinase treatment (14). Therefore, we could conclude that the effect we were seeing was raft-independent, and exclusively related to cholesterol content and its effects on membrane fluidity.

Changes in the level of membrane cholesterol are known to affect membrane transport (30;32) as well as G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR) function (14;27). Although it is known that protein-lipid interactions are important for membrane function, these interactions are not well understood, and the molecular mechanisms of altering membrane cholesterol on membrane protein function are unknown. When cholesterol is depleted and membrane fluidity is increased, is it a simple matter of increased lateral diffusion, and therefore activation, of components of the A_{2A} receptor signaling pathway? Or does protein conformational change play a role to cause greater activity? Further studies are needed to answer these questions. Membrane cholesterol homeostasis is a highly regulated process (6), and it is plausible that epithelial cells could regulate adenosine signaling by controlling the amount of cholesterol in the membrane.

Cell membrane cholesterol depletion can have an inhibitory (14;17) or stimulatory (3) effect on a particular GPCR. It may be that membrane cholesterol depletion results in a reduction in ligand binding to certain GPCRs (14). In some cases altering membrane cholesterol may not have any effect on the activity of a membrane protein, such as sucrase, maltase and lactase activities in intestinal epithelium (5). In our case, we observed an increased response to GPCR stimulation after membrane cholesterol depletion. Although the regulatory role of cholesterol on a specific protein certainly depends on many factors, cholesterol-protein interactions could be important for some GPCRs (28). Recent evidence from Canal et al. has shown that A_{2A} receptors exist as

functional homodimers, not monomers, at the cell surface, and also that cholesterol depletion does not affect homodimerization, as assessed by bioluminescence resonance energy transfer (7). This complements our data in which functional A_{2A} receptor activity still appears after cholesterol depletion.

Our results suggest that basolateral IK channels mediate K^+ secretion induced by cholesterol-dependent adenosine receptor activation. Altering membrane fluidity by manipulating membrane cholesterol content has been shown to affect several types of K^+ channels, including inwardly rectifying K^+ channels (30) and large conductance Ca^{2+} regulated K^+ channels (4). However, it is unlikely that IK channel activity is directly enhanced after cholesterol depletion since our previous studies showed that the IK channel was not involved in I_{sc} activation by membrane cholesterol depletion (20).

Several lines of evidence show the existence of multimolecular signaling complexes containing GPCRs and ion channels (9;22;26). This would be an efficient way to organize cellular signaling since activation of one type of GPCR would be selective for certain downstream targets. Perhaps the A_{2A} receptor also resides in an analogous signaling complex with IK channels. Intuitively, it makes sense that this signaling complex would be under a state of relative inhibition, given that the molecules are in close proximity of each other. By depleting cell membrane cholesterol, disinhibition of the normally quiet multimolecular complex would result in overreactivity upon ligand binding.

In these studies, we show that altering the cholesterol content of epithelial cell membranes affects adenosine-mediated ion transport. Basolateral adenosine receptor stimulation caused a greater secretory response after cholesterol depletion, and this effect was reversible upon cholesterol repletion. IK channels mediated the response to NECA and perhaps they reside in a basolateral multimolecular complex with A_{2A} receptors to specifically regulate secretion. Using a variety of raft-disrupting methods we observed that this effect was not due to the presence of membrane lipid microdomains, instead alteration of membrane cholesterol content and the concurrent change in membrane fluidity were responsible for these effects. Therefore, cellular regulation of membrane cholesterol content may control epithelial secretion.

REFERENCES

- 1. Barrett, K. E. Immune-related intestinal chloride secretion. III. Acute and chronic effects of mast cell mediators on chloride secretion by a human colonic epithelial cell line. *J.Immunol.* 147: 959-964, 1991.
- Barrett, K. E., P. A. Huott, S. S. Shah, K. Dharmsathaphorn, and S. I. Wasserman. Differing effects of apical and basolateral adenosine on colonic epithelial cell line T₈₄. Am.J.Physiol. 256: C197-C203, 1989.
- Boesze-Battaglia, K. and A. D. Albert. Cholesterol modulation of photoreceptor function in bovine retinal rod outer segments. *J.Biol.Chem.* 265: 20727-20730, 1990.
- Bolotina, V., V. Omelyanenko, B. Heyes, U. Ryan, and P. Bregestovski. Variations of membrane cholesterol alter the kinetics of Ca²⁺-dependent K⁺ channels and membrane fluidity in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Pflugers Arch.* 415: 262-268, 1989.
- 5. Brasitus, T. A., R. Dahiya, P. K. Dudeja, and B. M. Bissonnette. Cholesterol modulates alkaline phosphatase activity of rat intestinal microvillus membranes. *J.Biol.Chem.* 263: 8592-8597, 1988.
- 6. Brown, M. S. and J. L. Goldstein. A proteolytic pathway that controls the cholesterol content of membranes, cells, and blood. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 96: 11041-11048, 1999.

- Canals, M., J. Burgueno, D. Marcellino, N. Cabello, E. I. Canela, J. Mallol, L. Agnati, S. Ferre, M. Bouvier, K. Fuxe, F. Ciruela, C. Lluis, and R. Franco. Homodimerization of adenosine A_{2A} receptors: qualitative and quantitative assessment by fluorescence and bioluminescence energy transfer. *J.Neurochem.* 88: 726-734, 2004.
- 8. Carlin, R. W., J. H. Lee, D. C. Marcus, and B. D. Schultz. Adenosine stimulates anion secretion across cultured and native adult human vas deferens epithelia. *Biol.Reprod.* 68: 1027-1034, 2003.
- Davare, M. A., V. Avdonin, D. D. Hall, E. M. Peden, A. Burette, R. J. Weinberg, M. C. Horne, T. Hoshi, and J. W. Hell. A β₂ adrenergic receptor signaling complex assembled with the Ca²⁺ channel Ca_v1.2. *Science* 293: 98-101, 2001.
- 10. Dobbins, J. W., J. P. Laurenson, and J. N. Forrest, Jr. Adenosine and adenosine analogues stimulate adenosine cyclic 3', 5'-monophosphate-dependent chloride secretion in the mammalian ileum. *J.Clin.Invest.* 74: 929-935, 1984.
- Drab, M., P. Verkade, M. Elger, M. Kasper, M. Lohn, B. Lauterbach, J. Menne, C. Lindschau, F. Mende, F. C. Luft, A. Schedl, H. Haller, and T. V. Kurzchalia. Loss of caveolae, vascular dysfunction, and pulmonary defects in caveolin-1 genedisrupted mice. *Science* 293: 2449-2452, 2001.
- 12. Dudeja, P. K., E. S. Foster, R. Dahiya, and T. A. Brasitus. Modulation of Na⁺-H⁺ exchange by ethinyl estradiol in rat colonic brush-border membrane vesicles. *Biochim.Biophys.Acta* 899: 222-228, 1987.
- Gao, Z., Z. Li, S. P. Baker, R. D. Lasley, S. Meyer, E. Elzein, V. Palle, J. A. Zablocki, B. Blackburn, and L. Belardinelli. Novel short-acting A_{2A} adenosine receptor agonists for coronary vasodilation: inverse relationship between affinity and duration of action of A_{2A} agonists. *J.Pharmacol.Exp.Ther.* 298: 209-218, 2001.
- 14. Gimpl, G., K. Burger, and F. Fahrenholz. Cholesterol as modulator of receptor function. *Biochemistry* 36: 10959-10974, 1997.
- 15. Grasl, M. and K. Turnheim. Stimulation of electrolyte secretion in rabbit colon by adenosine. *J. Physiol.* 346: 93-110, 1984.
- 16. Hailstones, D., L. S. Sleer, R. G. Parton, and K. K. Stanley. Regulation of caveolin and caveolae by cholesterol in MDCK cells. *J.Lipid Res.* 39: 369-379, 1998.

- 17. Harikumar, K. G., V. Puri, R. D. Singh, K. Hanada, R. E. Pagano, and L. J. Miller. Differential effects of modification of membrane cholesterol and sphingolipids on the conformation, function, and trafficking of the G protein-coupled cholecystokinin receptor. *J.Biol.Chem.* 280: 2176-2185, 2005.
- 18. Lakowicz, J. R., I. Gryczynski, Z. Gryczynski, and J. D. Dattelbaum. Anisotropybased sensing with reference fluorophores. *Anal.Biochem.* 267: 397-405, 1999.
- Lam, R. S., E. M. App, D. Nahirney, A. J. Szkotak, M. A. Vieira-Coelho, M. King, and M. Duszyk. Regulation of Cl⁻ secretion by α₂-adrenergic receptors in mouse colonic epithelium. *J. Physiol.* 548: 475-484, 2003.
- 20. Lam, R. S., A. R. Shaw, and M. Duszyk. Membrane cholesterol content modulates activation of BK channels in colonic epithelia. *Biochim.Biophys.Acta* 1667: 241-248, 2004.
- Lasley, R. D., P. Narayan, A. Uittenbogaard, and E. J. Smart. Activated cardiac adenosine A₁ receptors translocate out of caveolae. *J.Biol.Chem.* 275: 4417-4421, 2000.
- Lavine, N., N. Ethier, J. N. Oak, L. Pei, F. Liu, P. Trieu, R. V. Rebois, M. Bouvier, T. E. Hebert, and H. H. Van Tol. G protein-coupled receptors form stable complexes with inwardly rectifying potassium channels and adenylyl cyclase. *J.Biol.Chem.* 277: 46010-46019, 2002.
- 23. Lu, H., C. Chen, and C. Klaassen. Tissue distribution of concentrative and equilibrative nucleoside transporters in male and female rats and mice. *Drug Metab.Dispos.* 32: 1455-1461, 2004.
- Madara, J. L., T. W. Patapoff, B. Gillece-Castro, S. P. Colgan, C. A. Parkos, C. Delp, and R. J. Mrsny. 5'-adenosine monophosphate is the neutrophil-derived paracrine factor that elicits chloride secretion from T84 intestinal epithelial cell monolayers. *J.Clin.Invest.* 91: 2320-2325, 1993.
- 25. Mun, E. C., K. J. Tally, and J. B. Matthews. Characterization and regulation of adenosine transport in T84 intestinal epithelial cells. *Am.J.Physiol.* 274: G261-G269, 1998.
- Naren, A. P., B. Cobb, C. Li, K. Roy, D. Nelson, G. D. Heda, J. Liao, K. L. Kirk, E. J. Sorscher, J. Hanrahan, and J. P. Clancy. A macromolecular complex of β₂

adrenergic receptor, CFTR, and ezrin/radixin/moesin-binding phosphoprotein 50 is regulated by PKA. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 100: 342-346, 2003.

- Niu, S. L., D. C. Mitchell, and B. J. Litman. Manipulation of cholesterol levels in rod disk membranes by methyl-β-cyclodextrin: effects on receptor activation. *J.Biol.Chem.* 277: 20139-20145, 2002.
- Politowska, E., R. Kazmierkiewicz, V. Wiegand, F. Fahrenholz, and J. Ciarkowski. Molecular modelling study of the role of cholesterol in the stimulation of the oxytocin receptor. *Acta Biochim.Pol.* 48: 83-93, 2001.
- Resnick, M. B., S. P. Colgan, T. W. Patapoff, R. J. Mrsny, C. S. Awtrey, C. Delp-Archer, P. F. Weller, and J. L. Madara. Activated eosinophils evoke chloride secretion in model intestinal epithelia primarily via regulated release of 5'-AMP. *J.Immunol.* 151: 5716-5723, 1993.
- Romanenko, V. G., Y. Fang, F. Byfield, A. J. Travis, C. A. Vandenberg, G. H. Rothblat, and I. Levitan. Cholesterol sensitivity and lipid raft targeting of Kir2.1 channels. *Biophys.J.* 87: 3850-3861, 2004.
- Sitaraman, S. V., L. Wang, M. Wong, M. Bruewer, M. Hobert, C. H. Yun, D. Merlin, and J. L. Madara. The adenosine 2b receptor is recruited to the plasma membrane and associates with E3KARP and Ezrin upon agonist stimulation. *J.Biol.Chem.* 277: 33188-33195, 2002.
- 32. Stephens, C. L. and M. Shinitzky. Modulation of electrical activity in *Aplysia* neurones by cholesterol. *Nature* 270: 267-268, 1977.
- Strohmeier, G. R., W. I. Lencer, T. W. Patapoff, L. F. Thompson, S. L. Carlson, S. J. Moe, D. K. Carnes, R. J. Mrsny, and J. L. Madara. Surface expression, polarization, and functional significance of CD73 in human intestinal epithelia. *J.Clin.Invest.* 99: 2588-2601, 1997.
- 34. Strohmeier, G. R., S. M. Reppert, W. I. Lencer, and J. L. Madara. The A_{2b} adenosine receptor mediates cAMP responses to adenosine receptor agonists in human intestinal epithelia. *J.Biol.Chem.* 270: 2387-2394, 1995.
- Szkotak, A. J., A. M. Ng, S. F. Man, S. A. Baldwin, C. E. Cass, J. D. Young, and M. Duszyk. Coupling of CFTR-mediated anion secretion to nucleoside transporters and adenosine homeostasis in Calu-3 cells. *J.Membr.Biol.* 192: 169-179, 2003.

- 36. Szkotak, A. J., A. M. Ng, J. Sawicka, S. A. Baldwin, S. F. Man, C. E. Cass, J. D. Young, and M. Duszyk. Regulation of K⁺ current in human airway epithelial cells by exogenous and autocrine adenosine. *Am.J.Physiol.Cell Physiol.* 281: C1991-C2002, 2001.
- 37. Ward, J. L. and C. M. Tse. Nucleoside transport in human colonic epithelial cell lines: evidence for two Na⁺-independent transport systems in T84 and Caco-2 cells. *Biochim.Biophys.Acta* 1419: 15-22, 1999.

CHAPTER 5

Discussion

.

Epithelia have many roles, including protection of the tissues lying below, secretion of substances, and transcellular transport of molecules. Colonic epithelium is under the influence of many extracellular regulatory factors, which can originate from nerve, immune, and circulating cells. These mediators can affect ionic conduction across epithelial cells. In addition, intrinsic cellular mechanisms can regulate epithelial ion transport. The holistic function of the colonic epithelium is a result of the contribution from all regulatory mechanisms.

This thesis shows experimental evidence for several novel molecular mechanisms regulating epithelial secretory processes in the colon. We have further characterized neuroendocrine mechanisms that regulate colonic secretion (Chapters 2 and 4). We also looked at cell membrane composition and how it is important for regulating colonic epithelial ion transport (Chapters 3 and 4). Our studies emphasize that altering basolateral K^+ channel activity controls colonic secretion (Chapters 2, 3, and 4). The major findings from these studies are that:

- α₂-adrenergic receptor (α₂AR) stimulation inhibits colonic epithelial Cl⁻ secretion
 by inhibition of basolateral K_{ATP} channels
- basolateral BK channels in colonic epithelial cells are regulated by basolateral membrane microdomains
- adenosine receptor stimulation activates anion secretion in a membrane cholesterol-dependent manner

Cellular mechanisms of neural regulation of colonic epithelial ion transport

Neural inputs represent a major mechanism for regulating colonic secretion. The colonic epithelium receives innervation from the ENS (intrinsic nerves), as well as the ANS (extrinsic nerves), and these inputs contribute to inhibiting or activating epithelial secretory processes. Undergraduate-level physiology courses teach that sympathetic input inhibits intestinal secretion (via circulating catecholamines in the flight-or-fight response), and colonic epithelial α -adrenergic receptor stimulation corresponds to this generalization. The colon epithelium has a net absorptive function under normal conditions, and the pro-absorptive properties of sympathetic tone could help to maintain the balance of transepithelial ion transport. Although it well known that stimulation of colonic epithelial α_2 ARs induces absorption (22), the cellular mechanisms involved in this response have not been fully studied. Chapter 2 elucidated that the absorptive action of $\alpha_2 AR$ stimulation is due to inhibition of basolateral K_{ATP} channels. This represents a novel mechanism of K_{ATP} channel regulation by $\alpha_2 ARs$, and therefore neural regulation. Furthermore, this effect was shown to involve $G_{i/o}$ proteins, but not cAMP or Ca²⁺ signaling.

 I_{sc} inhibition was due to a decrease in net Cl⁻ secretion, as assessed by pharmacological and ³⁶Cl⁻ studies. The fact that there was an increase in apical-tobasolateral movement of Cl⁻ suggests that basolateral Cl⁻ channels may be involved in the response to α_2AR agonists. It is not surprising that Cl⁻ secretion contributes to basal I_{sc} , however we found there was a bidirectional transepithelial movement of Cl⁻ so that Cl⁻ absorption was also present under basal conditions. This backflux of Cl⁻ must involve basolateral Cl⁻ channels. Basolateral Cl⁻ channels are present in mouse colon epithelial cells (32), and we have found an increase in basal I_{sc} in response to basolateral Cl⁻ channel inhibition using the inhibitor 4,4'-diisothiocyanatostilbene-2,2'-disulphonic acid (DIDS, 1 mM, unpublished observations). This suggests that basolateral Cl⁻ channels are constitutively open under normal conditions, and would allow for a backflux of Cl⁻ movement. The molecular identity of basolateral Cl⁻ channels in colon epithelium is largely unknown, however ClC-2 channels may be located in the basolateral membrane (8) where they could contribute to colonic Cl⁻ absorption. Further studies are needed to clarify a role, if any, for basolateral Cl⁻ channels in the response to α_2AR agonists.

Our studies showed that basolateral K_{ATP} channels are inhibited in response to α_2AR agonists; however, NKCC and the Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase were not inhibited. α_2AR agonists inhibit K_{ATP} channels, and the closing of these channels drives a reduction in colonic Cl⁻ secretion. These studies also showed mRNA expression of K_{ATP} channels in mouse colon epithelium. K_{ATP} channels are unique K⁺ channels in that they have an octomeric structure, as opposed to the classical K⁺ channel structure containing 4 subunits. They are made up of 4 Kir6.x K⁺-conducting subunits, and these are surrounding by 4 sulfonylurea receptor (SUR) regulatory subunits (1). From evaluation of K_{ATP} channel subunit mRNA expression as well as pharmacological studies, it was inferred that mouse colonic epithelial cells contain K_{ATP} channels similar to those in vascular smooth muscle cells, which are made up of Kir6.1/SUR2B subunits or Kir6.2/SUR2B subunits. These channels are tonically active, since basal I_{sc} was inhibited by K_{ATP} channel blockers. K_{ATP} channels are inhibited by ATP (37), and activated by phosphatidylinositol phosphates (4;43). The balance in mouse colon epithelial cells must lean towards open K_{ATP} channels under

normal conditions, since we found that K_{ATP} channels were basally active. Basolateral K_{ATP} channels may therefore contribute to basal Cl⁻ secretion for colonic hydration.

 α_2 ARs can couple to G_{i/o} proteins (11), which are inhibited by pertussis toxin, as well as G_s proteins (14). We saw that α_2 AR agonists inhibited I_{sc} in a pertussis toxin-sensitive manner. However, neither cAMP nor Ca²⁺ mediated the response to α_2 AR agonists. This suggests that other intracellular signaling mechanisms are responsible for transducing the signal from α_2 ARs to K_{ATP} channels. G_{i/o} proteins have been shown to directly activate K_{ATP} channels (23), and perhaps this occurs in colonic epithelium. Further studies are needed to clarify the intracellular signaling mechanisms regulating the response to α_2 AR activation.

 α_2 AR agonists inhibited I_{sc} to a greater degree in proximal than distal colon epithelium. The responses to α_2 AR subtype-specific inhibitors suggested that the α_{2A} subtype of ARs are present in mouse colon epithelium, in accordance with human colonic epithelial cells (48). Why do α_2 AR agonists have more potent effects in the proximal colon? Likely, α_2 AR expression is higher in the proximal mouse colon, as has been shown in human intestine (48). Alternatively, or additionally, K_{ATP} channels may show more abundant expression in the proximal colon. If basolateral Cl⁻ channels are involved in the response to α_2 AR agonists, then maybe these channels also show higher expression in the proximal colon. Future qualitative studies could determine the expression pattern for these channels along the length of the colon.

Cell membrane composition regulates colonic epithelial ion transport

Chapter 3 studied cell membrane regulation of epithelial ion channels. We provide evidence that the cell membrane lipid environment plays a role in regulating colonic epithelial ion transport. These studies highlighted the polarity of epithelial membrane function, since the effect of altering lipid composition in the apical membrane was different from the same experiments performed on the basolateral membrane. In these studies, the two lipids of concern were cholesterol and sphingomyelin. Lipid rafts are enriched in both cholesterol and sphingomyelin, and rafts have been assigned important roles in regulating certain membrane proteins, including ion channels. Our studies focused on these membrane microdomains in colonic epithelial cells.

Our studies of membrane lipid composition and its regulation of colonic epithelial ion transport showed that basolateral BK channel activity depends on basolateral lipid raft integrity. We used three different methods to disrupt rafts: methyl-\beta-cyclodextrin (cholesterol (cholesterol depletion). filipin binding), and sphingomyelinase (sphingomyelin depletion). Basolateral raft disruption was shown to activate transepithelial CFTR-mediated anion secretion, and this was due to activation of basolateral BK channels. As previously mentioned, basolateral K⁺ channel activation is one mechanism for driving anion secretion, and this is an example of how the coordinated activity of ion transporters contributes to net ion transport. We also looked at other possible basolateral membrane targets such as NKCC and the Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase, which has been shown to be raft associated (28); however, neither of these transporters was involved in this response. Addition of exogenous ceramide, a product of sphingomyelin hydrolysis, did not mimic the effect of SMase. Ceramide is known to

affect certain ion channels (5), however our data suggests that ceramide production is not involved in the raft-dependent response we observed.

Does this effect occur in other types of epithelial cells? Similar experiments in our lab using a human airway epithelial cell line (Calu-3) showed that basolateral raft disruption with M β CD did not activate I_{sc} (unpublished observations). Therefore, BK channel regulation by rafts does not seem to be a universal regulation mechanism in all epithelial cells.

Immunoblotting experiments showed the protein expression of BK channels in mouse colonic epithelium. In addition, since BK channel inhibition did not have an effect on basal Isc, these channels are tonically inactive, unlike KATP channels. From the sucrose gradient density fractionation studies, the BK channel was found predominantly in the high-density pellet fraction. Although the BK channel did not localize to light density fractions, where raft proteins typically localize, this does not mean that the BK channel is not raft associated. Cytoskeletal proteins have been shown to isolate in high-density detergent-insoluble domains (36), and many cytoskeletal proteins are found associated with rafts (26;44;49). We hypothesize that BK channels reside in high-density cytoskeletal-associated rafts. Caveolar BK channels have been shown to be associated with, and regulated by, the actin cytoskeleton (7). Continuation of this project would benefit from studies looking at colocalization of colonic epithelial BK channels with cvtoskeletal example components, for using immunocytochemistry or coimmunoprecipitation experiments. It is not understood how membrane proteins associate with lipid rafts, and cytoskeletal attachment represents one mechanism for raft protein association. Ankyrin, a protein that binds membrane proteins to the cytoskeletal

network, appears to be located near the basolateral pole of intestinal epithelial cells (21). In the polarized epithelial cell, the cytoskeletal network underlying the basolateral membrane is distinct from that under the apical membrane. For example, the microtubule network in Caco-2 cells is dense under the apical membrane and sparser near the basolateral domain (16). Cytoskeletal organization and spatial location could be part of the reason that apical and basolateral rafts differ. Indeed, our studies showed a different effect on transepithelial transport from raft disruption at the apical or basolateral membrane.

Caveolar BK channels associate with caveolin-1 in vascular endothelial cells (50) and myometrial smooth muscle cells (7), and in both of these cells cholesterol depletion activated BK channels, which corresponds to our data. However, BK channel association with caveolin-1 might depend on cell type, since the two proteins colocalized in esophageal skeletal muscle bundles, but not in intestinal smooth muscle cells (10). Our studies showed that caveolin-1 protein is expressed in mouse colon epithelial cells. Caveolin-1 is localized in light-density fractions, as well as the pellet fraction, and raft disruption altered caveolin-1 localization. Although we did not see colocalization of BK channels and caveolin-1 in light-density fractions, it is possible that the caveolin-1 in the pellet fraction is associated with BK channels in colonic epithelial cells.

Several types of ion channels are raft-associated and rafts represent a membraneintrinsic mechanism for channel regulation. Numerous signaling molecules also localize to rafts. BK channels are regulated by and associated with PKA (47), and G proteins directly modulate BK channel activity (25). Membrane microdomains represent a novel mechanism for BK channel regulation, which includes channel association with the cytoskeleton and other proteins to maintain the channel's raft localization. In support of this organizational model for ion channels, Trp Ca²⁺ channels were shown to associate with caveolin-1 and to functionally depend on the actin cytoskeleton (29). Coimmunoprecipation experiments did not show a direct interaction between the Trp channels and actin (29); however, other proteins may cross link channels with the cytoskeleton. Another study shows evidence that K_{ATP} channels are compartmentalized with AC by their association with caveolin-1 (42). Signaling and regulatory molecules located within close vicinity of BK channels would create an organized package of molecules that could regulate BK channel function. Support for this idea comes from studies showing that BK channels are found in multimolecular signaling complexes in smooth muscle cells (27). Further studies are needed to clarify if BK channels are associated with caveolin-1 and with cytoskeletal proteins in colon epithelial cells.

Cell membrane composition affects endocrine regulation of colonic secretion

Physiologically, adenosine is an important regulator of colonic epithelial secretion under basal conditions, with local autocrine and paracrine production. Under pathological conditions, adenosine can be produced in large quantities by non-epithelial cells with consequences on colonic secretion. Although it is well known that adenosine stimulates epithelial secretion, the cellular mechanisms of adenosine action are not clearly defined. The studies from Chapter 4 define a mechanism of regulation for adenosine signaling in colon epithelial cells, where cell membrane composition influences adenosine-mediated secretion. Our studies on the regulation of adenosine receptor-mediated ion transport present novel and interesting results. We showed that altering membrane cholesterol content affected the response to certain adenosine receptor agonists, specifically A_{2A} agonists. The influence of cell membrane lipids on membrane proteins is unquestionable, however the specificities of lipid regulation of protein function are not well known.

The hydrophobic regions of membrane proteins are associated with lipids in the cell membrane, and it is generally accepted that these proteins require a specific lipid environment to function properly. There are different schools of thought on what kind of role the lipid-protein interaction has. Do proteins "choose" the lipids that they will associate with? Or do the lipids determine the proteins they associate with? Because of the great diversity of lipid species in the cell membrane, it would seem that there are quite specific lipid-protein interactions that are not randomly determined. One theory for explaining how some proteins are targeted to lipid rafts describes "lipid shells" that encase the proteins and target them to rafts (2). This model supports that lipids determine the protein's location.

Cholesterol is enriched in the cell membrane, compared to intracellular membranes. Certain GPCRs have been shown to rely on membrane cholesterol for proper functioning, and cholesterol depletion may inhibit (17;19;20) or stimulate (3;6) GPCRs. Although cholesterol may have indirect effects on membrane proteins, it also can have direct effects. Studies with optical isomers of cholesterol are a thorough method for showing cholesterol-specific actions (41). Cholesterol may directly bind and regulate membrane proteins, such as caveolin-1 (34), or it may regulate them indirectly. Membrane cholesterol depletion was shown to reduce ligand binding for certain GPCRs (17;20;38). Our studies showed that manipulation of basolateral membrane cholesterol levels, but not another cell membrane lipid (sphingomyelin), affected adenosine-mediated secretion in the colon. This effect was not due to disturbances in lipid raft integrity, since other raft-disrupting treatments did not affect the response to basolateral adenosine receptor stimulation. We also showed that the effect was associated with cholesterol's effects on membrane fluidity. This suggests that the effect of cholesterol on the physical parameters of the cell membrane may be mediating the response.

With respect to epithelial polarity, cholesterol is found in larger amounts in the basolateral compared to the apical membrane of rat intestinal epithelial cells (9). The basolateral membrane of MDCK epithelial cells showed a faster rate of cholesterol efflux than the apical membrane (39), and perhaps this also is a factor in intestinal epithelial cells. Physiological cholesterol efflux occurs at the basolateral membrane of colonic epithelial cells, where HDL mediates reverse cholesterol transport via the circulation. This process contributes to cellular cholesterol homeostasis, and from our data we hypothesize that cholesterol efflux also regulates adenosine-mediated colonic secretion.

RT-PCR studies showed ENT1, but not ENT2, mRNA expression in mouse colonic epithelial cells. Studies in T84 cells show that ENT activity is restricted to the basolateral membrane (33;46). On the other hand, CNT uptake occurs in the apical membrane of small intestinal epithelium (40), and was completely absent in colon epithelial cells (40;51). Although we showed ENT1 expression mouse colon epithelium, pharmacological studies excluded nucleoside transporter involvement in the enhanced response to adenosine receptor agonists that we observed.

Our studies suggested that the basolateral IK channel is involved in the enhanced secretory response that we observed. IK channel activity is likely not directly affected by cell membrane cholesterol, since results from Chapter 3 showed that the IK channel was not involved in the response to M β CD. The presence of basolateral IK channels has been observed in rat colon epithelial cells (15), and these channels have been shown to play a role in colonic secretion (24). In mouse colon epithelium, basolateral IK channels are not basally active since IK channel inhibition did not affect basal I_{sc}. However, these channels may be activated in response to adenosine. Studies in airway epithelial cells suggest that adenosine activates IK channels (45), and perhaps this also occurs in colonic epithelial cells.

One explanation of the results from these studies is that the basolateral membrane in colonic epithelial cells contains molecular complexes bringing A_{2A} receptors and IK channels in close proximity. Whole signaling complexes containing GPCRs and their effectors have been identified. For example, the β_2 -adrenergic receptor was found associated with G_s, AC, PKA, phosphatase PP2A, and an L-type Ca²⁺ channel (12). Another study using airway epithelial cells revealed a molecular complex containing the β_2 -adrenergic receptor, AC, EBP-50, and CFTR (35). These multimolecular signaling complexes would create an environment for efficient and selective signal transduction, from GPCRs to their nearby effectors.

The studies in this thesis answer several questions, but also bring to light many new questions. New methods are continually being developed and can help to more thoroughly answer some of these questions. For example, membrane cholesterol studies would benefit from using *in vivo* treatments to alter cholesterol content. It was shown that

feeding mice n-3 PUFAs caused a decrease in the amount of cell membrane cholesterol by ~45% in colonic epithelial cells (30). This technique could bridge this research to clinical applications, where diet could alter cell membrane cholesterol content. Recently mice were produced that are deficient in desmosterol reductase, an enzyme involved in cholesterol biosynthesis, and these mice have greatly decreased plasma cholesterol levels (52). It is possible that these mice also have decreased level of cell membrane cholesterol, and therefore it would be interesting to use them for continuation of our studies on colonic epithelial ion transport.

Experimental model

The most commonly used human cell lines for studies of colonic epithelial ion transport are T84, HT-29, and Caco-2. Although cell lines afford many benefits for studying the cellular mechanisms controlling ion transport, they also have some drawbacks. One major issue is that their ion channel expression profile can differ dramatically from native tissue. It is highly unlikely that these cell lines behave like native cells in colonic epithelial tissue. The colon epithelial cell lines that are currently used most resemble crypt base cells (18). However, whole tissue secretory responses involve a heterogenous population of epithelial cells situated along the crypt base to the surface, which have varying ion channel profiles (e.g. CFTR, ENaC).

One benefit of tissue experimental models is that native tissue responses are studied. The colonic epithelial tissue model we used more closely mimics the *in vivo* situation than colonic epithelial cell lines grown in culture. In our experiments, epithelial tissue is freshly isolated and conditions are imitated to maintain the tissue in its native state as closely as possible. Although tissue models are closer to the *in vivo* situation than cell lines, their more complex structure also can be a drawback in the experimental situation. As with all experimental models, the potential limitations need to be acknowledged. Rarely is a tissue sample a homogenous group of cells like cell lines are. Aside from underlying muscle cells, several other cells are found in the submucosa including neurons, mast cells, intraepithelial lymphocytes, and fibroblasts. It is not known what contribution these cells have in altering epithelial function. In the colonic epithelial tissue used for our Ussing chamber studies, the muscular layers are carefully dissected from the epithelium. Once the tissue is mounted in the Ussing chamber system, continuous perfusion with $95\%O_2/5\%CO_2$ allows a gentle washing of the epithelial membranes, reducing the stray cells associated with the tissue in the submucosa.

Intestinal epithelial cells are extremely difficult to grow as primary cultures because they are fragile cells. Isolation of these cells is tedious since they die within hours of isolation. Performing experiments (patch-clamp studies, intracellular Ca²⁺ measurements, etc.) on isolated cells is not easy, and has limited some experiments that we could have done. Whitehead et al. have created a cell line of mouse colon epithelial cells, called young adult mouse colon (YAMC) cells (53). Perhaps these cells are more robust and could better handle cellular experiments requiring isolated cells. If so, these cells would be useful for continuing studies on cellular mechanisms regulating colonic epithelial ion transport.

Common animal tissue models for colonic transepithelial ion transport studies have traditionally been the rat, rabbit, guinea pig, and mouse. For our studies we have used mouse colonic tissue. Although species differences are evident, mice are decent animal models for observing gastrointestinal function with applicability to the human condition. For example, CF mouse intestinal pathology, namely gastrointestinal obstruction, is similar to that seen in CF patients. Due to the similarities of gastrointestinal dysfunction in both CF patients and mice, this suggests that intestinal function in both mice and humans relies heavily on the presence of CFTR for proper secretory function.

Conclusion

The studies in this thesis show that basolateral K^+ channels play an important role in transepithelial colonic secretion. Many studies have shown the importance of basolateral K^+ conductance in Cl⁻ secretion (13;31). In fact modulation of basolateral K^+ channels may be effective for treatment of dysfunctional intestinal secretion. At least in theory, basolateral K^+ channel activators may help alleviate hyposecretion, whereas inhibitors may help cases of secretory diarrhea.

Taken together, our results show several different novel mechanisms of regulating basolateral K^+ channel activity and overall colonic secretion. These findings further our understanding of the complex mechanisms regulating colonic epithelial ion transport, such as membrane composition and neuroendocrine factors. The information from these studies could contribute to the development of specific treatments for conditions of colonic hypersecretion or hyposecretion, and highlights the need for further study in this area.

REFERENCES

- 1. Aguilar-Bryan, L. and J. Bryan. Molecular biology of adenosine triphosphatesensitive potassium channels. *Endocr. Rev.* 20: 101-135, 1999.
- 2. Anderson, R. G. and K. Jacobson. A role for lipid shells in targeting proteins to caveolae, rafts, and other lipid domains. *Science* 296: 1821-1825, 2002.
- Barnett, J. V., L. S. Haigh, J. D. Marsh, and J. B. Galper. Effects of low density lipoproteins and mevinolin on sympathetic responsiveness in cultured chick atrial cells. Regulation of β-adrenergic receptors and α_s. J.Biol.Chem. 264: 10779-10786, 1989.
- 4. Baukrowitz, T., U. Schulte, D. Oliver, S. Herlitze, T. Krauter, S. J. Tucker, J. P. Ruppersberg, and B. Fakler. PIP₂ and PIP as determinants for ATP inhibition of K_{ATP} channels. *Science* 282: 1141-1144, 1998.
- 5. Bock, J., I. Szabo, N. Gamper, C. Adams, and E. Gulbins. Ceramide inhibits the potassium channel Kv1.3 by the formation of membrane platforms. *Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun.* 305: 890-897, 2003.
- 6. Boesze-Battaglia, K. and A. D. Albert. Cholesterol modulation of photoreceptor function in bovine retinal rod outer segments. *J.Biol.Chem.* 265: 20727-20730, 1990.
- Brainard, A. M., A. J. Miller, J. R. Martens, and S. K. England. Maxi-K channels localize to caveolae in human myometrium: a role for an actin-channel-caveolin complex in the regulation of myometrial smooth muscle K⁺ current. *Am.J.Physiol.Cell Physiol.* Epub: 2005.
- 8. Catalan, M., M. I. Niemeyer, L. P. Cid, and F. V. Sepulveda. Basolateral ClC-2 chloride channels in surface colon epithelium: regulation by a direct effect of intracellular chloride. *Gastroenterology* 126: 1104-1114, 2004.
- 9. Chapelle, S. and M. Gilles-Baillien. Phospholipids and cholesterol in brush border and basolateral membranes from rat intestinal mucosa. *Biochim.Biophys.Acta* 753: 269-271, 1983.

- 10. Cho, W. J. and E. E. Daniel. Proteins of interstitial cells of Cajal and intestinal smooth muscle, colocalized with caveolin-1. *Am.J.Physiol.Gastrointest.Liver Physiol.* 288: G571-G585, 2005.
- Cotecchia, S., B. K. Kobilka, K. W. Daniel, R. D. Nolan, E. Y. Lapetina, M. G. Caron, R. J. Lefkowitz, and J. W. Regan. Multiple second messenger pathways of α-adrenergic receptor subtypes expressed in eukaryotic cells. *J.Biol.Chem.* 265: 63-69, 1990.
- 12. Davare, M. A., V. Avdonin, D. D. Hall, E. M. Peden, A. Burette, R. J. Weinberg, M. C. Horne, T. Hoshi, and J. W. Hell. A β_2 adrenergic receptor signaling complex assembled with the Ca²⁺ channel Ca_v1.2. *Science* 293: 98-101, 2001.
- Devor, D. C., A. K. Singh, A. C. Gerlach, R. A. Frizzell, and R. J. Bridges. Inhibition of intestinal Cl⁻ secretion by clotrimazole: direct effect on basolateral membrane K⁺ channels. *Am.J.Physiol.* 273: C531-C540, 1997.
- Eason, M. G. and S. B. Liggett. Identification of a G_s coupling domain in the amino terminus of the third intracellular loop of the α_{2A}-adrenergic receptor. Evidence for distinct structural determinants that confer G_s versus G_i coupling. *J.Biol.Chem.* 270: 24753-24760, 1995.
- Furness, J. B., H. L. Robbins, I. S. Selmer, B. Hunne, M. X. Chen, G. A. Hicks, S. Moore, and C. B. Neylon. Expression of intermediate conductance potassium channel immunoreactivity in neurons and epithelial cells of the rat gastrointestinal tract. *Cell Tissue Res.* 314: 179-189, 2003.
- Gilbert, T., A. Le Bivic, A. Quaroni, and E. Rodriguez-Boulan. Microtubular organization and its involvement in the biogenetic pathways of plasma membrane proteins in Caco-2 intestinal epithelial cells. J. Cell Biol. 113: 275-288, 1991.
- 17. Gimpl, G., K. Burger, and F. Fahrenholz. Cholesterol as modulator of receptor function. *Biochemistry* 36: 10959-10974, 1997.
- 18. Greger, R. Role of CFTR in the colon. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 62: 467-491, 2000.
- 19. Haigh, L. S., G. F. Leatherman, D. S. O'Hara, T. W. Smith, and J. B. Galper. Effects of low density lipoproteins and mevinolin on cholesterol content and muscarinic cholinergic responsiveness in cultured chick atrial cells. Regulation of

levels of muscarinic receptors and guanine nucleotide regulatory proteins. J.Biol.Chem. 263: 15608-15618, 1988.

- 20. Harikumar, K. G., V. Puri, R. D. Singh, K. Hanada, R. E. Pagano, and L. J. Miller. Differential effects of modification of membrane cholesterol and sphingolipids on the conformation, function, and trafficking of the G protein-coupled cholecystokinin receptor. J.Biol.Chem. 280: 2176-2185, 2005.
- 21. Hofer, D. and D. Drenckhahn. Cytoskeletal markers allowing discrimination between brush cells and other epithelial cells of the gut including enteroendocrine cells. *Histochem.Cell Biol.* 105: 405-412, 1996.
- 22. Holliday, N. D., I. R. Tough, and H. M. Cox. Inhibition of cyclic AMP-dependent chloride secretion by PP receptors and α_2 -adrenoceptors in a human colonic epithelial cell line. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch.Pharmacol.* 355: 183-189, 1997.
- 23. Ishizaka, H., S. R. Gudi, J. A. Frangos, and L. Kuo. Coronary arteriolar dilation to acidosis: role of ATP-sensitive potassium channels and pertussis toxin-sensitive G proteins. *Circulation* 99: 558-563, 1999.
- Joiner, W. J., S. Basavappa, S. Vidyasagar, K. Nehrke, S. Krishnan, H. J. Binder, E. L. Boulpaep, and V. M. Rajendran. Active K⁺ secretion through multiple K_{Ca}-type channels and regulation by IK_{Ca} channels in rat proximal colon. *Am.J.Physiol.Gastrointest.Liver Physiol.* 285: G185-G196, 2003.
- 25. Kume, H., M. P. Graziano, and M. I. Kotlikoff. Stimulatory and inhibitory regulation of calcium-activated potassium channels by guanine nucleotide-binding proteins. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 89: 11051-11055, 1992.
- 26. Li, N., A. Mak, D. P. Richards, C. Naber, B. O. Keller, L. Li, and A. R. Shaw. Monocyte lipid rafts contain proteins implicated in vesicular trafficking and phagosome formation. *Proteomics* 3: 536-548, 2003.
- 27. Liu, G., J. Shi, L. Yang, L. Cao, S. M. Park, J. Cui, and S. O. Marx. Assembly of a Ca^{2+} -dependent BK channel signaling complex by binding to β_2 adrenergic receptor. *EMBO J.* 23: 2196-2205, 2004.
- Liu, L., K. Mohammadi, B. Aynafshar, H. Wang, D. Li, J. Liu, A. V. Ivanov, Z. Xie, and A. Askari. Role of caveolae in signal-transducing function of cardiac Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase. *Am.J.Physiol.Cell Physiol.* 284: C1550-C1560, 2003.

- 29. Lockwich, T., B. B. Singh, X. Liu, and I. S. Ambudkar. Stabilization of cortical actin induces internalization of transient receptor potential 3 (Trp3)-associated caveolar Ca²⁺ signaling complex and loss of Ca²⁺ influx without disruption of Trp3-inositol trisphosphate receptor association. *J.Biol.Chem.* 276: 42401-42408, 2001.
- Ma, D. W., J. Seo, L. A. Davidson, E. S. Callaway, Y. Y. Fan, J. R. Lupton, and R. S. Chapkin. n-3 PUFA alter caveolae lipid composition and resident protein localization in mouse colon. *FASEB J.* 18: 1040-1042, 2004.
- MacVinish, L. J., M. E. Hickman, D. A. Mufti, H. J. Durrington, and A. W. Cuthbert. Importance of basolateral K⁺ conductance in maintaining Cl⁻ secretion in murine nasal and colonic epithelia. *J. Physiol.* 510 (Pt 1): 237-247, 1998.
- 32. Mignen, O., S. Egee, M. Liberge, and B. J. Harvey. Basolateral outward rectifier chloride channel in isolated crypts of mouse colon. *Am.J.Physiol.Gastrointest.Liver Physiol.* 279: G277-G287, 2000.
- 33. Mun, E. C., K. J. Tally, and J. B. Matthews. Characterization and regulation of adenosine transport in T84 intestinal epithelial cells. *Am.J.Physiol.* 274: G261-G269, 1998.
- 34. Murata, M., J. Peranen, R. Schreiner, F. Wieland, T. V. Kurzchalia, and K. Simons. VIP21/caveolin is a cholesterol-binding protein. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 92: 10339-10343, 1995.
- 35. Naren, A. P., B. Cobb, C. Li, K. Roy, D. Nelson, G. D. Heda, J. Liao, K. L. Kirk, E. J. Sorscher, J. Hanrahan, and J. P. Clancy. A macromolecular complex of β₂ adrenergic receptor, CFTR, and ezrin/radixin/moesin-binding phosphoprotein 50 is regulated by PKA. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 100: 342-346, 2003.
- 36. Nebl, T., K. N. Pestonjamasp, J. D. Leszyk, J. L. Crowley, S. W. Oh, and E. J. Luna. Proteomic analysis of a detergent-resistant membrane skeleton from neutrophil plasma membranes. *J.Biol.Chem.* 277: 43399-43409, 2002.
- 37. Niki, I., F. M. Ashcroft, and S. J. Ashcroft. The dependence on intracellular ATP concentration of ATP-sensitive K-channels and of Na,K-ATPase in intact HIT-T15 beta-cells. *FEBS Lett.* 257: 361-364, 1989.

- Pucadyil, T. J. and A. Chattopadhyay. Cholesterol modulates ligand binding and Gprotein coupling to serotonin_{1A} receptors from bovine hippocampus. *Biochim.Biophys.Acta* 1663: 188-200, 2004.
- Remaley, A. T., B. D. Farsi, A. C. Shirali, J. M. Hoeg, and H. B. Brewer, Jr. Differential rate of cholesterol efflux from the apical and basolateral membranes of MDCK cells. *J.Lipid Res.* 39: 1231-1238, 1998.
- 40. Roden, M., A. R. Paterson, and K. Turnheim. Sodium-dependent nucleoside transport in rabbit intestinal epithelium. *Gastroenterology* 100: 1553-1562, 1991.
- 41. Romanenko, V. G., G. H. Rothblat, and I. Levitan. Modulation of endothelial inward-rectifier K⁺ current by optical isomers of cholesterol. *Biophys.J.* 83: 3211-3222, 2002.
- 42. Sampson, L. J., Y. Hayabuchi, N. B. Standen, and C. Dart. Caveolae localize protein kinase A signaling to arterial ATP-sensitive potassium channels. *Circ.Res.* 95: 1012-1018, 2004.
- 43. Shyng, S. L. and C. G. Nichols. Membrane phospholipid control of nucleotide sensitivity of K_{ATP} channels. *Science* 282: 1138-1141, 1998.
- 44. Sprenger, R. R., D. Speijer, J. W. Back, C. G. De Koster, H. Pannekoek, and A. J. Horrevoets. Comparative proteomics of human endothelial cell caveolae and rafts using two-dimensional gel electrophoresis and mass spectrometry. *Electrophoresis* 25: 156-172, 2004.
- 45. Szkotak, A. J., A. M. Ng, J. Sawicka, S. A. Baldwin, S. F. Man, C. E. Cass, J. D. Young, and M. Duszyk. Regulation of K⁺ current in human airway epithelial cells by exogenous and autocrine adenosine. *Am.J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 281: C1991-C2002, 2001.
- 46. Tally, K. J., B. J. Hrnjez, J. A. Smith, E. C. Mun, and J. B. Matthews. Adenosine scavenging: a novel mechanism of chloride secretory control in intestinal epithelial cells. *Surgery* 120: 248-254, 1996.
- 47. Tian, L., L. S. Coghill, S. H. MacDonald, D. L. Armstrong, and M. J. Shipston. Leucine zipper domain targets cAMP-dependent protein kinase to mammalian BK channels. *J.Biol.Chem.* 278: 8669-8677, 2003.

- Valet, P., J. M. Senard, J. C. Devedjian, V. Planat, R. Salomon, T. Voisin, G. Drean, A. Couvineau, D. Daviaud, and C. Denis. Characterization and distribution of α₂-adrenergic receptors in the human intestinal mucosa. *J.Clin.Invest.* 91: 2049-2057, 1993.
- 49. von Haller, P. D., S. Donohoe, D. R. Goodlett, R. Aebersold, and J. D. Watts. Mass spectrometric characterization of proteins extracted from Jurkat T cell detergent-resistant membrane domains. *Proteomics* 1: 1010-1021, 2001.
- Wang, X. L., D. Ye, T. E. Peterson, S. Cao, V. H. Shah, Z. S. Katusic, G. C. Sieck, and H. C. Lee. Caveolae targeting and regulation of large conductance Ca²⁺activated K⁺ channels in vascular endothelial cells. *J.Biol.Chem.* 280: 11656-11664, 2005.
- 51. Ward, J. L. and C. M. Tse. Nucleoside transport in human colonic epithelial cell lines: evidence for two Na⁺-independent transport systems in T84 and Caco-2 cells. *Biochim.Biophys.Acta* 1419: 15-22, 1999.
- Wechsler, A., A. Brafman, M. Shafir, M. Heverin, H. Gottlieb, G. Damari, S. Gozlan-Kelner, I. Spivak, O. Moshkin, E. Fridman, Y. Becker, R. Skaliter, P. Einat, A. Faerman, I. Bjorkhem, and E. Feinstein. Generation of viable cholesterol-free mice. *Science* 302: 2087, 2003.
- Whitehead, R. H., P. E. VanEeden, M. D. Noble, P. Ataliotis, and P. S. Jat. Establishment of conditionally immortalized epithelial cell lines from both colon and small intestine of adult H-2Kb-tsA58 transgenic mice. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 90: 587-591, 1993.